
 
 

Damian Allen 
Chief Executive 
___________________________________________________________________ 
Issued on:  Wednesday 1 November 2023 
 
Governance Services Officer for this Meeting Jonathan Goodrum 

01302 736709 
 jonathan.goodrum@doncaster.gov.uk 
 
City of Doncaster Council 
www.doncaster.gov.uk 
 
 
 

Agenda 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
To all Members of the 
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 
Notice is given that a Meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board is to be held as 
follows: 

  
Venue    Council Chamber, Civic Office, Waterdale, Doncaster DN1 3BU  
 
Date:      Thursday, 9th November, 2023 
 
Time:     9.00 am. 

 
BROADCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting is being filmed for subsequent broadcast via the Council’s web 
site.  The Council is Data Controller under the Data Protection Act and images 
collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s 
published policy.  Please be aware that by entering the meeting, you accept that 
you may be filmed and the images used for the purpose set out above. 
 
____________________________________________________________________ 

Items for consideration 
 

Time/ 
Lead 

  
1.   Welcome, introductions and apologies for absence. 

 
 

2 mins 
(Chair) 

 
2.   Chair's Announcements.   

 
 

5 mins 
(Chair) 

 
 

Public Document Pack



3.  To consider the extent, if any, to which the public and press 
are to be excluded from the meeting.   
 

1 min 
(Chair) 

 
4.   Public questions. 

 
(A period not exceeding 15 minutes for questions from 
members of the public.  PLEASE NOTE:  Questions/Statements 
should relate specifically to an item of business on the agenda) 
 

15 mins 
(Chair) 

 
5.   Declarations of Interest, if any.   

 
 

1 min 
(Chair) 

 
6.   Minutes of the Meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held 

on 31st August, 2023. 
(Attached – pages 1 – 10) 
 

2 mins 
(Chair) 

 
7.   Update on Oral Health Improvement and Dental Services.  

(Presentation/Papers attached – pages 11 – 166) 
 

35 mins 
(Debbie Stovin/ 

Dr Sarah Robertson/ 
Agatha Agema) 

  
8.   Youth Engagement - Lived Experience:  Shaping Stainforth. 

(Presentation/Papers attached – pages 167 – 176) 
 

40 mins 
(Lucy Garnham/ 
Grace Bennett) 

  
9.   Fairness and Wellbeing Commission Recommendations. 

(Verbal Update/Cover sheet attached – pages 177 – 178) 
 

30 mins 
(Rachael Leslie) 

 
10.   Smoke Free Generation - Proposed Legislation. 

(Papers attached – pages 179 – 184) 
 

15 mins 
(Rachael Leslie) 

 
11.   Health Inequalities - A Focus on Gypsy Roma Traveller (GRT) 

Communities. 
(Presentation/Papers attached – pages 185 – 202) 
 
 
For Information Only:- 
 

20 mins 
(Mandy Espey/ 
Marius Taba/ 

Whitley Smith) 
 

 
12.   Health Protection Assurance Group Minutes of 18 October, 

2023. 
(Papers attached – pages 203 – 210) 
 

 

 
Date/time of next meeting:  
 
Thursday, 11 January 2024 at 9.00 am. in the Council Chamber, Civic Office, 
Waterdale, Doncaster DN1 3BU. 

 
 



 
Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board  

 
 

Name Job Title 
Cllr Rachael Blake  
(Chair) 

Portfolio Holder for Children’s Social Care and Equalities 

Anthony Fitzgerald (V-Chair) Executive Place Director (Doncaster), NHS South 
Yorkshire ICB 

Cllr Nigel Ball Portfolio Holder for Public Health, Communities, 
Leisure and Culture 

Cllr Sarah Smith Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care 
Cllr Cynthia Ransome Conservative Group Representative 

Dr Rupert Suckling Director of Public Health and Prevention, City of Doncaster 
Council 

Toby Lewis Chief Executive RDaSH 
Andrew Bosmans Healthwatch Doncaster 
Richard Parker Chief Executive of Doncaster and Bassetlaw Teaching 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Phil Holmes Director of Adults, Wellbeing and Culture, City of 

Doncaster Council 
Riana Nelson Director of Children, Young People & Families, City of 

Doncaster Council 
Chief Superintendent Ian 
Proffitt 

District Commander for Doncaster, South Yorkshire Police 

Ellie Gillatt Group Manager, South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue 
Dan Swaine Director of Place, City of Doncaster Council 
Dave Richmond Chief Executive, St Leger Homes 
Laura Sherburn Chief Executive, Primary Care Doncaster 
Lucy Robertshaw Director (Arts & Health), Darts (Health and Social Care 

Forum Representative) 
Cath Witherington Chief Executive, Voluntary Action Doncaster 

Dr Nabeel Alsindi GP and Place Medical Director, NHS South Yorkshire ICB 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



CITY OF DONCASTER COUNCIL 
 

 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

THURSDAY, 31ST AUGUST, 2023 
 
A  MEETING of the HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD was held at the COUNCIL 
CHAMBER, CIVIC OFFICE, WATERDALE, DONCASTER DN1 3BU on THURSDAY, 
31ST AUGUST, 2023, at 9.00 am. 
 
PRESENT:  

 
Chair -  Councillor Rachael Blake, Cabinet Member for Children’s Social Care  
 and Equalities 
Vice-Chair -  Anthony Fitzgerald, Executive Place Director (Doncaster), NHS South  
 Yorkshire ICB 

 
Councillor Nigel Ball, Cabinet Member for Public Health, Communities, Leisure & Culture 
Councillor Cynthia Ransome, Conservative Group Representative 
Phil Holmes, Director of Adults, Wellbeing and Culture, City of Doncaster Council 
Richard Parker, Chief Executive, Doncaster & Bassetlaw Teaching Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 
Dave Richmond, Chief Executive, St Leger Homes of Doncaster 
Andrew Bosmans, Healthwatch Doncaster 
Dr Nabeel Alsindi, GP and Place Medical Director, NHS South Yorkshire Integrated Care 
Board (ICB). 
Ailsa Leighton, Director of Transformation, NHS South Yorkshire ICB. 
 
Also in Attendance 
 
Mark Wakefield, Head of Service, Commissioning, Adults Wellbeing & Culture, City of 
Doncaster Council. 
Jo Forrestall, Doncaster Dementia Collaborative & Doncaster Dementia Strategy 
Group 
Wendy Sharps, Doncaster Dementia Collaborative & Doncaster Dementia Strategy 
Group 
Phil Bargh, Doncaster Dementia Collaborative & Doncaster Dementia Strategy Group 
Pauline Dunn, Trustee, Secretary and Treasurer, Doncaster & District Deaf Society 
Emma Price, Head of Strategy & Delivery, Children and Maternity, South Yorkshire 
Integrated Care Board 
Martyn Owen, Head of Service Inclusion, City of Doncaster Council 
Callum Helman, Transformation Manager, Children and Young People & Families 
Directorate 
John Gleek, Policy, Insight and Change, City of Doncaster Council. 
Allan Wiltshire, Policy, Insight and Change, City of Doncaster Council. 
Andy Collins, Public Health, City of Doncaster Council. 
Vicki Beere, CEO of Project 6. 
Mike McBurney, Senior Policy, Insight and Change Manager (Strategic 
Commissioning), City of Doncaster Council 
Natalie Bowler-Smith, Healthwatch Doncaster 
Rachael Illingworth, Healthwatch Doncaster 
Sian Owen, Healthwatch Doncaster 
Louise Robson, Public Health Lead, City of Doncaster Council 
Dr Victor Joseph, Public Health Consultant, City of Doncaster Council 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



 
74 WELCOME, INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
The Chair, Councillor Rachael Blake welcomed all to the meeting and thanked those 
attending the meeting who were there to comment and present their lived experiences 
regarding the items being discussed on today’s agenda. 
  
Apologies for the meeting were received from Councillor Sarah Smith, Dr Rupert 
Suckling, Rachael Leslie and Lucy Robertshaw. 
  

75 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS.  
 
There were no announcements other than welcoming those from outside of the Board 
to the meeting. 
  

76 PUBLIC QUESTIONS.  
 
Whilst there were no members of the Public in attendance, the Chair asked whether any 
Members in attendance had any questions/statements. The Board received and responded to 
questions/statements received as shown below:- 
  
Councillor Cynthia Ransome expressed her concern regarding constituents not been able to 
access NHS Dentists and asked whether this was common throughout Doncaster. It was 
advised that this situation was not uncommon and was a South Yorkshire wide issue. She was 
assured that this was being looked at to bring the waiting lists for dentists down. It was also 
advised that the Board would receive a report focussing on dentistry at its November meeting. 
  
It was AGREED that:- 
  
1.        A report be submitted to the November Board meeting focussing on the current 
 issues being experienced in accessing dentist treatment and what actions were 
 been undertaken to make improvements; and 
  
2.        Healthwatch supply data to help formulate the report and action plan. 
  
Councillor Cynthia Ransome referred to the recent Lucy Letby case and asked 
whether further procedures had been put in place in Doncaster. It was advised that as 
the public enquiry evolves, it was envisaged that there be several actions to be looked 
at including how information is shared. It was acknowledged that Governance needed 
to be robust, and the Board were assured this would be kept under review. 
  
Councillor Glynis Smith expressed concern regarding consultation on the NHS Joint 
Forward Plan. She felt that 1% did not reflect reasonable consultation and it appeared 
that many potential consultees had been excluded. It was acknowledged that 
consultation had not been good. However, this would be fed back to the ICB Board. 
  
Further details were discussed regarding engagement with residents carried out by 
Healthwatch.  
  
It was AGREED that:- 
  
(1)      A copy of the engagement documentation and responses carried out by     
 Healthwatch be supplied to the Board; and 
  

Page 2



 
(2)      NHS South Yorkshire ICB work with Healthwatch to provide a  combined 
 approach on how engagement can be improved, and an update be submitted to 
 the Board at its November meeting. 
  
 

77 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY.  
 
There were no declarations reported at the meeting. 
 

78 MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD HELD 
ON 8TH JUNE 2023  
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 8th 
June, 2023 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

  
The Chair and Board agreed to change the order of business on the agenda to bring 
forward Agenda Item 12 “The Team Doncaster Dementia Strategy”, as Wendy and 
Phil were in attendance to tell the Board about their lived experiences. 
 

79 TEAM DONCASTER DEMENTIA STRATEGY  
 
The Board received a presentation by Mark Wakefield and Jo Forrestall who were 
accompanied by Wendy Sharps and Phil Bargh from the Doncaster Dementia 
Collaborative & Doncaster Dementia Strategy Group. Wendy and Phil presented to 
the Board their lived experiences in relation to dementia. The Board also received 
further information on the current commissioning arrangements regarding dementia 
services, together with an overview of the Dementia Strategy and development of an 
action plan. 
  
Discussion took place regarding the tender process and officers stated that it was fair 
to say that the process had not gone smoothly. It was advised that with the action plan 
now in place it was envisaged that engagement and consultation will be wider, and 
improvements will be made. It was also noted that there would also be a 12-month 
review to assess progress. 
  
The Board welcomed the presentation from Phil and Wendy and stated it was helpful 
to hear their experiences and it was acknowledged that the designed pathways will 
only work if there is access to them. It was noted that if communication was good then 
issues would not be left unresolved. The Board recognised the difficulties surrounding 
young onset dementia and felt that further training for staff was required to ensure the 
signs are recognised and it was important to advise and notify people appropriately 
when the operation of services was changing. Regarding patients receiving results 
from tests, it was advised that all tests have a specified turnaround time. If the results 
have not been communicated, then this should be followed up. 
  
In terms of the difficulties that Wendy had experienced regarding direct payments, 
discussion would take place outside of the meeting to resolve this issue. 
  
Further discussion took place regarding training. It was suggested that a collective 
approach be undertaken to dementia awareness training. 
  
A number of actions were proposed as follows:- 
  

Page 3



 
    NHS Colleagues to look at and promote patient power in terms of what they 

should expect when attending for tests and to ensure patients are aware that 
they are entitled to follow this up with the GPs if results have not been received; 

    reassurance be given to Wendy that the new service being provided will 
commence when stated; 

    a Joint approach be undertaken to ensure training on Dementia Awareness is 
carried out. To be a priority for the workforce lead/Doncaster Place Committee; 

    a system be devised to ensure poor behaviour experienced by users is logged 
and feedback is provided; 

    the direct payment issue experienced by Wendy be investigated outside of the 
meeting to explore a way forward; and 

    an update report be brought back to the Board in 6 months. 
  
            RESOLVED that the Strategy and the priorities be endorsed 
  
 

80 THE LIVED BRITISH SIGN LANGUAGE USER - DONCASTER & DISTRICT DEAF 
SOCIETY BOROUGH-WIDE - UPDATE ON PROGRESS  
 
The Board received an update on progress from Pauline Dunn, Trustee, Secretary 
and Treasurer, Doncaster & District Deaf Society regarding the gaps, inequalities, and 
access to services for the British Sign Language User living in Doncaster at its 
meeting in March 2023.  
  
Members were reminded of the actions agreed following the presentation at the last 
meeting and discussion took place on what progress had been made since the 
meeting in March. 
  
Pauline advised the Board that good progress had been made and conversations had 
taken place. She advised that there was a national shortage of BSL interpreters and 
Doncaster had no trainee in place. She also stated that meetings with the NHS had 
been good, and work was continuing to establish an App for the hospital which was 
suitable for BSL users. Pauline suggested that colleagues look at using the ‘Sign Live’ 
App which most hospitals had installed. 
  
Pauline also wanted the Board to be aware that the Citizens Advise Bureau didn’t 
have a BSL experienced community link worker. Work had been undertaken to team 
up with CAB. Once funding had been secured, advertising for a post would be 
established. 
  
The Board were pleased at the progress made. Dr Alsindi stated that a session had 
been planned for 19th September with the focus group where he would pick up in 
more detail. He advised that discussion had taken place a few years ago, however 
nothing changed, and commitment needs to be forthcoming to ensure this didn’t 
happen again. He also advised that there was a need to correct the misconception 
around BSL and communication needs to be refreshed and targeted where required. 
              
           RESOLVED that:- 
  

(1)       the update on progress be noted; and 
  

(2)       a further update report be brought back to the Board if there were any 
 further concerns. 

Page 4



 
  
 

81 UPDATE ON CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE'S MENTAL HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING STRATEGY  
 
The Board received a presentation by Emma Price, Head of Strategy & Delivery, 
Children and Maternity, South Yorkshire Integrated Care Board, Martyn Owen, Head 
of Service Inclusion, Doncaster Council providing an update on the development of 
the Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
  
Members were advised that based on the ambitions of young people, priorities had 
been refined for delivery in Year 2 of the strategy. The presentation set out the 
priorities and how these will be delivered.  A video message from the Young Advisors 
was also presented. 
  
The Board welcomed the presentation and a number of comments and questions 
were raised and answers provided in regard to the following:- 
  

    BCF Schemes such as Vulnerable Adolescents, Care Leavers and Parenting 
Support Service may be willing groups to engage with. 

    Need to ensure all recommendations are visible and tracked in the actions. 
    How Looked After Children (LAC) were integrated into the Strategy. 
    Pleasing to see Special Educational Needs, outlined within the Strategy. 

However, certain pathways can be difficult, it would be beneficial to see how 
this can be integrated in a more positive way. 

    In terms of training for staff, was this followed up and did they feel confident 
after the training had been provided. 

    Pleasing to see the linkages within the strategy to healthy eating. 
    In terms of the voice of people, how diverse had this been. 
    How data had been used to inform about different characteristics. 
    Support for Deaf Children within schools in the form of offering sign language 

lessons to parents of deaf children. 
    It was important that people know exactly what they need to do and what route 

they need to take to access the support and guidance they require. 
  
The Chair and Board proposed the following actions:- 
  

 officers to engage with looked after children’s service and the “Hear me Out 
Group”. 

 the Board asked to see data on waiting times and feedback from parents and 
young people at the next update.    

 a further update be provided to be Board in 6-9 months to assess the impact 
that the Strategy has had on reducing waiting lists and how schools are 
supported. 
 
RESOLVED that the Board supported the priorities and activities described in 
the presentation. 

  
 
 

82 FAMILY HUBS AND START FOR LIFE PROGRAMME  
 

Page 5



 
The Board received a presentation from Callum Helman, Transformation Manager 
Children, Young People, & Families Directorate which provided an overview of the 
Family Hubs and Start for Life programme and explained how this contributes to a 
reduction in inequalities in health and education outcomes for babies, children, and 
families. 
  
The programme’s objective was to join up and enhance services delivered through 
transformed family hubs in local authority areas, ensuring all parents and carers can 
access the support they need when they need it. 
  
Members noted that the programme will: 
  

    provide support to parents and carers so they can nurture their babies and 
children, improving health and education outcomes for all 

    contribute to a reduction in inequalities in health and education outcomes for 
babies, children, and families across England by ensuring that support         
provided is communicated to all parents and carers, including those who are 
hardest to reach and/or most in need of it 

    build the evidence base for what works when it comes to improving health and 
education outcomes for babies, children, and families in different delivery 
contexts. 

  
The Board welcomed the presentation. Dr Alsindi commented it would be beneficial for 
GP Practices, RDASH etc to be aware of any events or activities scheduled to take 
place within the hubs to enable them to signpost patients, which in turn will hopefully 
drive uptake of attendance. The Board were advised that the next task for the team 
was to produce a communication plan with a key focus on GP Practices. 
  
Further comments were made regarding the family hubs not being able to facilitate 
people from the BSL community. 
  
The Board agreed that contact be made with Pauline Dunn (Doncaster & District Deaf 
Society) and Health Colleagues on how engagement and communication regarding 
Family Hubs and Start for Life Programme can be improved. 
  
           RESOLVED that the contents of the presentation and Family Hubs/Start for Life 
 contribution to a reduction in inequalities in health and education outcomes for 
 babies, children and families be noted. 
  
 

83 FAIRNESS AND WELLBEING COMMISSION - MID WAY UPDATE.  
 
The Board received a presentation by Jon Gleek, Policy, Insight and Change, City of 
Doncaster Council providing a mid-way update on the work of the Fairness and 
Wellbeing Commission.  It detailed the methodology used by the Commission in its 
data gathering and outlined the emerging recommendations, together with the timeline 
leading up to the publication of the final report. 
  
Discussion took place regarding what was required from the Board. The Board 
welcomed the update and the approach taken had the right mix. However, felt that it 
needed to be pitched to tangible elements. It was suggested that a small working 
group be formed to look at this issue. However, the Board were keen not to lose the 
work what the Commission had already produced.  

Page 6



 
  

RESOLVED that:- 
  
(1)       the update be noted; 

  
           (2)      the Working Group that had already been established to look 
                     at the Health and Wellbeing Strategy/One Doncaster Plan 
                     be asked to look at the recommendations; and 
  
            (3)     an Extraordinary Meeting of the Board be set to discuss the              
  recommendations in more detail. 
 

84 A JOINED-UP APPROACH TO DEVELOPING OUR PLANS FOR HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING IN DONCASTER  
 
The Board received a report from Allan Wiltshire, Policy Insight and Change, City of 
Doncaster Council which provided a further update on proposals for developing the 
next Health and Wellbeing Strategy, following the discussion at the Board’s last 
meeting in June.  The briefing paper in the agenda pack gave a more detailed 
overview of the proposals, including context, approach, strategy development 
principles and process, progress, indicative timeline, and next steps. 
  
Ailsa Leighton advised the Board that extensive resident engagement had been 
undertaken and officers were currently going back out to communities to ensure that 
they have it right in terms of what has been asked for and a further update would be 
presented to the Board in due course. 
  
The Board thanked officers for the update. 
  
            RESOLVED that:- 
  

(1)       the proposals for the development of the HWB strategy and plan be 
 agreed; and 

  
            (2)     the indicative timescales be agreed. 
  
 

85 ALCOHOL USE IN OVER 50S WOMEN - EMERGING TRENDS IN DONCASTER  
 
The Board received a presentation by Andy Collins, Public Health (CDC) and Vicki 
Beere, CEO of Project 6 providing a range of statistics in relation to liver disease and 
local alcohol profiles for England, together with figures for female adults in treatment in 
Doncaster.  The presentation focussed on the findings from research and on the work 
of Project 6 and how it is providing support to over 50s alcohol users. 
  
The Board thanked Andy and Vicki for the presentation, stating that it was clear from 
the data and from past reporting that there is a major problem, and it had been known 
for some time the disparity in women which is unacceptable.  It was important that the 
officers along with the Board and its partners drill down on what can be done to tackle 
this issue.  
  
Andy advised the Board that unfortunately there was no new monies available, and it 
was a case of how the team can use what is in the existing envelope more efficiently. 

Page 7



 
Ailsa Leighton advised that discussions were ongoing on how the Council can provide 
a more team-based approach.  
  
Dr Alsindi stated that he had had discussions regarding this issue and felt that there 
were 3 parts to the pathway as follow:- 
  

    Existing Intervention Services needed to be co-produced 
    Early harm – scans could be accessed from community hubs rather than 

waiting to see GPs (Nottingham Council Model); and 
    What the offer was for those patients who were further down the line and 

whether monies can be redistributed around the system to support the patients 
more effectively. 

  
Further discussion in terms of how a co-produced Health and Social Care Strategy for 
women can be produced was undertaken, including primary intervention activity and 
supporting officers in terms of locality/community change. 
  
            RESOLVED that:- 
  

(1)      the Board look to co-produce a Health and Social Strategy 
                     for women; including methods on how to create funding to make  
  a changes to women’s relationships with alcohol; and 

  
            (2)     Promotion of a wider Health Strategy for women to be 
                     produced. 
  

86 BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 2023-25  
 
The Board received a brief presentation by Mike McBurney, Senior Policy Insight and 
Change Manager (Strategic Commissioning), City of Doncaster Council providing an 
overview of the BCF, including:- 
  

    BCF budget headings; 
    Expenditure against main funding themes; 
    BCF Performance Targets; and 
    Top priorities for 2023/24. 

  
The Board were advised that the biggest cost centre was intermediate care and Falls 
was now a new targeted area. It was noted that there were 2 objectives to grant 
conditions. The first was to enable people to stay at home for longer, therefore 
reducing the pressure on acute services and secondly tackling the immediate 
pressures to enable discharges. Officers advised that the fund should be wisely 
invested to ensure it makes the best impact. 
  
It was reported that whilst this does happen, there was further options available, 
funding was one lever. Workforce development and commitment to digital would 
create a more integrated way albeit challenging. It was noted that the ultimate 
challenge was for the Doncaster Plan was addressing health inequalities and 
commitment to engagement. 
  
Richard Parker shared his views regarding 2 priority areas, the first being the 
navigating through the winter challenges and the second was managing spend over 
the year. All Board members commended spending wisely.  

Page 8



 
  

RESOLVED that:- 
  
            (1)     the Board acknowledged sign-off of the BCF plan; 
  
            (2)     the Board noted a Section 75 agreement between South Yorkshire  
  Integrated Care Board will be signed no later than 31st October, 2023, 
  that will include details of the new national conditions and metrics; and 
  
            (3)     the Board to review progress of Doncaster’s BCF plan for 23-
                     25 and evaluation of BCF performance at future meetings. 
  
  

87 HEALTH PROTECTION ASSURANCE GROUP MINUTES OF 19TH JULY 2023  
 
The Board received and noted the minutes of the Health Protection Assurance Group 
meeting held on 19 July 2023. 
  
Prior to the conclusion of the meeting, the Board received notification that a new Covid 
19 variant had been identified. In response, it was advised that the vaccine 
programme for Flu and Covid 19 would be brought forward.  
  
 
 
CHAIR:                                                       DATE:                       

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 
 
 
Doncaster  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Date: 9th November 2023 
 

Subject: Oral Health Improvement and Dental Services 

Presented by: 
• Debbie Stovin, Senior Dental Commissioning Manager (Yorkshire & the 

Humber / South Yorkshire ICB Programme Lead) 

• Dr Sarah Robertson, Consultant in Dental Public Health, Healthcare Public 
Health, NHSE North East and Yorkshire 

• Agatha Agema, Oral Health Lead, Doncaster Council  

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board 

Decision  

Recommendation to Full Council  

Endorsement  

Information X 

 

Implications Applicable Yes/No 

DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol) No 

Mental Health  No 

Dementia No 

Obesity No 

Children and Families  Yes 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Yes 

Finance 
No 

Legal 
 

No 

Equalities 
 

Yes 

Other Implications (please list) 

The NHS SY ICB has recently assumed responsibility for the 
commissioning of dental services across South Yorkshire (SY). 
Tackling oral health inequalities and access to dental services are of 
significant concern for the people we serve and have a significant 
impact on health and wellbeing. 

 

 

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster? 

The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of how South Yorkshire ICB and 
Doncaster Local Authority (LA) are working to improve oral health and reduce oral health 
inequalities in Doncaster.  The report and appendix covers: population oral health data; a 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



summary of the recent oral health needs assessment (OHNA); an update on the challenges 
facing dental services, access to dental care and the areas of opportunity to improve dental 
services through system working and an overview of local community oral health 
improvement programmes. 
 

Recommendations 

The Board is asked to:- 
  

a) Commit to further engagement with stakeholders to ensure continued oversight of the 
local position for dental services.    
 

b) Provide a commitment for continued development of community oral health 
improvement programmes year on year to ensure continuity of programmes.   

 
c)  Ensure oral health improvement is part of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 

Doncaster, and that there is continued support for water fluoridation. 
  
 

Page 12



 

 

 

Doncaster Health & Wellbeing Board Meeting 
9th November 2023 

 
Update on Oral Health Improvement and  

Dental Services  

 
1. Background  

 

1.1 The NHS SY ICB assumed responsibility for the commissioning of dental 

services across South Yorkshire (SY) from 1st April 2023. Oral health and access 

to dental services is a significant concern for the people we serve.  It is a consistent 

theme in insight and engagement work and has a significant impact on health and 

wellbeing.   

1.2 Improving dental services is a priority for our partnership. There is public and 
partner concern around access to dentistry, with the ability to make an appointment 
with a dentist and access to urgent dental care identified as key issues. It is a common 
theme in Healthwatch engagement work, and an issue highlighted through elected 
members and local health scrutiny committees.  We also know that poor access to 
dental services increases the demand for other primary and secondary care services.   

 
1.3 The population of Doncaster experiences high levels of poor oral health. The 

appendix provides data and trends around tooth decay, gum disease, and oral cancer. 

See appendix 1  for more detail. 

1.4 South Yorkshire ICB is responsible for the commissioning and contracting of all 

NHS dental services across Doncaster.  These are described in detail in appendix 1 

and include: 

• Primary care (general high street dentistry)   

• Community Dental Services (CDS)  

• Orthodontics  

• Intermediate minor oral surgery  

• Urgent care  

• Secondary care  

1.5 Local Authorities (LAs) have the statutory responsibilities around oral 
health improvement, for commissioning evidence-based oral health improvement 
programmes, and commissioning the dental epidemiology programme which helps to 
identify need and target resources.  

1.6 Improving oral health and reducing oral health inequalities in Doncaster 

requires partnership working. An example of this is the flexible commissioning 

programme described in section 4. 

 

Page 13



 

 

2. Oral Health in Doncaster 
 

2.1 Good oral health is essential for good general health and wellbeing, yet 
Doncaster residents experience some of the highest levels of tooth decay, gum 
disease, and mouth cancer which can have a negative impact throughout life and can 
cause pain and infection, leading to difficulties with eating and drinking affecting 
nutrition, sleeping, communicating, socialising and quality of life. Further information 
is available at Appendix 1. 

 
2.2 Oral diseases are largely preventable and share common risk factors (e.g. 
dietary sugars, tobacco, alcohol, poor oral hygiene) with other health problems such 
as obesity, diabetes, stroke, heart disease and aspiration pneumonia.   

 
2.3 Oral diseases place significant costs on the NHS and also have a wider social 
impact, and as with other conditions, poor oral health disproportionally affects the most 
vulnerable and socially disadvantaged individuals and groups in society.  The 
Yorkshire and the Humber Oral Health Needs Assessment (OHNA, 2022 – see 
Appendix 2a for OHNA and SY supplement – Appendix 2b) identified the following 
groups who experience the greatest dental need, and face challenges in accessing 
routine and urgent dental care:    

▪ individuals and communities that are deprived and vulnerable children 
known to the social care system    

▪ individuals with severe physical and/or learning disabilities,    
▪ individuals with poor mental health    
▪ individuals who are overweight or obese    
▪ older adults 
▪ individuals affected by substance misuse 
▪ prison leavers 
▪ homeless    
▪ Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Communities    
▪ asylum seekers, refugees and migrants    

 

3. Key challenges to dental access  
 

There are several challenges to dental access, that pose real difficulties when looking to 
improve access for all. 

 

• Historic and ongoing contractual factors - The existing contracts were rolled out in 
2006 and have limited flexibility meaning inconsistent and often inequitable access 
to dental services. 

 

• Patient perceptions – Patients are not registered with dental practices and 
practices are only obliged to deliver a course of treatment not regular care. 

 

• Cost of treatment – Whilst many patients will pay for their treatment, NHS dental 
care is free of charge to children, pregnant women, mothers of a baby under 12 
months, and those on certain low-income benefits.  

 

• Capacity - Dental practices have set capacity to deliver NHS dental treatment 

Page 14



 

 

packages or Units of Dental Activity (UDAs).  Many practices offer a mix of private 
and NHS dental care.  Demand for NHS care is high which may mean that the only 
available appointments are for private care which may also potentially increase the 
cost of treatment. 

 

• New patient availability – Practices are required to keep their profile on 
www.nhs.net up to date. This is now a mandatory requirement under the first phase 
of the Dental Contract Reforms. 

 

• Workforce - The COVID-19 pandemic and Brexit have impacted on dental 
workforce recruitment and retention. 

 
4. Initiatives to Strengthen and Improve Access and Reduce Inequalities 
 
The Yorkshire and the Humber Oral Health Needs Assessment (OHNA, 2022) has 
recommended that consideration should be given to commissioning services for those 
that have both the greatest dental need and experience challenges in accessing routine 
and urgent dental care.   
 
Dental services are not equitably distributed, and a health equity audit approach has been 
developed to develop a profile for Doncaster (NHSE, 2022 – see Appendix 2c). This has 
identified areas which experience the highest levels of poor oral health yet have no NHS 
dental services or insufficient services to meet the need and may be used to guide future 
commissioning of services in Doncaster.   

 
Examples of specific workstreams which focus on improving access to reducing oral 
health inequalities are: 

 

• The flexible commissioning programme - There are currently 13 NHS dental 
practices in Doncaster involved in this programme, which aims to deliver:  whole 
population evidence-based prevention in dental practice in line with Delivering 
Better Oral Health (OHID, DHSC, and NHSEI, 2021); targeted prevention for 
specific groups; access to care; utilisation of skill mix within the dental team.  

 
In Doncaster, these practices accept referrals for children at high risk of poor oral 
health who do not have their own NHS dentist from health visitors, the Single Point 
of Contact (SPOC), the looked after children’s team, former community dental 
services patients who are now in a position to accept care in a general practice and 
signposted from the urgent dental treatment provider for children assessed as 
having wider clinical dental needs with no regular dentist.  This pathway is also 
being extended to receive referrals from the school nursing team, and recent 
feedback suggests flexible commissioning is positively supporting many families to 
access dental care. 

 
Current arrangements for the programme are in place until March 2024. A review 
across the 3 ICBs in Y&H is now underway with plans to: 

▪ Consider an expansion to the programme to support a more ambitious 
commissioning approach to provide more scope for innovation. 

▪ Target practices in areas of high need that don’t currently have flexible 
commissioning practices. 

Page 15

http://www.nhs.net/


 

 

▪ Review entry criteria for practices in identified areas, opportunity for the ICB 
to review this and develop measures that will consider outcomes rather than 
a focus on the target. The specification of the scheme will be revised to pick 
up the targeted approach for hard to reach / hard to engage patients, and to 
also address the issue of practices holding large waiting lists. 

 

• Improving access for those experiencing homelessness - A dental service for those 
experiencing homelessness in Doncaster is also being developed, based on a 
successful pilot in Leeds.  This involves partnership working with local homeless 
charities/organisations which support clients ‘on the ground’ and a centrally-located 
dental practice based in the Flying Scotsman Health Centre.  Clients will be 
supported by the charities/organisations to make appointments and be chaperoned 
to dedicated treatment sessions. The dental practice will also have an oral health 
champion who will support the charities and do outreach oral health promotional 
work.  

 

• Urgent access sessions for patients experiencing poorest oral health – SY ICB has 
been supporting the continuation of these sessions which originally started in 
November 2022 by NHS England.  The current arrangement is due to end in March 
2024.   There are currently 24 practices providing urgent access sessions across 
SY with 1 of these in Doncaster supporting the urgent care patient pathway.   

 

• SYB Acute Federation Paediatric Innovator Programme (Dental) – dental is one of 
4 specialities with the biggest waiting lists.  Work is underway to work 
collaboratively to transform care and pathways for children and young people living 
in South Yorkshire. The aim is to improving access for paediatric dental services. 
This isn't without challenge, there is high demand, limited capacity and high waiting 
lists particularly for specialist/consultant led care and a limited workforce.  

 

• Improving access for the housebound - With the aging population, there are 
increasing needs for dental care for older people.  Provision of domiciliary care for 
the housebound of all ages who still live in their own homes is still a challenge. The 
continuation of a review of the commissioning of domiciliary care across Yorkshire 
and the Humber has transferred to the ICBs from NHS England with the first phase 
being to consider urgent access for those individuals who are housebound. 

 
5. Maintaining and Improving Oral Health 

5.1 Improving oral health and reducing oral health inequalities through Council-
commissioned oral health improvement programmes in Doncaster. 
An Oral Health Improvement Group (OHAG) hosted by Doncaster Council facilitates 
partnership working around oral health. Whilst the Doncaster Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2016-21 (Doncaster Council, 2016) has a focus on reducing health 
inequalities, there is no specific mention of oral health.  However, the most recent 
Doncaster Oral Health Needs Assessment (2018) made recommendations which are 
delivered through the Doncaster OHAG’s action plans.  
 
5.2 The Council also commissions and supports a number of local initiatives, 

 including: 

Page 16

https://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/health-wellbeing/doncaster-health-and-wellbeing-board
https://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/health-wellbeing/health-needs-assessments


 

 

• Rotherham Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation Trust provide 
the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme, which includes oral health improvement 
through health visiting teams and school nurses. Refer to appendix 1 for 
more details. 

• Oral health packs are provided for those at high risk of tooth decay including: 
families attending the paediatric dental extraction service at Doncaster 
Royal Infirmary; Family Hubs; some early year settings in deprived areas; 
looked after children; gypsy and traveller community; ASPIRE (Drug and 
alcohol service); and Greengables (Family support for young parents aged 
16-25). 

• The LA oral health lead within the Children Young People and Families 
Public Health team also provides 'in house' programmes e.g.  

o a supervised toothbrushing programme for school and nurseries, 
o oral health and nutrition training for non-dental professionals, and 
o links into the Healthy Learning Healthy Lives Schools accreditation 

programme, including KS1 and KS2 planned lessons on oral health.  

• There is an oral health leaflet translated for Roma Slovak community. 

• Dental practices have been encouraged to join the breastfeeding friendly 
scheme   

• Promotion of the Kind to Teeth campaign (Food Active) aimed at making 
healthier drink choices for under 5s. 

• Free drinking water scheme being reintroduced. 

• Making Every Contact Count (MECC) information sheet developed for 
dental practices, especially those providing flexible commissioning (see 
below), to facilitate referral to stop smoking, alcohol and weight 
management services. 
 

5.3 Oral Health Survey - Doncaster Council co-commissions (alongside the other 
South Yorkshire local authorities) the dental epidemiology programme field work team 
which gathers data on the oral health of the population, to guide targeting of resources 
and monitor improvements.     
 
5.4 Water Fluoridation - By far, the most cost-effective means of improving oral 
health, with the lowest carbon footprint would be to introduce water fluoridation.  
Although previously LAs were responsible for investigating the feasibility of new water 
fluoridation schemes and proposing new schemes, this responsibility has recently 
moved to the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in line with the Health and 
Care Act 2022.  The South Yorkshire local authorities have previously been working 
together to investigate the feasibility of water fluoridation across South Yorkshire, and 
this work has now been passed onto OHID to progress further.    
  

6. What needs to happen to make a difference in this area 
 

6.1 Workforce - The recruitment, retention, training and education and development 
of the whole dental workforce is a key priority for the ICB.  The dental workforce needs 
to be suitably trained and educated to be able to deliver evidence-based patient care, 
given the challenges of the burden and complexity of oral and general health (SY ICB 
OHNA). 

   
The COVID-19 pandemic and Brexit have impacted on dental workforce recruitment 

Page 17

https://foodactive.org.uk/what-we-do/campaigns-and-interventions/kind-to-teeth/


 

 

and retention. The COVID-19 pandemic led to suspension of the Overseas 
Registration Examination during the pandemic, resulting in a backlog of non-EU 
dentists who are waiting to become eligible to work in the UK.  UK dental graduates 
are more likely to settle in urban cities close to their dental schools or foundation 
training practices, families, and further training opportunities (Evans et al., 2023). In 
YH there are 2 dental schools: Sheffield and Leeds, therefore, a large proportion of 
the YH geographic footprint is not located near a dental school. The recent 2022/23 
NHSE-led YH Primary Care Dental Survey has provided some dental team workforce 
information for the first time, describing vacant posts and challenges in relation to 
recruitment and retention. 
 
The ICB is committed to developing a SY Dental Workforce Strategy and supporting 
workplan. 
 
6.2 Dental System Reforms - The outcome of the national 2022/23 dental contract 
system reform negotiations were confirmed by NHS England; this represents the first 
significant change to the contract since its introduction in 2006.   

 
These initial reforms seek to address the challenges associated with delivering care 
to higher needs patients and making it easier for patients to access NHS care.   The 
SY ICB dental commissioning team is working through these changes in line with 
national guidance and to consider opportunities for additional local schemes. Some 
changes are dependent on the timescale for legislative changes. 

 
6.3 Commitment to further engagement - There is a commitment from SY ICB 
dental commissioners to engage with stakeholders to ensure continued oversight of 
the local position for dental services.  The SY Local Dental Network provides an 
opportunity to bring together key stakeholders which includes Healthwatch is a key 
member ensuring the patient voice is represented.  
 
6.4 Continued development of community oral health improvement programmes - 
Whilst a substantial amount of money is used to commission dental services in 
Doncaster, the council has minimal resource for oral health improvement programmes, 
and it has no dedicated oral health promotion team.   Additional funding would enable 
both an increase in workforce capacity and resources to deliver a wider programme of 
activities to more of the population.   This funding needs to be protected year on year 
to ensure continuity of programmes.   

 
6.5 Ensure oral health improvement is part of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

for Doncaster, and that there is continued support for water fluoridation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
References 
Evans, D. et al. (2023) ‘Recruitment and retention in dentistry in the UK: a scoping review to explore the challenges across the UK, with a 
particular interest in rural and coastal areas’, British Dental Journal [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41415-022-5406-0. 

Page 18



 

 

Appendices 

1. Additional Information 

2. 2a - Rapid Oral Health Needs Assessment (OHNA) for Yorkshire and the 
Humber (2022) 
2b - South Yorkshire Supplement to the Rapid OHNA (2022) 
2c - Doncaster Profile from the above. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Appendix 1: Additional Information  

 

1. Dental services commissioned by SY ICB in Doncaster     

• Primary care (general high street dentistry)- accessed by patients directly, 
typically these are at high street dental surgeries.   NHS England commissions 
primary care services from 37 general dental practices in Doncaster.    
 

• Community Dental Services (CDS) – Community & Special Care Dentistry 
(within) The Rotherham Hospital NHS Foundation Trust provides special care 
dentistry in Doncaster and is also a provider of paediatric dentistry. The service 
provides dental care in community settings for patients who have difficulty getting 
treatment in their "high street" dental practice. They look after people with severe 
learning and/or physical disabilities or who have a profound mental illness and 
patients who are elderly or housebound or have a medical condition which 
compromises dental care provision. Patients are referred into the service by a 
health care professional.   

 

• Orthodontics –   There is 1 specialist NHS orthodontic practice in Doncaster 
providing this service by referral, plus 3 general dental practices delivering 
orthodontic services as well as GDS services. NHS orthodontic care is only 
provided for those with moderate to severe needs meeting selection criteria.  
Private care may be an option for those with milder needs.  

 

• Intermediate minor oral surgery – There are 3 service providers for IMOS in 
Doncaster. IMOS services treat patients aged 16 years and over who are referred 
by their regular dentist for specific oral surgery treatment. When the treatment has 
been undertaken, patients return to their regular dentist for ongoing care.  

 

• Urgent care – This is available via NHS primary care practices directly or through 
NHS111. Urgent Care is for conditions clinically assessed as requiring treatment 
within 24 hours.    

 

• Secondary care – specialist services including paediatric dentistry, and oral and 
maxillofacial surgery by referral only, are provided by Doncaster and Bassetlaw 
Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.   

 
 

2. Oral Health in Doncaster 

2.1 By the age of 5, a third of children in Doncaster had tooth decay in 2022, 
with each of those children having a round 4 teeth affected (OHID, 2023).  Although 
there has been improvement in the last few years, Doncaster has higher levels of tooth 
decay than other South Yorkshire LA areas, Y&tH and England (Table 1).  Tooth decay 
was significantly higher amongst the more deprived and non-white ethnic groups.   
 
Many children end up having to have multiple teeth extracted under general 
anaesthetic, which is an unpleasant experience for the family and not without risk.  
Almost 9 out of 10 hospital tooth extractions among children aged 0 to 5 years are due 

Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/oral-health-survey-of-5-year-old-children-2022


 
 

to preventable tooth decay, and tooth extraction is still the most common hospital 
procedure in 6 to 10 year olds (OHID, 2022), leading to missed education, and time 
off work for parents/carers.   
 
Table 1: Percentage of 5-year-old children with experience of tooth decay over time in South Yorkshire 

Year Barnsley Doncaster Rotherham Sheffield Yorkshire 
and 
Humber 

England 

2007/08 39.5 47.2 36.6 40.7 38.7 30.9 

2011/12 41.0 33.6 40.4 35.8 33.6 27.9 

2014/15 30.2 31.0 28.9 31.4 28.5 24.7 

2018/19 39.6 37.2 31.6  41.0 28.7 23.4 

2021/22 29.4 32.7 23.5 30.8 27.0 23.7 
Source: OHID, 2023 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/oral-health-survey-of-5-year-old-children-2022  

 
2.2 Doncaster, along with the other South Yorkshire LA areas experiences 
some of the highest levels of hospital extractions seen nationally. Table 2 shows 
the pre- pandemic (2019-20), during pandemic (2020-21) and most recent (2021-22) 
hospital extraction data for South Yorkshire.   There was a significant reduction in tooth 
extraction rates between 2019-20 and 2020-21, reflecting the limited access to 
hospital lists for dental extractions due to the COVID-19 pandemic, which is now 
improving.   Nationally, there has been an 83% increase in the number of episodes of 
tooth decay -related tooth extractions in hospital for 0 to 19 year olds in 2021-22 
compared to the previous year. This increase is likely to reflect a partial recovery of 
hospital services following the COVID-19 pandemic.   
 
The costs to the NHS of hospital admissions for tooth extractions in children aged 0 to 
19 years in England have been estimated based on the latest NHS national cost 
collection data. The costs were £50.9 million for tooth decay-related tooth extractions 
in the financial year 2021 to 2022.  
 
Table 2: Finished Consultant Episodes tooth extraction rate with caries as the primary diagnosis per 
100,000 target population 

LA name 0-5 year olds 6-10 year olds 0-19 year olds 

19-20 20-21 21-22 19-20 20-21 21-22 19-20 20-21 21-22 

Barnsley 825.2 
 

413.1 
 

837.3 
 

1936.0 
 

896.1 
 

1582.7 
 

889.2 
 

427.4 
 

769.6 

Doncaster 1028.6 
 

230.2 
 

612.4 
 

2800.8 
 

535.2 
 

1631.5 
 

1172.8 
 

245.9 
 

713.7 
 

Rotherham 1243.7 
 

381.6 
 

846.5 
 

2488.3 
 

803.0 
 

1794.4 
 

1167.4 
 

367.0 
 

792.6 
 

Sheffield 916.4 
 

677.4 
 

1019.6 
 

2095.5 
 

1390.2 
 

1959.8 
 

943.0 
 

620.2 
 

882.2 
 

Yorkshire 
and the 
Humber 

630.4 231.3 403.7 1265.3 441.3 812.8 595.7 212.2 378.0 

England 265.1 
 

113.0 
 

201.7 
 

526.6 
 

214.7 
 

416.4 
 

264.9 
 

109.9 
 

205.1 
 

Sources: OHID 2022 and 2023 
Hospital tooth extractions of 0 to 19 year olds 2021 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
Hospital tooth extractions in 0 to 19 year olds: 2022 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

  
 

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-oral-health-applying-all-our-health/child-oral-health-applying-all-our-health#:~:text=Tooth%20decay%20can%20cause%20problems,year%20for%20hospital%20extractions%20alone
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/oral-health-survey-of-5-year-old-children-2022
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/hospital-tooth-extractions-of-0-to-19-year-olds-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/hospital-tooth-extractions-in-0-to-19-year-olds-2022


 
 

2.3 Tooth decay in childhood is a predictor of tooth decay in later life and 
supports the need for early intervention including Dental Check by 1 (DCby1) and local 
oral health promotion interventions at individual and community level.   
 
2.4 The last Adult Dental Health Survey in 2009 demonstrated that  30% of adults 
in Yorkshire and the Humber had tooth decay, yet only 7% of adults in Yorkshire and 
the Humber had no natural teeth  (compared with 37% in 1968), with 88% having more 
than 21 teeth (termed a ‘functioning dentition’). This reflects the significant 
improvements in oral health seen nationally over the last 40 years since the 
introduction and widespread use of fluoride toothpaste.   Another adult dental survey 
is currently underway, which will provide more up to date data at regional level. 
However, there are broadly 3 groups of adults: the under 30s who have low restorative 
needs reflecting their exposure to fluoride toothpaste; the 30-65’s who have 
experienced high levels of disease and have lots of restorations (referred to as the 
“heavy metal generation”) requiring ongoing maintenance; and some older people 
needing denture care.   
 
In Yorkshire and the Humber (2009) there was a greater proportion of adults with 
moderate and severe forms of gum diseases relative to the national average: 42% of 
adults had mild gum disease, 10% had moderate and 2% had severe disease. 
 
2.6 The incidence and mortality of oral cancer for Doncaster appears to be lower 
than both regional and national levels (tables 3 and 4), yet it has been increasing over 
the years.   Oral cancer disproportionately affects males and its incidence and mortality 
increase with deprivation and age.  Known risk factors for oral cancer are linked to 
social determinants and include smoking or chewing tobacco, drinking alcohol, and 
infection with the human papilloma virus (HPV). Screening of the oral mucosa for oral 
cancer/pre-cancer at dental appointments is essential, with referral to specialist 
services where necessary.    In time it is hoped that the incidence of oral cancer will 
be mitigated by the HPV vaccination now offered to both teenage girls and boys. 
  
Table 3: Standardised incidence of oral cancer per 100,000  (C00-C14) 

Year Barnsley Doncaster Rotherham Sheffield Yorkshire 
and 
Humber 

England 

 2012-
2016 

 13.59  14.36  15.47 15.27  15.26  14.55 

 
Table 4: Standardised mortality from oral cancer per 100,000 (C00-C14) 

Year Barnsley Doncaster Rotherham Sheffield Yorkshire 
and 
Humber 

England 

 2012-
2016 

4.72 4.14 4.20 4.85 4.70 4.54 

Source: PHE, 2020  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-cancer-in-england  
 

2.7 The population of Doncaster is increasing, which will increase demand 
on dental services. In particular, the predicted 35% increase in the population of older 
adults (65+ years) and 65% increase in the population of the 85+ age group between 
2020 and 2040 will bring challenges of its own to develop dental services that meet 
the dental needs of this ageing population, in terms of managing patients with co-
morbidities, consent issues and polypharmacy, training for the dental team and 

Page 23

https://dentalcheckbyone.co.uk/
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-dental-health-survey/adult-dental-health-survey-2009-summary-report-and-thematic-series
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-cancer-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-cancer-in-england


 
 

suitable estates. In addition, a greater number of older people are cared for in their 
own homes than in residential/nursing homes, with the 2016 survey of mildly 
dependent older people suggesting that over 5% in Doncaster are likely to need 
domiciliary dental care. This survey also found that over 25% of those surveyed in 
Doncaster had full dentures needing replacement, and 7% reported current pain.  The 
World Health Organisation recognises that good oral health is an essential part of 
active ageing.  
 
 3. Key Challenges to dental access 

Historic and ongoing contractual factors - The current primary care dental contract, 
was rolled out in 2006 is held by a general dental practice in perpetuity (subject to any 
performance concerns), with limited flexibility for change and viewed as a barrier to 
delivering better care. Dental practices are paid on units of dental activity (UDAs) 
which has variability across/within places, which can disincentivise the provision of 
NHS dentistry and hinder access. The focus on and remuneration for individual 
treatments and patient throughput challenges the ability to treat patients with complex 
needs. There is no consideration of or weighted funding to account for practices 
delivering care in areas of most inequality and deprivation. 

 
Patient perceptions - In addition to commissioning challenges, there are also 
difficulties around patient perceptions as it may not always be clear to patients how 
NHS dental services work.  Patients often think that they are registered with a dental 
practice in the same way that they are registered with a GP, however, this is not the 
case. GP practices contracts are based on patient lists, but dental practices are 
contracted to delivery activity. Practices are obliged to only deliver a course of 
treatment to an individual, not ongoing regular care, however many practices do tend 
to see patients regularly.   A dental practice only has ‘responsibility’ towards a patient 
whilst they are under a course of treatment and for 2 months thereafter, but many 
practices will continue to be available to that patient for urgent treatment for the next 
couple of years purely as a gesture of goodwill. 

 
Cost of treatment - Unlike many other NHS services which are free at the point of 
delivery, NHS Dental services are subsidised with fee paying, non-exempt adult 
patients contributing towards the cost of NHS dental treatment with the contribution 
determined by the course of treatment. The national dental charges are set on a three-
band tariff related to complexity of treatment needs each year. Practices must display 
this information within their clinics.  Whilst many will pay for their treatment, NHS dental 
care is free of charge to children, pregnant women, mothers of a baby under 12 
months, and those on certain low-income benefits.  Others on low incomes may also 
get full or partial assistance with costs though the NHS low income scheme.   

 

Capacity - Dental practices have set capacity to deliver NHS dental care, which is 
largely determined by the number of units of dental activity they are commissioned to 
provide. Commissioned dental activity is based on Courses of Treatment (CoT) and 
Units of Dental Activity (UDAs). Depending on the complexity of the treatment, each 
CoT represents a given number of UDAs. For example, one UDA for an examination, 
three UDAs for a filling and 12 UDAs for dentures.  
 
 

Page 24

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-survey-of-mildly-dependent-older-people-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-survey-of-mildly-dependent-older-people-2016
https://www.nhs.uk/nhs-services/dentists/who-is-entitled-to-free-nhs-dental-treatment-in-england/


 
 

Many dental practices offer both NHS and private dental care, which, as independent 
contractors, they are at liberty to do. Mixed practices, offering both NHS and private 
treatment, tend to have separate appointment books for both NHS and private 
treatment, with the same staff teams often employed to provide these different 
arrangements. NHS provision must be available across the practice’s contracted 
opening hours.  However, demand for NHS treatment is such that they could have 
used up their available contracted NHS appointments and if this is the case practices 
may, therefore, offer private appointments to patients.   Private care has different 
charging and regulatory arrangements to NHS dental care, and it must be made clear 
to patients if they are undergoing private care. 
 

4. Maintaining and improving oral health and reducing oral health 

inequalities through SY ICB-commissioned dental services 

Pre-pandemic, around 66% of adults and children who live in Doncaster saw an NHS 
dentist in the preceding 24 and 12 months respectively up to 31st December 2019.  
This was similar to neighbouring local authorities, yet higher than England.   In addition 
to these figures, some will have chosen to access private dental care, but there are no 
data available for this.  With several months of practice closures due to COVID-19, 
followed by months of limited patient through-put due to heightened infection 
prevention and control requirements, there was a significant impact on access to 
dental services.  Table 5 shows how this affected access for those in local authorities 
in South Yorkshire and England.   
 
Due to the back-log of care, demand for NHS care is now significantly higher than pre-
pandemic levels at all practices.  While the number of available appointments for 
regular and routine treatment is increasing, and access figures are gradually 
improving, dental practices continue to balance the challenge of clearing any backlog 
with managing new patient demand.  In addition, dental teams are facing significant 
workforce challenges as staff are continuing to leave the NHS, which hinders 
opportunities to increase appointment levels. Whilst restoration of NHS dental activity 
continues, it is encouraging that the latest figures for access up to 30th June 2023 
indicate that access levels in Doncaster amongst adults have returned to pre-
pandemic levels (68%) and are almost restored for children (64%).  There is 
significantly better access in Doncaster than in England overall.  

  
Table 5: Adult patients seen by an NHS dentist in the last 24 months and child patients seen in the last 12 
months as a percentage of the population for local authorities in South Yorkshire and England overall. 

 
LA % seen to 31 

Dec 2019 
% seen to 31 
Dec 2020 

% seen to 30 
June 2021 

% seen to 31 
Dec 2021 

% seen to 30 
June 22 

% seen to 30 
June 23 

 Adult  Child Adult Child Adult Child Adult Child Adult Child Adult Child 

Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council 

61.4 
 

68.0 
 

55.5 
 

29.8 
 

51.4 
 

31.9 
 

43.7 
 

47.1 
 

45.4 52.8 51.4 59.6 

Doncaster 
Council 

66.2 
 

66.0 
 

58.7 
 

31.6 
 

53.3 
 

32.7 
 

45.6 
 

45.6 
 

47.6 50.4 66.4 63.6 

Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough 
Council 

59.6 
 

61.7 
 

55.7 
 

28.7 
 

51.4 
 

32.3 
 

44.8 
 

42.9 
 

46.8 46.8 54.5 58.2 

Sheffield 
City Council 

59.4 
 

68.0 
 

55.2 
 

32.8 
 

52.5 
 

36.4 
 

46.3 
 

49.6 
 

48.6 54.1 51.6 62.7 

England 49.6 
 

58.4 
 

44.3 
 

29.6 
 

40.8 
 

32.5 
 

35.5 
 

42.5 
 

36.9 46.2 43.0 55.8 

Source: NHS Digital 

Page 25



 
 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2019-20-biannual-report 
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2021-22-biannual-report 
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2021-22-annual-report  
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2022-23-annual-report  

 
4.1 Dental Initiatives 

• The flexible commissioning programme - There are currently 13 NHS dental 
practices in Doncaster involved in this programme, which aims to deliver:  whole 
population evidence-based prevention in dental practice in line with Delivering 
Better Oral Health (OHID, DHSC, and NHSEI, 2021); targeted prevention for 
specific groups; access to care; utilisation of skill mix within the dental team.  

 
Practices may twist up to 10% of their contracted units of Dental Activity (UDA’s) 
and they must have a dedicated Oral Health Champion who leads the practice in 
delivering both in-house preventive programmes and Making Every Contact Count 
through signposting to other health and wellbeing support such as Stop Smoking 
Services, alcohol services, mental health services and weight management 
services.  In Doncaster, they also accept referrals for children at high risk of poor 
oral health who do not have their own NHS dentist from health visitors, the Single 
Point of Contact (SPOC), the looked after children’s team, former community 
dental services patients who are now in a position to accept care in a general 
practice and signposted from the urgent dental treatment provider for children 
assessed as having wider clinical dental needs with no regular dentist.  This 
pathway is also being extended to receive referrals from the school nursing team, 
and recent feedback suggests flexible commissioning is positively supporting many 
families to access dental care. 

 
An evaluation by NHS England of the Yorkshire and Humber Flexible 
Commissioning programme demonstrated that it is possible to commission dental 
services differently in a format that supports delivery of preventive care to improve 
oral health and reduce inequalities, offer access to new patients and develop the 
full dental practice team. The ICB now has an opportunity to learn for the current 
scheme and be more creative and work around some of the rigidities of the national 
contract and making the programme work better to meet local needs.  Current 
arrangements for the programme are in place until March 2024. A review across 
the 3 ICBs in Y&H is now underway with plans to: 

• Consider an expansion to the programme to support a more ambitious 
approach; review the current 10% twist of the contract. A significant increase 
(25%) on the 'twist' is being considered which will allow practices to expand the 
offer to patients/provide more scope for innovation. 

• Target practices in areas of high need that don’t currently have flexible 
commissioning practices. 

• Review entry criteria for practices in identified areas, opportunity for the ICB to 
review this and develop measures that will consider outcomes rather than a 
focus on the target. The specification of the scheme will be revised to pick up 
the targeted approach for hard to reach / hard to engage patients, and to also 
address the issue of practices holding large waiting lists. 

 

• Urgent access sessions for patients experiencing poorest oral health – These 
sessions are in addition to the commissioned urgent care treatment services and 
contribute to improved access to urgent dental care for those patients in greatest 

Page 26

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2019-20-biannual-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2021-22-biannual-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2021-22-annual-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2022-23-annual-report


 
 

need, through offering a number of sessions per week.  The practice in Doncaster 
is providing 4 sessions per week with each session providing on average 7 
appointments.  The benefit of these access session is that patients can have their 
urgent needs met and can also return for completion of treatment plans and ongoing 
care. 

 
Benefits have been seen with the targeted urgent access sessional approach such 
as: 

• Enabled more patients with high dental needs to access dental treatment, some 

of which may have previously accessed GPs for pain medication or 

antimicrobials (which are often not recommended). 

• Patients have been offered the choice of engaging within a phased treatment 

plan where high oral health needs have been identified and the opportunity to 

also become a known patient to the practice. 

• Reduced demand on the NHS111, as definitive and stabilising dental care can 

be provided for more patient – patients can have their urgent needs met, but 

also return for completion of treatment plans and ongoing care.  

• Improving access to Community Dental Services  - A review of Community Dental 
Services has been undertaken and has proposed a number of recommendations 
for service development to improve access to services and care pathways. 

    

• One-off payments to incentivise recruitment (Golden Hello) -There was a 
commitment from NHS England in Y&H in 2022/23 to assist local NHS dental 
providers in the recruitment and longer-term retention of dentists in targeted areas 
of high deprivation, patient need and local intelligence as evidenced by the 
OHNA. The overarching aim of the scheme was to ultimately increase local NHS 
dental access for patients in the targeted areas. 16 practices in Doncaster were 
invited to apply, 8 applied which resulted in 1 application being submitted through 
the practice recruitment process, unfortunately the practice was unable to secure 
the performer. 

 

• Waiting list initiative - There has been a project to determine numbers of patients 
on waiting lists and waiting times helped by NHS dental practices, and how these 
could be managed. Additional funding would need to be identified to support further 
work in South Yorkshire. 

 

5. Maintaining and Improving Oral Health 

5.1 Rotherham Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation Trust provide the 

0-19 Healthy Child Programme, which includes oral health improvement through 

health visiting teams and school nurses.  

• The Children and Young People and Families Public Health team manage both 

the 0-5 and 5-19 contract:-  

• Oral health specific KPIs are part of 0-5 contract specification but not in 5-19 

contract specification.  

Page 27



 
 

• The 0-5 service distributes oral health packs containing toothbrush, fluoride 

toothpaste, leaflet with key oral health messages and Tommee Tippee (free 

flow cup) through health visitors to every baby at their 6-8 week assessment.   

• Health visitors also provide an additional oral health pack (containing 

toothbrush, fluoride toothpaste and oral health leaflet) at 2-2.5 year 

assessments. 

• There is also a Doncaster oral health conversation guide for health visitors and 

nursery nurses, to help them to support families.  

5.2 Water Fluoridation - Figure 1 shows the return on investment of evidence-based 
oral health improvement programmes.   
 

Figure 1: Return on investment of oral health improvement programmes for 0-5 year olds (PHE, 2016 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-the-oral-health-of-children-cost-effective-

commissioning ) 

 

 

 

6. Dental contract system reforms in England 

The 2022/23 Dental contract negotiations represent the first significant change to the 
contract since its introduction in 2006. They follow 12 months of engagement with 
stakeholders and the profession, and in recent months, a set of more focused 

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-the-oral-health-of-children-cost-effective-commissioning
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-the-oral-health-of-children-cost-effective-commissioning


 
 

conversations with the British Dental Association after NHS England was asked by 
the government to lead on the next stage of dental contract system reform in March 
2021.  

For national contract reform to be viable, 6 aims must be met.  

Contract changes must:  

• be designed with the support of the profession   
• improve oral health outcomes   
• increase incentives to undertake preventative dentistry, prioritise evidence-

based care for patients with the most needs and reduce incentives to deliver 
care that is of low clinical value   

• improve patient access to NHS care, with a specific focus on addressing 
inequalities, particularly deprivation and ethnicity   

• demonstrate that patients are not having to pay privately for dental care that 
was previously commissioned NHS dental care   

• be affordable within NHS resources made available by the government, 
including taking account of dental charge income 

For further information, NHS England » Dental contract reform 

 

 

Page 29

https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/dentistry/dental-commissioning/dental-contract-reform/


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Rapid Oral Health  

Needs Assessment 

Yorkshire & the Humber 

May 2022 

 

 

 

 

Understanding oral health inequalities in Yorkshire 

and the Humber and the evidence base 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



2 
 

 
 

Rapid Oral Health Needs Assessment Yorkshire & the Humber 2022 
Contents 

 
Contents                                                                                           Page 

1. Executive summary                                                                               3 

2. Introduction                                                                                            4 

3. Aims and objectives                                                                               7 

4. Population demographics for Yorkshire & the Humber                          7 

5. Oral health of children                                                                          13 

6. Oral health of adults                                                                             25 

7. Oral cancer                                                                                           33 

8. Oral health inequalities                                                                         35 

9.  Prevention                                                                                            40 

10.  Access to NHS dental care and impact of COVID-19                          41                                                                                                              

11.  Dental workforce                                                                                  47 

12.  Alternative approaches to commissioning NHS dental services          50 

13.  Patient and public engagement                                                            53 

14.  Recommendations in reducing oral health inequalities                        54                                                    

15.  Definitions and abbreviations                                                               59 

16.  References                                                                                           59                                                                                      

17.  Appendix                                                                                              64 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32



3 
 

1. Executive Summary  

The purpose of this rapid oral health needs assessment is to help understand the oral health 

inequalities across Yorkshire and the Humber (Y&tH) and the evidence base in order to  

inform principles underpinning strategy and work programme development; address 

inequalities; and meet population need and demand. It also supports a multi-stakeholder 

approach to the commissioning of prevention programmes to improve oral health and reduce 

oral health inequalities.   

Poor oral health is largely preventable and is essential for good general health throughout 

the life course, enabling individuals to eat, speak, and socialise without pain or 

embarrassment. 

I. Limitations of the Rapid Oral Health Needs Assessment 

 

It is important to acknowledge the limitations when considering the findings including: 

 

• Availability, accessibility, robustness, and the timeframe to collate relevant datasets. 

• The focus of this rapid oral health needs assessment has been on identifying oral health 

inequalities, with recommendations based on principle. There will be a need for further 

investigation of the data to develop an understanding of where prioritisation is needed, 

aligned with services and care pathways. 

• Limitations of available evidence on oral health inequalities related to: 

• Protected characteristics with mixed or inconclusive evidence related to pregnancy/ 

maternity and religion, and limited data available for oral health inequalities related to 

ethnicity but evidence related to oral cancer, caries, and tooth loss. 

• Vulnerable groups – prisoners, Gypsy Roma and Traveller communities, looked after 

children and bariatric patients. 

• This rapid oral health needs assessment does not provide a comprehensive overview of 

the totality of commissioned dental services in Y&tH e.g. dental services commissioned 

by Health and Justice in secure settings, nor identify any gaps in service provision, but it 

does provide recommendations in relation to prioritisation of care pathway work to inform 

future commissioning and service model design. 

 

II. Key findings from Yorkshire and the Humber 

 

• Inequalities in oral health exist with those in the most deprived areas experiencing poorer 

oral health across all age groups. 

• 3-year-olds in Y&tH have the greatest experience of tooth decay nationally (Y&H – 15%; 

England 12%). 

• By the age of 5-years in Yorkshire and the Humber, 29% have experience of tooth 

decay, the second highest prevalence nationally (England 23%) (Range Ryedale – 11% 

to Sheffield – 41%). 

• For those children with experience of tooth decay, by the time they reach 5 years of age 

they will on average have 4 teeth that are either decayed, extracted, or filled (Range: 

Craven 2 – Bradford 4.3 teeth).  

• Tooth decay can cause problems with eating, sleeping, communication and socialising, 

and can result in missed days from school for hospital extractions and time off work for 

carers. 

Page 33



4 
 

• Tooth decay is still the most common reason for hospital admissions in the 6-10-year-old 

age group and 2-3% of children in Local Authorities across South Yorkshire had teeth 

extracted under general anaesthetic in 2019, the highest levels seen nationally.   

• There is evidence of oral health inequalities associated with disability in terms of caries, 

dental access, tooth loss, traumatic dental injuries, oral health behaviours and quality of 

life. 

• Y&tH has an ageing population. Over the next two decades the population of older adults 
(65+ years) is expected to increase by 33% and for those aged 85+ years is expected to 
increase by 66%. 42% of mildly dependant older adults had a functional dentition (21 or 
more teeth) with an expectation of retaining their teeth for life. 

• Incidence of oral cancer is significantly higher in Y&tH when compared with England.  

• There are limited contractual levers from which to re-distribute resource to promote oral 

health prevention and support dentists in treating high needs patients. 

• A health equity audit should be used to determine equity of access to dental services, 

including urgent care services, and evaluate the outcomes from initiatives to improve 

access across Y&tH, the findings of which should inform future commissioning decisions. 

Top priorities: 

Particular consideration should be given to those that have both the greatest dental need 

and experience challenges in accessing routine and urgent dental care. This includes 

individuals and communities that are deprived, vulnerable children known to the social care 

system, individuals with severe physical and/or learning disabilities, those with poor mental 

health, older adults, homeless, asylum seekers, refugees and migrants. Data and evidence 

surrounding oral health inequalities is variable and complex, but we know that they also exist 

in relation to oral cancer as well as in vulnerable groups with long-standing medical 

conditions, substance misuse, prisoners/prison leavers and Gypsy, Roma and Traveller 

communities. 

As a priority, a Community Dental Service (CDS) service review should encompass the 

entire special care dentistry and paediatric pathway and consider benefits of a Referral 

Management System (RMS). A service review of prison dental services in Yorkshire and the 

Humber is being undertaken separately. Considering the complex needs of the older and 

ageing population, care pathways for housebound or those living in residential and nursing 

settings should be reviewed. The review of current dental services for people with no fixed 

abode in Y&tH can be used to inform robust care pathway design, commissioned models 

and support implementation. 

 
Available Healthwatch reports were used to inform the rapid needs assessment. It is 

important that commissioned dental services including service design and development work 

consider the views, beliefs, and experiences of the public and patients living in Y&tH to 

improve patient safety, experience, and health outcomes. Building on work to date, NHSEI 

should continue to work in partnership with key stakeholders, including Healthwatch, to 

maximise opportunities to ensure patient centred services improve access, reduce 

inequalities in communities and make better use of resources. 

2. Introduction 

The purpose of this rapid oral health needs assessment is to support commissioning teams 

with prioritisation and targeting of oral health care provision, to reduce inequalities of access 

to NHS dental care across Y&tH. It also supports a multi-stakeholder approach to the 

commissioning of prevention programmes to improve oral health and reduce oral health 

inequalities and meet population need.   

Page 34



5 
 

The rapid needs assessment uses a combination of national, regional and local datasets and 

resources to outline population demographics and explore oral health inequalities and 

inequities that exist across the region. This has involved analysing datasets such as national 

epidemiological surveys and anonymised NHS Business Service Authority (BSA) contractual 

data to inform population demographics, oral health needs and dental access and identify 

areas of high need.  

Data from Health Education England (HEE) has also been used to inform workforce 

capacity. The needs assessment concentrates on the following domains for the region of 

Y&tH: 

• An overview of the population  

• Description of the oral health of adults and children using national epidemiological 
surveys 

• Oral health inequalities 

• An overview of access to oral healthcare services 

• Patient and public experiences  

• An overview of oral health improvement programmes/activities provided in the region 
 

Responsibilities in relation to oral health 
Since 1st April 2013, when the Health and Social Care Act 2012 came into force, the 

responsibility for oral health has been split between two organisations: 

NHS England: 

• Has the statutory duty to commission the totality of NHS dental services with ICSs 

taking on commissioning responsibilities from 2023 

Local authority:  
 
Statutory responsibilities: 
 

• Commission or provide oral health improvement programmes to improve health 
(Statutory instrument 3094) 

• Commission or provide oral health surveys and to participate in any oral health 
survey commissioned by the secretary of state (Statutory instrument 3094) 

• Power to make proposals regarding water fluoridation schemes and duty to conduct 
public consultations in relation to these (Statutory instrument 301) 

 
Whilst correct at the time of writing readers would be encouraged to explore proposed 
changes as outlined in the Health and Care Bill 2021-22. 
 
The Challenges  
 
Recent local oral health needs assessments have highlighted key oral health challenges 
experienced in the region which are outlined below (PHE, 2018).  
 
Despite improvements in oral health in England over the last forty years, many people 
continue to suffer the pain and discomfort associated with oral diseases, which are largely 
preventable. A healthy mouth and smile mean that people can eat, speak and socialise 
without pain or discomfort. Oral health is an integral part of health and wellbeing and many 
of the key risk factors are associated with other common chronic diseases and conditions. 
 
The distribution and severity of oral diseases varies between Local Authorities and regions. 
Unacceptable inequalities exist with more vulnerable, disadvantaged and socially excluded 

Page 35



6 
 

groups experiencing more oral health problems. As with health inequalities, oral health 
inequalities are not inevitable- they are a result of inequalities in income, education, 
employment and living conditions throughout life and can be reduced. Focusing on the wider 
determinants of health and individual behavioural change approaches are necessary to 
achieve sustainable improvements in oral health related behaviours. Social, environmental, 
economic or lifestyle factors place vulnerable groups at higher risk of poor oral health and 
make it difficult for them to access dental services. 
 
The two main oral diseases are tooth decay (dental caries) and gum (periodontal) disease. 
Whereas tooth decay tends to be a problem in the general population, gum disease is more 
prevalent in the older population. Both diseases can lead to loss of teeth and both conditions 
are preventable. 
 
There are other oral conditions that are not as widespread but do have an impact, 
sometimes significantly, on the population. The more serious conditions are mouth cancer 
and congenital deformities, such as cleft lip and palate. Other oral health conditions include 
orthodontic problems e.g. crowded and misaligned teeth and tooth surface loss e.g. erosion 
due to dietary acids. 
 
Tooth decay may be prevented by reducing the amount and frequency of consumption of 
sugary foods and drinks and optimising exposure to fluoride. Gum disease may be 
prevented by good oral hygiene and stopping smoking; and the risk of oral cancer may be 
reduced by: stopping smoking; drinking no alcohol or drinking alcohol within recommended 
safe limits; eating a healthy diet; reducing sun exposure (linked with lip cancer;) and 
immunisation with the HPV vaccine as mouth and oropharyngeal cancers have been linked 
to the human papilloma virus (HPV) transmitted through oral sex. 
 
Oral diseases and conditions share common risk factors with other diseases such as 
diabetes, cardiovascular disease, cancer and obesity (figure 1). A common risk factor 
approach aims to control the shared risk factors thereby impacting on a multitude of 
conditions and diseases (Sheiham and Watt, 2000). 
 
Oral health messages need to be incorporated through a common risk factor approach into 
all health promotional programmes and included in health assessments for vulnerable 
groups.  
 
Figure 1: Common risk factors (Sheiham and Watt, 2000) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



7 
 

3. Aim and Objectives 
 
Aim: 
 
The aim is to support commissioning teams with prioritisation and targeting of oral health 
care provision to reduce inequalities to access to NHS dental care across Y&tH.    
 
Objectives: 
 

• Use readily available data sources to highlight predicted population demographics, 
prevalence of oral health disease and oral health inequalities and inequities across 
Yorkshire and the Humber. 

 

• To utilise the initial findings to inform targeted work to explore how oral health 
inequalities and inequities can be addressed and inform future workstreams. 

 
Integrated Care Systems (ICS) 
 
Where possible Local Authority data has been aligned with the current geographical 
footprints of Integrated Care Systems (ICS) which are outlined in table 1 below.   
 
Table 1: ICS footprint aligned with Yorkshire & the Humber Local Authorities  
 

ICS Local Authority 

Humber Coast and Vale East Riding 

 Kingston upon Hull 

North East Lincolnshire 

North Lincolnshire 

York 

North Yorkshire 
Hambleton 
Harrogate 
Richmondshire 
Ryedale 
Scarborough 
Selby 

West Yorkshire Bradford 

 Calderdale 

 Craven 

 Kirklees 

 Leeds 

 Wakefield 

South Yorkshire Barnsley 

 Doncaster 

 Rotherham 

 Sheffield 

 
Data relating specifically to Bassetlaw is not included due to the changes in ICS footprint i.e. Bassetlaw will move 
into Nottingham and Nottinghamshire ICS.’ (DHSC. 2021). 

 
4. Population demographics for Yorkshire & the Humber 
 
Across Y&tH the Local Authorities vary in terms of their size and population demographics, 
with some areas having a differential proportion of children, working age adults and older 
adults (Table 2) and the distribution of that population within the geography (Figure 2). 
 
There are large areas of sparsely populated rurality predominantly in Humber Coast & Vale 
together with the densely populated areas of West Yorkshire and South Yorkshire. Each 

Page 37



8 
 

present their own challenges for the planning and delivery of dental services, including 
location and distribution of services and recruitment and retention of dental team members. 
 
Table 3 summarises the predicted trends in population demographics at Local Authority and 
ICS level across Yorkshire & the Humber between 2020-2040 (see also Appendix – 
population Tables A-E). Over the next two decades, the all age population of Yorkshire and 
the Humber is expected to increase by 6%. Similar increases are expected in all Local 
Authorities except for Hull, North East Lincolnshire, York, Hambleton, Richmondshire and 
Harrogate which are expected to remain relatively static. By comparison, the populations of 
Wakefield, Ryedale, Selby and all Local Authorities in South Yorkshire are expected to 
increase at a rate greater than that of Yorkshire and the Humber. In most Local Authorities 
the falling birth rate is reflected in the predicted reduction in the child population, with the 
exception of Rotherham, Sheffield, Barnsley, Leeds, Wakefield, Ryedale and Selby. 
 
Of most significance is the predicted 33% increase in the population of older adults (65+ 
years), across Y&tH (range Leeds, 24% to Richmondshire, 45%)  and 66% increase in the 
population of 85+ age group (range Hull 43% to Selby 102%) which is consistent across all 
Local Authorities. This highlights the need to develop dental services that meet the dental 
needs of this ageing population in terms of managing patients with co-morbidities and 
polypharmacy, training for the dental team and estates (refer to section on adult oral health). 
 
There are also more local anticipated changes in population numbers that will need to be 
considered in planning of dental services, for example the planned expansion of the military 
garrison at Catterick, and the influx of young families this will bring to the area. Time will tell 
whether the reports of relocation from urban to rural / seaside areas, including North 
Yorkshire, in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic lead to a persistent increase in the 
population of these areas and demand for services. Challenges exist in the mechanisms that 
are available to enable the commissioning of dental services that align with population 
growth. 
 
Table 2:  Population of Y&tH by local authority and ICS by age group, 2020. 

LA / ICS All ages 0-19 20-64 65+ 85+ 
      

H & NY 2,329,333 500,332 1,295,509 533,492 69,595 

East Riding of Yorks 343,201 69,377 183,193 90,631 11,178 

Kingston upon Hull,  259,126 63,837 155,852 39,437 4,603 

North East Lincs 159,364 37,536 88,570 33,258 4,589 

North Lincolnshire 172,748 38,890 96,564 37,294 4,656 

York 211,012 44,545 127,593 38,874 5,604 

North Yorkshire** 620,610 128,624 337,028 154,958 20,615 

Hambleton 91,932 17,947 49,397 24,588 3,130 

Harrogate 161,545 35,849 87,239 38,457 5,796 

Richmondshire 53,732 11,288 30,754 11,690 1,391 

Ryedale 55,629 10,782 29,612 15,235 2,035 

Scarborough 108,737 21,282 57,251 30,204 3,829 

Selby 91,697 20,375 52,456 18,866 2,169 
      

West Yorkshire 2,402,573 603,037 1,391,842 407,694 51,851 

Bradford 542,128 156,146 304,168 81,814 10,788 

Calderdale 211,439 50,086 121,130 40,223 4,773 

Page 38



9 
 

Craven 57,338 11,101 30,319 15,918 2,265 

Kirklees 441,290 110,150 252,146 78,994 9,741 

Leeds 798,786 194,280 480,722 123,784 16,280 

Wakefield 351,592 81,274 203,357 66,961 8,004 
      

South Yorkshire 1,415,054 328,263 830,705 256,086 32,561 

Barnsley 248,071 56,154 143,257 48,660 5,750 

Doncaster 312,785 73,197 179,264 60,324 7,427 

Rotherham 264,984 62,673 149,923 52,388 6,223 

Sheffield 589,214 136,239 358,261 94,714 13,161 
      

Y&tH 5,526,350 13,330,355 32,755,764 1,042,314 133,392 

ENGLAND 56,550,138 1,303,008 3,181,028 10,464,019 1,406,410 

Source: ONS, 2020.  Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland - 
Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

** includes Craven and Harrogate 

 
Figure 2: Population density of Yorkshire and the Humber (2019) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


10 
 

Table 3:  Predicted change in population for Y&tH by local authority and ICS (2020-2040) 

 
LA / ICS % change 2020-2040 

0-19 years 20-64 years 65+ years 85+ years All ages 

      

Humber Coast & Vale -7% -5% 36% 74% 3% 

East Riding of Yorks -6% -6% 35% 84% 5% 

Kingston upon Hull -5% -4% 25% 43% 0% 

North East Lincolnshire -12% -9% 33% 65% -1% 

North Lincolnshire -10% -5% 35% 76% 3% 

York -6% -3% 28% 65% 2% 

North Yorkshire** -6% -7% 39% 81% 5% 

Hambleton -12% -10% 35% 80% 2% 

Harrogate -12% -11% 40% 76% 1% 

Richmondshire -12% -15% 45% 98% -1% 

Ryedale 1% 0% 39% 81% 11% 

Scarborough -8% -8% 36% 72% 4% 

Selby 9% 5% 43% 102% 14% 
      

West Yorkshire -1% 1% 34% 63% 6% 

Bradford -6% 0% 37% 57% 4% 

Calderdale -8% -4% 36% 72% 3% 

Craven -7% -6% 37% 78% 6% 

Kirklees -5% -1% 34% 75% 4% 

Leeds 3% 1% 24% 48% 5% 

Wakefield 13% 11% 40% 77% 17% 
      

South Yorkshire 1% 4% 32% 60% 8% 

Barnsley 1% 3% 42% 76% 10% 

Doncaster -5% 2% 35% 65% 7% 

Rotherham 2% 3% 28% 70% 7% 

Sheffield 5% 6% 27% 44% 9% 
      

Y&tH -2% 0% 33% 66% 6% 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 40



11 
 

Deprivation 
 
The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is the official measure of relative deprivation in 
England and is part of a suite of outputs that form the Indices of Deprivation (IoD). It follows 
an established methodological framework in broadly defining deprivation to encompass a 
wide range of an individual’s living conditions.  
 
People may be considered to be living in poverty if they lack the financial resources to meet 
their needs, whereas people can be regarded as deprived if they lack any kind of resources, 
not just income.   
 
The 2019 index is based on 39 separate indicators organised across seven distinct domains 
of deprivation, which are combined and weighted to calculate the Index of Multiple 
Deprivation 2019. This provides an overall measure of multiple deprivation experienced by 
people living in an area and is calculated for every Lower-layer Super Output Area (LSOA).  
These are then ranked according to their level of deprivation relative to that of other areas.  
High ranking LSOAs or neighbourhoods can be referred to as the ‘most deprived’. However, 
there is no definitive threshold above which an area is described as ‘deprived’. The Indices 
of Deprivation measure deprivation on a relative rather than an absolute scale, so a 
neighbourhood ranked 100th is more deprived then a neighbourhood ranked 200th, but this 
does not mean it is twice as deprived. 
 
Deprivation is one measure of the diversity of the population of Yorkshire and the Humber 
(Figure 3). More deprived areas are found in highly populated urban areas and along the 
North Sea coast. Deprivation is strongly correlated with poor oral health, particularly tooth 
decay (all ages) and oral cancer in adults. 
 
Figure 3:  Deprivation in Yorkshire and the Humber (IMD, 2019) 
 

 

Page 41



12 
 

Ethnicity 
 
The Equality Act 2010 protects against race discrimination and this refers to discrimination 
because of colour, nationality, national origin and ethnicity. Ethnicity and national identity are 
self-defined and therefore subjectively meaningful to an individual. Table 4 provides an 
overview of the evidence for oral health inequalities by ethnicity in the UK. Table 5 outlines 
ethnicity variations by local authority from ONS 2011 Census data. 
 
Table 4 Evidence for oral health inequalities by ethnicity: summary table (PHE. 2020) 

 

Outcome  Evidence for inequalities in relation to ethnicity  

Tooth decay Children: Some evidence for higher levels of tooth decay among 
Asian and Eastern European White groups compared to other White 
children, but some inconsistencies. Limited data available.  
Adults: Some evidence for lower decay levels among Asian and 
Black ethnic groups, compared to White groups.  

Periodontal disease  Inconclusive; limited data available.  

Tooth loss  Yes; some evidence that tooth loss and edentulousness rates are 
higher among Whites than among ethnic minority groups, possibly 
with the exception of Black ethnic groups. Limited data available.  

Oral cancer  Yes; some evidence that South Asian women have higher risk of oral 
and pharyngeal cancers than White women; evidence for men 
inconclusive.  

Odontogenic infections  No data  

Traumatic dental injuries  No; but based on limited data.  

Self-rated oral health  Inconclusive; limited data available. Some evidence for poorer self-
rated oral health among Pakistani/Bangladeshi compared to White 
groups.  

OHRQoL  Some inconsistent evidence for poorer OHRQoL among Black ethnic 
groups than among Whites, partly explained by differences in 
socioeconomic position. Limited data available.  

OH related behaviours  Inconclusive; limited data available.  

Service use  Yes; but some inconsistencies.  

 
Table 5 Ethnicity variations by local authority in Yorkshire & the Humber (source ONS census 2011) 

 
Local 
authority/ICS 

White Mixed/multiple 
ethnic group 

Asian/ 
Asian British 

Black/African/ 
Caribbean/Black 
British 

Other ethnic 
group 

      

H & NY       

East Riding Yorks 98.02% 0.52% 1.03% 0.24% 0.18% 

Hull,  93.68% 1.11% 2.93% 1.34% 0.93% 

North East Lincs 97.20% 0.56% 1.56% 0.31% 0.36% 

North Lincolnshire 96.08% 0.56% 2.77% 0.31% 0.28% 

York 93.59% 1.01% 4.16% 0.68% 0.56% 

North Yorkshire* 97.32% 0.61% 1.37% 0.49% 0.21% 

Hambleton      

Harrogate      

Richmondshire      

Ryedale      

Scarborough      

Selby      

      

West Yorkshire      

Bradford 68.87% 1.90% 25.56% 2.03% 1.64% 

Page 42



13 
 

Calderdale 90.24% 1.11% 7.88% 0.51% 0.26% 

Craven*      

Kirklees 80.04% 1.72% 15.52% 2.01% 0.72% 

Leeds 85.33% 2.09% 7.88% 3.49% 1.21% 

Wakefield 95.45% 0.66% 2.67% 0.89% 0.34% 

      

South Yorkshire       

Barnsley 97.76% 0.59% 0.84% 0.59% 0.23% 

Doncaster 95.20% 0.86% 2.66% 0.85% 0.42% 

Rotherham 93.83% 0.69% 4.06% 0.88% 0.54% 

Sheffield 84.07% 1.73% 8.47% 3.60% 2.14% 

 
*Data for North Yorkshire was not available at lower tier local authority level and Craven will be included 

with data relating to North Yorkshire 

 
Population key points 
 
Ethnicity is an important factor to consider in relation to oral health inequalities but the 
impacts upon oral health are further complicated due to variability in findings from research 
highlighting the need for further investigation. There are ethnically diverse populations 
across Yorkshire and the Humber and local knowledge will be important to identify any oral 
health inequalities within communities. 
 
Overall Key points 
 

• The distribution, diversity and changing age profile of the population of Yorkshire and 
the Humber present challenges for the planning and delivery of dental services, 
including location and distribution of services, training of dental teams and the 
estates from which these services are delivered. The appropriate estate for the 
premises will vary depending upon the type of contract and service required. 

• Yorkshire and the Humber has an ageing population. Over the next two decades the 
population of older adults (65+ years) is expected to increase by 33% and for those 
aged 85+ years is expected to increase by 66%. 

• Dental management of this ageing largely dentate population will be impacted by 
their significant co-morbidities (two or more disease conditions) and polypharmacy 
(taking multiple types of medication) which will require increased collaborative work 
across primary care and the wider health system. 

• The prevalence of physical and learning disabilities, including mental health, varies 
depending upon the condition and this is explored in more detail in the oral health 
inequalities section. Some individuals may experience multiple oral health 
inequalities, for example if they are in the older population, deprived and also have a 
physical and/or learning disability. 

 
6. Oral Health of Children 
 
There has been a significant decline in tooth decay and improvements in oral health over the 
past 40 years. However, a substantial proportion of children experience high levels of oral 
disease. This chapter describes the prevalence and severity of the most common oral 
diseases in children using national and local oral health survey data. 
 
A commonly used indicator of tooth decay and treatment experience, the dmft index, is 
obtained by calculating the average number of decayed (d), missing due to decay (m) and 
filled due to decay (f) primary teeth (t) in a population. In five-year-old children, this score will 
be for the primary teeth and is recorded in lower case. In 12-year-old children it reports on 
the adult or permanent teeth in upper case (DMFT). As tooth decay in children is highly 

Page 43



14 
 

polarised towards lower socio-economic groups, another useful indicator, dmft>0, 
demonstrates the proportion of children with obvious tooth decay experience. A further 
indicator of use is the proportion of decayed teeth that have been treated by restoration or 
filling, the Care Index. This indicates the degree to which diseased teeth have been treated.  
 
Office of National Statistics surveys of the oral health of children have been undertaken on a 
ten-yearly cycle since 1973. The last national children’s survey in 2013 demonstrated a 
continuing decline in decay experience in the permanent teeth of 12 and 15-year-old 
children. Changes to the consent process for the 2013 survey do not allow backward 
comparison of decay experience in 5 and 8-year-olds. However, these surveys only provide 
information at a supra-regional level. 
 
The national dental epidemiological programme surveys provide more detailed information at 
a local level and have provided information biannually on the oral health of five-year-old 
schoolchildren and other age groups in the intervening years since 1985.  
 
Oral health of 3-year-old children  
 
The second national survey of 3-year-old pre-school children, attending nurseries, both 
private and state funded, nursery classes attached to schools and play groups was carried 
out in 2020. Although most three-year-old children were free from visually obvious tooth 
decay, the proportion of children experiencing tooth decay in Yorkshire and the Humber was 
14.7% which is higher than the national figure of 10.7% (Figure 4) and the worst region in 
the country (Figure 4). When data are examined at local authority level, the prevalence of 
tooth decay was lowest in Sheffield (0.9%) and the highest in North Lincolnshire (26.2%) 
(Figure 5 & Table 6). 
 
In the Doncaster, Kirklees and York local authority areas cessation of the survey due to the 

COVID-19 pandemic meant that the field work teams were unable to visit any nurseries.  

Two LAs survey (East Riding of Yorkshire and Kingston upon Hull) did not commission the 

survey. Therefore, the results should be interpreted with caution. 

Figure 4 The prevalence of experience of dental decay in 3-year-old children by region, 2020 

 
 

Page 44



15 
 

Figure 5: Prevalence of 3-year-old children in 2020 with any experience of dental decay by local authority 
in Y&tH  

 
 
Table 6:  Oral health experience of 3-year-olds in Yorkshire and the Humber, 2020 

Upper-Tier LA Name/ICS % d3mft>0 
including 
Incisors 

Mean d3mft inc 
Incisors (d3mft>0 
inc Incisors) 

% with 
incisor 
caries 

Care Index % inc 
Incisors (ft/d3mft 
including Incisors) 

% with 
pufa 

H & NY 
     

East Riding of Yorkshire*      

Kingston upon Hull*      

North East Lincolnshire 21.1 3.2† 4.1 5.1 0.0 

North Lincolnshire 26.2 4.1 7.7 0.0 0.7 

York***      

North Yorkshire** 9.8 1.8 0.8 14.3 1.5 

Hambleton 11.1 1.7† 0.0 0.0 7.4 

Harrogate 7.2 †† 1.6 14.9 0.0 

Richmondshire 5.5 †† 0.0 30.8 3.9 

Ryedale 11.4 1.2† 0.0 25.3 0.0 

Scarborough 6.9 2.3† 1.2 7.2 0.0 

Selby 3.5 
 

0.0 33.3 0.0 

      

West Yorkshire 
     

Bradford 16.1 3.4† 6.1 2.0 0.0 

Craven 21.0 1.8† 3.1 9.6 0.0 

Calderdale 2.8 †† 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Kirklees***      

Leeds 15.1 2.7 3.9 7.4 0.0 

Wakefield 21.7 †† 4.8 49.9 0.0 

      

South Yorkshire 
     

Barnsley 10.8 †† 5.4 0.0 0.0 

Doncaster***      

Rotherham 16.2 2.4 4.7 4.3 0.0 

Sheffield 0.9 †† 0.0 0.0 0.4 
      

Y&tH~ 14.7 2.9 3.9 4.6 0.5 

England 10.7 2.9 3.4 4.4 0.4 

0.0
5.0

10.0
15.0
20.0
25.0
30.0

P
re

va
le

n
ce

 o
f 

an
y 

ex
p

er
ie

n
ce

 o
f 

d
en

ta
l d

ec
ay

 in
 3

 y
ea

r 
o

ld
s 

(%
d

3
m

ft
>0

 in
cl

 in
ci

so
rs

)

Local authority (including Yorkshire and Humber and England)

Prevalence of 3 year old children in 2020 with any experience of dental decay by local 
authority( % d3mft>0 incl Incisors) including Y&H and England

Page 45



16 
 

*Did not participate in survey 

**Includes Craven 
***LAs did not visit any nurseries due to Covid-19 
†Based on fewer than 30 volunteers with decay experience 
††Insufficient numbers for estimate 
~Excludes Doncaster; East Riding of Yorkshire; Kingston Upon Hull; Kirklees; York 
PUFA – presence of pain, ulceration, fistulae or abscess – a measure of sepsis 

 

As the majority of children had no experience of dental decay it is important to look at the 
severity of disease in those who do experience dental decay. Among these children, the 
mean number of teeth with experience of dental decay was 2.9. At a regional level there was 
little variation in experience of dental decay among 3-year-old children with any decay 
experience (Figure 6). The median number of teeth with experience of dental decay among 
these children was 2 teeth. Although the mean number of teeth affected in Yorkshire and the 
Humber is similar to England, there is some variation between participating Local Authorities 
across Yorkshire and the Humber (Figure 7).  
The presence of decay in 3-year-olds is of significance as: 

• It is a predictor of decay in later life. 

• Prevalence is correlated with deprivation. 

• It supports the need for early intervention including DCby1 and oral health promotion 
interventions at individual and community level.   

 

 

Figure 6: Mean number of teeth with experience of dental decay in 3-year-olds with any decay experience in 

England by region, 2020

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



17 
 

 

 

Figure 7:  Average number of teeth affected by decay among those with any decay experience in 3-year-olds in 

Yorkshire and the Humber, 2020. 

 
 
 
Oral health of 5-year-old children 
 
In 2019 the prevalence of tooth decay (% dmft>0) in five-year-old children in Y&tH was the 
second highest in the country with 29% of children examined experiencing tooth decay 
(England-23%) (Figure 8 & Table 7). Within the region eleven Local Authorities have a 
disease prevalence which is greater than England and eight have a prevalence greater than 
Y&tH (Figure 9). 
 
Figure 8: Prevalence of experience of dental decay in 5-year-olds in England by region, 2019. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

0.0
0.5
1.0
1.5
2.0
2.5
3.0
3.5
4.0
4.5

M
ea

n
 d

3
m

ft
 in

cl
 in

ci
so

rs
 (

d
3

m
ft

>0
 

in
cl

 in
ci

so
rs

)

Local authority (including Y&H and England)

Mean d3mft incl Incisors (d3mft>0 incl Incisors)

Page 47



18 
 

 

 

Figure 9: Proportion of 5-year-old children with experience of dental decay by local authority,2019 

 
 
 
 
Table 7:  Oral health experience of 5-year-olds in Yorkshire and the Humber, 2019 

 
Local Authority / ICS % d3mft > 0  Mean d3mft 

(d3mft > 0) 
% with 
sepsis 

% with incisor 
caries 

Care Index % 
(ft/d3mft) 

      

H & NY  
   

  

East Riding of Yorks* 
  

   

Kingston upon Hull 31.4 3.6 1.7 7.7 6.5 

North East Lincs 29.8 3.9 5.4 5.1 6.0 

North Lincolnshire 22.0 3.5 1.7 5.7 9.1 

York 18.9 3.1 0.7 6.6 10.9 

North Yorkshire** 20.0 2.8 0.5 3.6 10.0 

Hambleton 21.2 2.7 0.6 5.4 4.1 

Harrogate 21.8 2.9 0.2 4.6 4.5 

Richmondshire 22.0 3.1 0.0 5.3 11.9 

Ryedale 11.3 2.9† 0.0 3.0 19.8 

Scarborough 22.4 2.8 0.4 2.2 13.2 

Selby 13.3 2.8† 2.2 3.3 15.3 

      

West Yorkshire      

Bradford 36.0 4.3 2.1 9.6 8.3 

Calderdale 26.7 4.1 0.3 7.9 8.0 

Craven 21.7 2.0 0.0 0.4 10.2 

Kirklees 31.2 4.1 2.0 9.7 9.8 

Leeds 26.0 3.8 0.5 6.7 12.7 

Wakefield 25.4 3.5 1.4 7.1 6.0 

      

0.0
5.0

10.0
15.0
20.0
25.0
30.0
35.0
40.0
45.0

P
re

va
le

n
ce

 o
f 

5
 y

ea
r 

o
ld

 s
u

rv
ey

ed
 in

 
2

0
1

9
 w

it
h

 e
xp

er
ie

n
ce

 o
f 

d
en

ta
l d

ec
ay

 
(e

xp
re

ss
ed

 a
s 

a 
%

)

Local Authority

Prevalence of 5 year old children in 2019 with any experience of tooth decay by local authority (% d3mft 
> 0) including Y&H and England values

Page 48



19 
 

South Yorkshire 
     

Barnsley 39.6 4.1 1.9 11.3 8.9 

Doncaster 37.2 3.7 3.0 9.3 11.1 

Rotherham 31.6 3.5 1.2 9.7 7.4 

Sheffield 41.0 4.0 1.2 15.4 7.2 

Yorkshire and the 
Humber 

28.7 3.8 1.4 7.6 9.2 

England 23.4 3.4 1.0 5.2 10.3 

*Did not participate 

**Includes Craven 
†Based on fewer than 30 volunteers 

 
A measure of the severity of disease is the number of teeth affected by decay amongst 
those children with experience of the disease (mean dmft if dmft>0). Again, across England, 
Y&tH has the second highest mean (3.8 teeth) and is higher than the England mean of 3.4 
teeth (Table 7 and Figure 10). There is also variation between Local Authorities across the 
region with seven greater than the Y&tH mean (Figure 11). The major component of the dmft 
index was visually obvious, untreated decay into dentine, indicating that much of the disease 
in 5-year-olds remains untreated (Figure 10).   
 
Figure 10: Mean number of teeth with experience of dental decay among 5-year-olds with 
any decay experience in England by region, 2019. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



20 
 

 

Figure 11:  Average number of teeth affected by decay among those with any decay experience in 5-year-olds in 

Yorkshire and the Humber, 2019. 

 

The care index gives an indication of the restorative activity of dentists in each area. It is the 
proportion of teeth with experience of dental decay that have been treated by filling (ft/dmft).  
Caution should be taken in making assumptions about the extent or the quality of clinical 
care available when using this index. The proportion of decayed teeth that were filled was 
10.3% across England as a whole. This varied between regions, in Y&tH it was 9.2% and 
between Local Authorities from 4.1% in Hambleton to 19.8% in Ryedale (Table 7). 
 
Of the five-year-olds examined in Y&tH 1.4% had evidence of sepsis (infection) associated 
with their teeth on the day of examination (England 1%). Again, there was a range across 
the local authority areas from 0% in Ryedale to 5.4% in North East Lincolnshire. Children 
with sepsis may be experiencing pain, have trouble eating and sleeping, and lead to time off 
school (and work for carers). Many of these teeth are liable to require extraction, and in 
children of this age a significant proportion of those will require a general anaesthetic. 
The presence of decay in 5-year-olds is of significance as: 

• It is a predictor of decay in later life. 

• Prevalence is strongly correlated with deprivation. 

• It supports the need for early intervention and oral health promotion interventions at 
individual and community level.   
 

Oral health of 12-year-old children 
Data on the oral health of 12-year-old children was last collected in 2008/09. It is 
acknowledged that the data for 12-year-olds is now more than 10 years old and is therefore 
not reported here, however the forward plan for the national dental epidemiology programme 
includes 12-year-olds for 2022/23. 
 
The presence of disease in children of this age is of significant concern as this is disease in 
their adult dentition and a burden that the individual will carry for the rest of their lives. 
 
 
 

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

M
ea

n
 d

3
n

ft
 (

d
3

m
ft

>0
)

Local Authority (including Yorkshire & the Humber and England)

Average number of teeth missing filled or decayed in those 5 year old children with 
experience of tooth decay by local authority (2019) Mean d3mft (d3mft > 0)

Page 50



21 
 

Reflection 
 
Commissioning strategies need to focus on both prevention and treatment to have the 
biggest impact on oral health inequalities. All organisations should explore ways to improve 
data collection. It is essential that epidemiological surveys continue to be commissioned to 
enable identification of oral health inequalities. Local Authorities could explore 
commissioning models to maximise sustainability. 
 
 
Hospital dental extractions 
 
Tooth decay is still the most common reason for hospital admissions in the 6-10-year old 
age group (PHE, 2021) Hospital tooth extractions of 0 to 19 year olds - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk).  
 
Across England during 2019/20 there has been a 5.9% reduction in the number of episodes 
of caries-related tooth extractions in hospital for 0 to 19-year olds compared to the previous 
year, despite a 0.3% increase in the estimated population of this age group. The reduction is 
mainly due to the significant drop in the number of admissions for tooth extractions in March 
2020. This is consistent with the reduction for all admissions to hospital during this month 
because of the SARS-CoV-2 outbreak. 
 
PHE and NHS Digital publish data on extraction of teeth due to tooth decay and for other 
reasons. Both data sets are based on Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) data which records 
inpatient and day-case care from NHS hospitals across England. Data are based on 
Finished Consultant Episodes (FCE) for surgical and non-surgical extraction of one or more 
teeth and although no assumption can be made about the method of anaesthesia it is likely 
that in most of the cases care has been provided with general anaesthesia. The main reason 
for extraction of teeth being dental caries. 
 
It is possible that different coding protocols are applied in some sites. There may also be an 
underestimate of the number of episodes in other instances, for example if the service 
provider is not the hospital trust where the extractions take place and are not included in 
hospital data recording. Both could explain some of the variation from expected numbers. 
Commissioners have worked closely with trusts to emphasise the importance of data entry 
onto SUS/SLAM. 
 
Y&tH has the highest proportion of children aged 0-19 admitted for extractions, accounting 
for 0.7% of the 0-19 population (Figure 12). Over time there has been some variation 
between regions in the number of FCEs delivered, in Y&tH this has remained relatively 
stable (Figure 13). Similarly, there has been little variation within local authority geographies 
(Table F see appendix). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



22 
 

 
 
 

Figure 12: The number of FCEs for extractions of teeth aged 0-19 by region in 2019/20.   
 

 
 
Figure 13:  Number of FCEs for extractions in 0-19 years 20215/16 to 2019/20. 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



23 
 

Figure 14:  Rate of FCE for caries related extractions in 0-19-year olds by IMD quintile 

 
 
Children from deprived backgrounds are more likely to access these services (Figure 14), a 
reflection of the inequality of distribution of dental caries in the population. 
 
At local authority level the proportion of 0-19-year olds having GA for extraction is highest in 
South Yorkshire, NE Lincolnshire and then Bradford and Wakefield. Similar pattern is seen 
for the proportion of 0-19, 0-5- and 6-10-years having GA for extraction with tooth decay as 
the primary diagnosis (Table F appendix). Note - caution in interpreting this data as activity 
from Hull and East Riding is not captured in HES data.  
 
Tooth decay is the most common oral disease in children and is largely preventable. DGA 
carries a risk and significant morbidity. The average cost for tooth extraction in hospital 
estimated to be around £836 per patient.  
 
To reduce the number of FCEs for extracted teeth requires action in several areas: 

• Engaging with primary and secondary care dental providers. 

• Clear acceptance criteria. 

• Triage of referrals and pre-assessments to avoid unnecessary or repeat GA. 

• Training and support for primary dental care teams to manage young children 
with a focus on prevention and treatment of acute and chronic presentations 
of dental caries. 

• Support for families both pre and post operatively to avoid repeat Gas. 

• Commissioning and implementation of oral health improvement interventions 
with the local authority. 

 
Recommended actions in Yorkshire and the Humber 
 

• Paediatric MCN should explore reasons for the higher activity in South Yorkshire and 
parts of West Yorkshire and extraction of non-carious teeth and develop consistent 
referral guidelines and care pathways. 

• Promote consistency in coding and recording of activity especially in East Yorkshire 
and Hull. All activity should be recorded through SUS which will ensure more robust 
comparisons and monitoring of dental care.   

• Data should be collected on waiting times and numbers on waiting lists, and well as 
volume of care delivered to support contract monitoring and aid commissioning 
decisions.   

• Service development should be in line with recommendations set out in national 
guidance. 

Page 53



24 
 

• Vulnerable children living within deprived communities will have greater need, 
including those from chaotic families that are known to the social care system and 
need a key worker and/or oral health champion for additional support with oral health 
and accessing dental care. Infants and young children with experience of tooth decay 
are more likely to have poorer oral health throughout their lifetime. It is important they 
get the best start in life. 

• At a strategic and operational level, using complimentary commissioning with 
safeguarding undertaken by dental practices and social care workers referring 
vulnerable children known to social care into dental practices, and aligning care 
homes with dental practices and oral health champions aligned with NICE guidance. 

 
Summary 
 

• Tooth decay is the most common oral disease in children and is largely preventable. 
DGA carries a risk and significant morbidity. Average cost for tooth extraction in 
hospital estimated to be around £836 per patient.  

• Tooth decay is still the most common reason for hospital admissions in the 6-10-
year-old age group. 

• Estimated costs of hospital admissions for tooth extractions for children aged 0 to 19-
years were £54.6 million for all extractions and £33 million for tooth decay-related 
extractions. 

• Tooth decay can cause problems with eating and sleeping.   

• Significant inequalities persist, with admission rates for tooth extraction in the most 
deprived communities nearly four times that of those living in the least deprived 
communities. 

• Attempts to reduce the number of hospital episodes for extraction of teeth need to 
address several areas including: engagement of primary and secondary care 
providers; establishment of clear acceptance criteria and triage of referrals; enquiry 
into reasons for admission for extraction where dental caries is not present; provision 
of training and support for primary care teams in the management of dental caries 
among children in acute and chronic stages; commissioning and implementation of 
oral health improvement interventions with the local authority; and clear agreement 
about provision of support for families before and after hospital in an effort to avoid 
repeat episodes in the future

Page 54



 

25 
 

Key points – Child oral health 
 
Despite improvements in the oral health of children in England, many children continue to 
suffer the pain and discomfort associated with oral diseases, which are largely preventable. 
A healthy mouth and smile enable children to eat, speak and socialise without pain or 
discomfort. Oral health is an integral part of health and wellbeing and many of the key risk 
factors are associated with other diseases which may eventually present in adulthood.  
 
The distribution and severity of oral diseases varies between and within local authority areas 
throughout childhood and unacceptable inequalities exist with more vulnerable, 
disadvantaged and socially excluded groups experiencing significant oral health problems. 
 
Tooth decay is almost entirely preventable. In young children it can be a predictor for poor 
oral health in adulthood. 
 
Tooth decay is still the most common reason for hospital admissions in the 6-10-year-old 
age group. Estimated costs of hospital admissions for tooth extractions for children aged 0 to 
19-years were £54.6 million for all extractions and £33 million for tooth decay-related 
extractions.  
 
Significant inequalities persist, with admission rates for tooth extraction in the most deprived 
communities nearly four times that of those living in the most affluent communities. 
 
7. Oral health of adults 
 
Adult dental health survey (2009)  
 
Decennial national UK adult oral health surveys show that oral health has improved 
significantly over the past 40 years. The 2009 national adult dental health survey is reported 
at Yorkshire and the Humber level (NHS Digital. 2011) (Adult Dental Health Survey 2009 - 
Summary report and thematic series - NHS Digital). 
 
Number of teeth 
 
In 2009, 6% of adults in England were found to have no natural teeth (edentulous) with this 
figure rising to 7% in Yorkshire and the Humber. The proportion of adults with no natural 
teeth fell from 37% in 1968 to 6% in 2009. 
 
The presence of 21 or more natural teeth has been used as an additional marker of the 
health of the population’s teeth. In the national 2009 survey 86% of adults in England had 21 
or more teeth with 88% in Yorkshire and The Humber, this indicator displayed a clear social 
gradient with 92% having 21 or more teeth in managerial/professional occupation 
households and 86% intermediate and 79% from routine and manual occupation 
households. 
 
The Steele review of NHS dentistry (NHS, 2009) described three distinct cohorts within the 
adult population. Older age groups (those past retirement age) with no teeth at all who will 
need denture care for many years, a young generation under the age of 30 years who have 
lower levels of decay than their parents and have low restorative needs and a ‘heavy metal 
generation’ group aged between 30 and 65 years who have experienced high levels of 
disease that has been treated by fillings and other restorations and who require ongoing 
maintenance as they age. 
 
The fact that at least half of people aged 85 and over have retained some natural teeth has 
implications as many older people will have heavily restored (filled, crowned) teeth requiring 

Page 55

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-dental-health-survey/adult-dental-health-survey-2009-summary-report-and-thematic-series
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-dental-health-survey/adult-dental-health-survey-2009-summary-report-and-thematic-series


 

26 
 

future maintenance alongside continued preventive care. This may become difficult as 
patients become frailer, with increasingly complex medical histories (co-morbidity and 
polypharmacy) and mobility issues can affect access to dental services for those requiring 
step free or wheelchair accessible services or in a small number of cases domiciliary care. 
 
Between 1998 and 2009 the prevalence of active tooth decay in adults in England fell from 
46% to 28%. There were reductions across all age groups, but the largest reduction was 
within the 25-34-year age band. The proportion with active tooth decay varied by age with 
the 25 to 34 years group having the highest prevalence, 36%, and those aged 65-74 years 
the lowest, 22%. 
 
In 2009, 45% of adults with some natural teeth in England had mild gum disease, 9% had 
moderate gum disease and 1% had severe gum disease. Between 1998 and 2009 there was 
an overall reduction in the prevalence of moderate gum disease from 55% to 45%.  
However, for more severe forms of gum disease an overall increase from 6% to 9% was 
observed.  
 
In Y&tH there was a greater proportion of adults with moderate and severe forms of gum 
diseases relative to the national average: 42% of adults had mild gum disease, 10% had 
moderate and 2% had severe disease. 
 
Oral health survey of adults attending general dental practices, 2018 
 
Adults (16+ years) attending general dental practices for any reason, were recruited to take 
part in the Oral health survey of adults attending general dental practices 2018 (PHE.2020), 
the first of its type. The survey consisted of a questionnaire on the impact of oral problems 
on individuals, use of dental services and barriers to receipt of care and a brief clinical 
examination conducted by trained local epidemiology teams under standardised conditions. 
   
The survey involved 1,173 dental practices across England of which 25% were NHS 
practices, 10% were wholly private and 65% were mixed NHS and private practices. In 
Yorkshire and the Humber 709 individuals from 70 practices participated in both elements of 
the survey. Despite the survey being restricted to dental attendees, the demographics of 
participants were broadly similar to the general population of England although men and 
people aged under 45 years or over 84-years were under-represented.  
 
Only 1% of adult dental attendees examined had none of their own teeth (Note: participants 
with no natural teeth may be underrepresented in this survey due to less frequent visits to 
the dentist). 15% wore dentures and 10% had bridges or implants replacing missing teeth 
and around half (47%) had crowned teeth. 
 
Of those examined in Y&tH (Table G, Figures A and B in the appendix): 
 

• 83% had ‘functional dentitions’ comprising 21 or more natural teeth (England 82%), 

• 92% had at least one filling (England 90%). 

• 75% were assessed as having a current need for dental treatment (England 71%). 

• 6% had not seen a dentist in the last 2 years (England 8%). 

• 25% had tooth decay (England 27%), having on average 1.9 decayed teeth (England 
2.1). 

• 45% had gingival (gum) bleeding (England 53%).   

• 17% had experienced one or more impacts of poor oral health ‘fairly’ or ‘very often’ in 
the previous year (England 18%). Overall, 18% reported currently being in pain. 
 

Page 56

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/891208/AiP_survey_for_England_2018.pdf


 

27 
 

Poorer oral health disproportionately affected those at the older end of the age spectrum and 
those from more deprived areas: 
 

• Around two-thirds of participants aged 85-years and older did not have a functional 
dentition.  

• One in 3 participants living in the more deprived areas of England had untreated 
tooth decay compared to 1 in 5 in the less deprived areas.  

• Reports of impacts from oral problems in the last year in participants living in more 
deprived areas were almost triple those of participants living in less deprived areas 
(28% versus 11%).  

 
Overall, this survey of dental attendees in England paints a picture of a population where 
virtually all adults have at least some natural teeth but where impacts and signs of dental 
disease are prevalent. The survey highlights that the effects of poorer oral health 
disproportionately affect some parts of this population, most notably older people and those 
living in the more deprived areas. 
 
What is not known from this survey is if this picture of complex oral health needs in adult 
dental attendees is markedly different from the general population. Participants in this survey 
could have better oral health than the general public, as for the most part these were people 
reporting to be regular dental attendees with the benefit of professional support for 
maintaining their oral health. On the other hand, these were people surveyed when attending 
a dental appointment where the prevalence of a dental problem could be higher as they 
were seeking professional care. Contemporary information about whether people go to the 
dentist for check-ups or only when there is a problem is lacking, but there were suggestions 
in the last decennial survey of adult oral health of an increasing pattern of seeking care only 
when there was a dental problem.   
 
This survey may also under-represent a proportion of the general public for whom attending 
the dentist is financially challenging. Data is needed on the wider population to see if the 
findings from this survey hold true across the whole adult population in England. In addition, 
the number of Local Authorities who did not / were unable to commission this survey in Y&tH 
and variable willingness to participate by dental practices resulted in a limited sample size 
(Table G see appendix). Therefore, a degree of caution should be taken when using the data 
from this survey to inform need for future dental services and workforce planning for the 
general population. However, despite caveats, data does provide some insight into the 
regional prevalence of oral health disease and need for dental care. 
 
Older adults 
 
Good oral health is an essential component of active ageing. Social participation, 
communication and dietary diversity are all impacted when oral health is impaired.  
Significant gains in oral health have been made in the last 30 years and the majority of older 
people now retain some natural teeth. However, as in other sectors, for the benefits of 
improved oral health to be fully realised, structural barriers built into the existing dental and 
social care systems need to be removed. The aim is to create an equitable and responsive 
system that can deliver prevention and treatment for all, in proportion to their need. 
 
Section 4 has already highlighted that the population of Y&tH is an ageing population.  
 
The PHE review What is known about the oral health of older people (PHE, 2015) explored 
data from existing national, regional and local surveys of oral health in older people. This 
data was collated and combined with social, demographic and health data to provide a 

Page 57



 

28 
 

summary of what we already know about the current and future oral health needs of older 
people in England and Wales. 
 
The majority of the information relates to the minority of older people who live in residential 
and nursing care homes. It found that little was known about the increasing proportion of 
older people who are living independently at home or being cared for by friends, family or 
formal carers. Older people are more likely to have several factors that mean they are at 
increased risk of dental disease. Compounding this increased risk, they are more likely to 
have general health complications that make treatment planning more difficult and may 
require modification of services. 
 
Summary of findings 
 
Normative need: 

• Older adults living in residential and nursing care homes are more likely to be 
edentulous, and less likely to have a functional dentition. 

• Untreated tooth decay is higher in the household resident elderly population than in 
the general adult population and older adults living in care homes have higher decay 
prevalence still, where the majority of dentate residents have active decay. 

• Signs of severe untreated decay appear to be more common in the oldest age 
groups across all settings and current pain also appears to be slightly higher than in 
the general adult population. 

• Periodontal disease is most common in the age groups of 65 to 84. 
 

Felt need, access, and quality of existing oral health care for older people: 

• Older adults are less likely to rate their oral health as good and appear to have 
poorer oral health related quality of life than the general adult population. 

• Care home managers experience much more difficulty in accessing dental care for 
their residents than household resident older adults do. 

• For older adults living in care homes, dental services are patchy and often no regular 
or urgent dental care arrangements exist for provision of domiciliary care. 

• Approximately half of residents in care homes would find it difficult or impossible to 
receive urgent treatment in a general dental practice due to medical or psychological 
complications, some of whom, depending upon referral criteria, may receive 
treatment via the Community Dental Service.  

• Little is known about access to services for the increasing numbers and proportions 
of older people receiving ‘care in your home’ services. 

• Oral health policies, oral health needs assessments, staff training on oral health care 
and a system to ensure oral hygiene support is received are all more common in 
residential and nursing care homes than in ‘care in your home’ services and hospitals 
with inpatient facilities. 

• Oral health needs assessments and staff training focus mostly on presence of teeth 
and dentures, and oral hygiene or denture cleaning skills. Training on the recognition 
of urgent problems in residents and how to access urgent or emergency dental care 
was less common. 

 
Mildly Dependant Older Adults (2016) 
 
In response to the increasing proportion of older people in the population and the need to 
understand the oral health needs of community dwelling older people in the context of their 
particular health and social care needs, in 2015 the National Dental Epidemiology 
Programme for England (NDPHEP) undertook the first dental epidemiological survey of 
adults living in supported housing and which explored their oral health and dental service 
use Oral health survey of mildly dependent older people 2016 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk).  

Page 58

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-survey-of-mildly-dependent-older-people-2016


 

29 
 

  
The method was implemented as a pilot and as there is no directly comparable data to use 
which could help to show trends, information from the England data subset of the 2009 Adult 
Dental Health Survey (ADHS) (ONS.2011) (Adult Dental Health Survey 2009 - Summary 
report and thematic series - NHS Digital) was used to give broad comparators, but the 
results provide baseline data for this population. 
 
There was general consistency in the findings across this survey and the ADHS. Across all 
variables reported Y&H was broadly similar to England, but there were some variations at 
local authority level. 
 
The key findings are:  
 
Oral health 

• 9% of participants reported having oral pain on the day of the examination (East 
Riding – 22.7%), while 8% were found to have an open pulp, ulceration, fistula or an 
abscess (Y&H – 10.7%, East Riding – 26.4%, Rotherham – 27%). 

• 7% reported having oral pain or discomfort often or very often in the previous year  

• 9% reported having discomfort when eating often or very often.  

• 27% were edentulous (no natural teeth) (Doncaster – 53.8%, Wakefield – 50%). 

• 1.2% had no natural teeth and no artificial replacements. 

• 42% had a functional dentition as they had 21 or more of their own teeth. 
 

Treatment need and service use 

• 14.8% had full dentures in need of replacement (Y&H – 14.8%, Doncaster – 25.9%, 
Sheffield – 25%, York – 21.7%). 

• 13% had partial dentures in need of replacement (Y&H – 15.1%, Doncaster – 
41.2%). 

• 56.8% were considered to require further examination with or without further 
diagnostic tests. 

• 28.8% required preventive advice (oral hygiene, diet, additional fluoride). 

• 33.1% required removal of calculus. 

• 13.9% required minor restorations (simple direct fillings) and 2.4% required major 
restorations (lab work and endodontics). 

• 3.2% of participants were considered to be in urgent need for dental care (Y&H – 
1.9%). 

• 59% were able to attend a general dental practice with no restrictions.  

• 35% could only receive dental treatment in a downstairs surgery or one accessed by 
a lift.  

• 5.1% needed dental care provided in their home (Y&H – 3.2%, Calderdale – 12.5%, 
York – 14.7%). 

 
Poorer oral health tended to be found among participants who: 
 

• Were older 

• Reported an increased length of time since the last dental visit 

• Were restricted in their ability to attend a dental practice 

• Were currently in receipt of various services in their home 

• Had reduced cognitive recall 

• Had lower levels of education  
 
Some measures of oral health were found to be worse in the youngest age group which 
could be related to the changes in circumstances surrounding admission to supported 

Page 59

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-dental-health-survey/adult-dental-health-survey-2009-summary-report-and-thematic-series
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-dental-health-survey/adult-dental-health-survey-2009-summary-report-and-thematic-series


 

30 
 

housing over time. Thus, people who are now moving into this type of accommodation are 
more likely to have poorer general health, and other social factors that impact on oral health, 
than was the case for cohorts of older people who chose supported housing in the past.  
 
The results reveal wide variation at regional and local authority level but are consistent with 

other reports (both children and adults) and that poorer oral health and greater treatment 

need, including urgent care, were needed in the more deprived Local Authorities. 

The report and full tables of results are available at: Oral health survey of mildly dependent 
older people 2016 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 
Older adults and oral health inequalities 
 
Older people may also experience additional oral health inequalities related with protected 
characteristics, for example disability and poor mental health (see table 8). 
 
Prevalence rates for conditions were predicted to be almost identical regardless of the 
location of the local authority or the ICS footprint.  
 
Table 8 POPPI data relating to prevalence of protected characteristics and health 
inequalities for those aged 65 years and over  
 

Inequality % of 2020 population in Y&tH 
predicted to be affected 

% of population Y&tH predicted 
to be affected between 2020-2040 

Predicted to have depression 9% 9% 

Learning Disabilities 2% 2% 

Predicted to have impaired 
mobility 

18-19% 19-20% 

 
Key points for consideration 
 
Prevention and treatment planning 
 

• Older people with mild dependency who retain their teeth are liable to have heavily 
restored dentitions and an aspiration to retain them for life. The majority of treatment 
need is prevention and simple restorative care. NHSEI and Local Authorities should 
consider how to increase delivery of prevention for older people. 

• The need for good quality treatment planning and particularly prosthetic (denture) 
care for this group, including training for the dental team, should be considered jointly 
by NHS England and Health Education England. 
 

Access to care, including urgent care 

• Only a small proportion of this population group requires access to domiciliary 
services. Of more importance is that dental services have accessible dental surgeries 
and solutions are found to support appropriate patient transportation to sites of care. 

• Planning of urgent and unscheduled dental care services also need to take into 
account the needs to this group and those living in residential and care homes. 

 
Sepsis  

• High levels of sepsis in some areas are of concern, and in some areas reflect high 
levels found in the 5-year-old population. This high prevalence of sepsis could be a 
reflection of lack of access to urgent care and general services and/or access to 
accessible services. 
 

Page 60

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-survey-of-mildly-dependent-older-people-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-survey-of-mildly-dependent-older-people-2016


 

31 
 

Implications for commissioning services 
In the past the majority of the conversation around the oral health of older people has 
focused on the necessity of providing domiciliary dental care to residents of care homes.  
Whilst this is an essential service, several factors mean that this siloed approach is not 
sufficient to meet the needs of an ageing population.  
Older people are already more likely to be receiving care and support in their own homes 
rather than in residential and nursing care homes. ‘Care in your home’ services and informal 
care will become increasingly common in the future. As a result, the care home population 
will continue to become older and have higher care needs.   
 
Household resident older people may not be able to easily access routine dental services 
due to functional limitations, transport difficulties and multiple long-term conditions. Coupled 
with this, as more people are keeping their teeth for longer the range of dental treatment 
required will be more complex than in the past and is more likely to demand the facilities of a 
dental surgery.   
This changing demographic picture makes identifying and accessing those who need 
preventive services and treatment more complex, and a whole-systems approach is 
required.   
The NHS’s Five Year Forward View highlighted the need to increase integration of the health 
and social care systems to improve population health, and oral health is a key part of the 
NHS Enhanced Health in Care Homes Framework. Integration is particularly important for 
older people and those living with long-term conditions, and both dental prevention and 
treatment services and oral health improvement programmes must be part of this integration 
as it develops. As Integrated Care Systems assume responsibility for the commissioning of 
all dental services this will offer opportunities to integrate oral heath, both prevention and 
treatment services, into the wider health and social care landscape. 
In order for future dental services to provide responsive and equitable care to older people, a 
variety of factors must be addressed:  
 

• Dental services for older people must be more integrated within the wider health and 
social care landscape. This will need to be supported by developments in training in 
oral health for care home managers, domiciliary care providers and senior health and 
social care workers who can disseminate the training to others, together with 
information sharing and referral pathways. 

• In order to develop holistic patient-centred services, varying levels of prevention and 
care need to be available as part of the same care pathway. This may mean a 
service providing domiciliary care for routine prevention and simple treatments, plus 
access to transport and multi-specialist centres for more complex treatments. 

• Increasing integration with general medical and social services for older adults would 
mean that patients with progressive long-term conditions could receive a dental 
assessment and treatment plan when their long-term condition is diagnosed or 
medication or treatment liable to have an impact on oral health is prescribed. This 
would allow a proactive approach to ensure the patient is dentally healthy before their 
general health makes treatment provision difficult and would facilitate earlier access 
to dental staff with experience of providing dental care for older adults and 
knowledge of the complexities involved. 

 
Recommendations for reducing oral health inequalities due to an increasing older 
population 
 
Some older adults will also have physical disabilities and/or others may suffer from dementia 
resulting in challenges accessing dental care. It is essential that those who care for others 
are trained to provide mouthcare and dental services are commissioned to meet the needs 
of patients who are housebound.  

Page 61



 

32 
 

Good oral health is important for quality of life, nutrition and hydration and is linked with 
general health. Poor oral health has been linked with aspiration pneumonia, poor diabetes 
control and heart disease. 
 
Training   
 
• Training of the primary care dental workforce to support delivery of care for the changing 

demographic of the Y&H population working closely with partners in HEE. Exploration of 
how oral health inequities can be addressed (for example through multi-disciplinary 
special care teams, led by MCNs enabling opportunities for foundation dentists to up-skill 
and work alongside specialists and those with level 2 specialist skills) with high needs 
groups and the predicted increase in older population. 

• Understanding of the skills, work patterns and distribution of the dental work force with 
insight into their future aspirations and career plans to inform workforce planning, 
recruitment, and retention of dental professionals.  

• Bespoke training for example in relation to dementia can facilitate patient care in GDS. 
 

Specialist-led Care 
 
• A care pathway approach aligned with special care dentistry where appropriate, with 

shared care between GDS and CDS and making best use of the skill set of the dental 
profession. Maximising the skill mix of the dental workforce, enables them to deliver oral 
health preventive messages including oral hygiene, diet advice and applying fluoride 
varnish. 

• Quality assurance through audit led by LDNs 
 

For consideration by Local Authorities  
 

• Targeted prevention in line with Commissioning Better Oral Health for Vulnerable Older 
People. 

• Dental services for older people must be more integrated within the wider health and 
social care landscape. This will need to be supported by developments in training in oral 
health promotion for health and social care teams, information sharing and referral 
pathways. 

• When commissioning care for the older population (in home or in residential/ care 
homes) specifications should include staff training in oral health promotion, oral health 
assessments and care plans to support good oral health. 

• Identifying and training oral health care champions within care homes. 
 

Collaborative work across systems including NHSE and Local Authorities  
 

• Partnership working across the healthcare sector with use of a common risk factor 
approach including MECC, signposting and brief interventions and opportunities for 
shared learning. 

 
Summary – adult and older adult oral health 
 
ONS population predictions estimate an increased older population across the Yorkshire & 
the Humber region. An ageing population across the whole region will put pressure upon 
dental services. 

• Virtually all adults have at least some natural teeth. 

• The effects of poorer oral health disproportionately affect the adult population, most 
notably older people and those living in the more deprived areas. This correlates with 

Page 62



 

33 
 

disease distribution in the child population, in the main greater levels of disease are 
in those Local Authorities that are more deprived. 

• More adults retaining teeth for longer will mean that a greater amount of resource will 
be needed to enable individuals to retain teeth which in some cases may require 
complex restorative care. The maintenance of a heavily restored dentition is also 
expensive, and often compounded by failing general health, polypharmacy causing a 
dry mouth, and the ability to self-care. 

• Inequalities in oral health are complex and are explored in more detail in a later 
section.  

 
8. Oral Cancer 
 
Oral cancer, also known as mouth cancer (NHS, 2019), is an important public health issue in 
England. Oral cancer includes cancers of all sites of the oral cavity and pharynx and is the 
sixth most common cancer globally (Warnakulasuriya, 2009). In the UK oral cancer is the 
ninth most common cancer and accounts for just over 2% of all cancers diagnosed (Oral 
Health Foundation, 2019). 
Known risk factors for oral cancer are linked to social determinants (Warnakulasuriya, 2009) 
and include smoking, other ways of using tobacco such as chewing, drinking alcohol and 
infection with the human papilloma virus (HPV) (NHS, 2019). Tobacco and alcohol act 
synergistically and multiply the risk of developing mouth cancer by up to 40%. Smokers are 
7-10 times more likely to suffer from an oral cancer when compared to those who have 
never smoked and those who regularly use smokeless tobacco have 11.4 times the risk of a 
non-user (Johnstone et al., 2000). There is some evidence that a limited diet is also a risk 
factor for oral cancer with some evidence stating the protective role of fruits and vegetables, 
particularly citrus fruits in the prevention of the development of cancers of the digestive and 
upper respiratory tract (Foschi et.al., 2010). Awareness of these risk factors offers are 
opportunities to prevent oral cancer and to support early detection and treatment 
(Warnakulasuriya, 2009). 
Where oral cancer is suspected on the basis of clinical examination or symptoms, the 
diagnosis is confirmed by biopsy (NHS. 2019). The degree of spread at initial presentation, 
described as stage, and the grade of a cancer are important indicators of prognosis (NHS, 
2021). 
 
Treatment can include surgery, radiotherapy, chemotherapy or a combination of these (NHS, 
2019). It has a significant impact on the lives of those people affected because the disease 
and the aftermaths of treatment can be debilitating (problems speaking and swallowing) and 
facially disfiguring leading to a significant impact on the quality of life for those who survive.  
The average 5- year survival rate is 50%. Early diagnosis increases 5-year survival to 80% 
but small tumours are often undetected because of low awareness and their painless nature 
mean that people often only seek help when the cancer is advanced. Survival rates have 
changed little over recent decades, with the majority of cases presenting late in the disease 
process, this further reduces prognosis. 
 
In 2020 PHE published a first report describing the incidence, survival and mortality rates for 
oral cancer in England, 2012 to 2016 (PHE, 2020). The report uses two categories for 
reporting based on International Classification of Diseases (ICD) version 10: lip, oral cavity 
and pharynx (C00-C14) and oral cavity (C00- C06). The latter grouping features cancers of 
sites likely to be visible in a dental examination. Note - the report excludes the very low 
incidence of malignant head and neck neoplasms of bone (C41) or soft tissue (C45-C49) 
which may occur in the mouth and in situ or benign neoplasms of uncertain behaviour. The 
latter may be under-recorded in the cancer registry but are important to note as these and 
pre-cancerous conditions contribute to dental referrals for investigation. 
 

Page 63



 

34 
 

In England from 2012 to 2016 there were 35,830 new cases of oral cancer diagnosed and 
10,908 deaths (PHE. 2020). Incidence and mortality rates for oral cancer have risen in 
recent years and there are stark inequalities between geographic areas and population 
groups. Those living in urban areas and in the North of England are more likely to be 
diagnosed with oral cancer and more likely to die from oral cancer than those living in rural 
areas and in the South (Figures C & D  appendix). 
Source: Oral cancer in England: a report on incidence, survival and mortality rates of oral 

cancer in England, 2012 to 2016 (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

Incidence of C00-C14 in Y&tH was higher than for England overall.  The majority of lower-
tier local authority areas in which incidence was greater than for England were densely 
populated urban centres in the North, including Bradford, Hull and Leeds (C00-C06 - 
Bradford and Wakefield) (Table H appendix).  
Mortality due to C00-C14 in Y&H was higher (NS) than the England rate. At lower-tier local 
authority level the areas in which mortality was less than the England rate were typically 
rural and those in which it was greater than for England were typically urban. Mortality was 
greater than the England rate in lower-tier local authority areas covering densely populated 
cities including Bradford and Hull (Table H appendix). 
There was evident variation in incidence and mortality between income deprivation quintiles 
with rates increasing steadily as income deprivation increases (figures E and F see 
appendix). This mirrors the profile of dental caries (tooth decay) in young children, with the 
most deprived populations in England bearing proportionally more of the overall oral disease 
burden. 
 
Oral cancer disproportionately affects males and its incidence and mortality increase with 
age and deprivation. The reasons for these increases are poorly understood but may be 
partially explained by trends in risk factors and latency period and stage at presentation.  
The incidence of oral cancer is known to vary by ethnicity. In the 2011-16 data the ‘Other’ 
ethnic group had a particularly high incidence rate which is thought to be reporting bias in 
hospital data, with incident cases assigned to the ‘Other’ ethnic group in instances where a 
different broad ethnic group should have been used. The variation in incidence by ethnicity 
may reflect variation in exposure to distribution of risk factors and stage at presentation. 
Both the incidence and mortality of C00-C14 and C00-C06 have risen steadily since 2001 
and for both C00-C14 and C00-C06 incidence has risen at a greater rate than mortality; 
improvements in early presentation, diagnosis, recording, treatment or a combination of 
these factors could have been responsible. However, the majority of cases present late in 
the disease process, which reduces prognosis (PHE. 2020).  
 
Summary 
 
Regular attendance at a dental practice offers opportunities for making every contact count, 
offering brief interventions and signposting to tobacco control and alcohol services, and for 
screening of the oral mucosa. 
Known risk factors for oral cancer include use of tobacco products, drinking alcohol and 
infection with the HPV. Awareness of these risk factors offers opportunities to prevent oral 
cancer and to support early detection and treatment. 
Stark inequalities in incidence and mortality exist between geographical areas, age groups, 
genders, ethnicities, and levels of income deprivation. These are also likely to be due to 
differences in exposure to risk factors and stage at presentation.   
Incidence of oral cancer is significantly higher in Yorkshire and the Humber when compared 
with England. 
Incidence and mortality are greater in densely populated urban centres in the North, 
(incidence C00-C14 - Bradford, Hull and Leeds; C0-C6 - Bradford and Wakefield); mortality 
C00-C14 Bradford and Hull) 
 

Page 64

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/891699/Oral_cancer_report_170420.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/891699/Oral_cancer_report_170420.pdf


 

35 
 

5-year survival remains poor however survival is greater for lesions of the oral cavity. Lower 
survival is associated with malignant neoplasms of pharyngeal sites which are less visible in 
a dental examination. 
 
Recommendations 
 
Prevention 
 

• Training of the primary care workforce to identify early signs of oral cancer   
• Screening of the oral mucosa at dental appointments and referral to specialist 

services via the 2-week-wait pathway where necessary. 
 
Collaborative work across systems including NHS E and Local Authorities  
 

• Oral health messages incorporated through a common risk factor approach into all 
health promotional programmes and included in health assessments for vulnerable 
groups 

• Partnership working across the health and social care system, maximising the skills 
of the wider health and social care workforce can help to reduce risks by making 
every contact count. This should include offering brief interventions and signposting 
patients to stop smoking, drug and alcohol services and promoting uptake of HPV 
vaccination.   

• Primary Care Network leadership to strengthen dissemination of key messages 
across the totality of primary care, including recognition of possible significance of 
persistent mouth ulcers. 

• Raising awareness of the risk of other modes of tobacco use, not just smoking. 
 

9. Oral Health inequalities 
 
The PHE inequalities in Oral Health in England (PHE, 2021) document outlines the various 
dimensions of inequality. Key summaries and relevant sections of the document are outlined 
below and have been used to: 
 

• Identify those groups and individuals where oral health inequalities exist 

• Understand the impact of those inequalities upon oral health such as increased oral 
disease and/ or barriers accessing dental care 

 
Barriers to dental service use have been found for those with protected characteristics and 
vulnerable groups at individual, organisational and policy level although availability of data is 
variable (Table 9). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 

36 
 

Table 9: Scoping Review of oral health inequalities in the UK: overview of findings (PHE 2021) 
 

 
 
Behavioural and biological influences (PHE. 2021) 
 
These include oral health related behaviours such as diet, tobacco use, hygiene practices 
and alcohol use and the biological factors that are directly linked to oral diseases, namely 
inflammation, infection and immunity. These are heavily influenced by wider factors in 
society and the environment. For example, health behaviours such as smoking, sugar 
consumption and hygiene practices are all highly socially patterned.  
 
1. Socio-economic position (SEP) – individual or area-based level 
 
There is strong evidence of oral health inequalities relating to socio-economic factors and 
area deprivation with tooth decay (caries), tooth loss and oral cancer, oral health quality of 
life and dental service use (Table 9).  
 
Deprivation in Yorkshire & the Humber 
 
Deprivation has been discussed in detail previously in population demographics using data 
from Public Health England Local Health (2021). Figure 3 shows that variation in deprivation 
exists between Local Authorities, with the Index of Multiple Deprivation score and IMD 
(2019) decile rank (where 1 is the most deprived and 10 is the least deprived) for each local 
authority. Variation exists across the region with the most deprived Local Authorities being 
Kingston upon Hull, Bradford and North East Lincolnshire. 
 
Key points 
 
Poor oral health is strongly correlated with deprivation. Deprivation measures at smaller 
geographies can be used to support targeting of prevention and treatment services to reduce 
oral health inequalities. 
 
2. Protected characteristics 
 
Data relating to oral health inequalities for some protected characteristics in Yorkshire and 
the Humber was not readily available at the time of collating this rapid oral health needs 

Page 66



 

37 
 

assessment. A recommendation would be that further work would be needed by 
stakeholders to explore what data exists and whether gaps could be addressed. 
 
Whilst oral health inequalities vary between the groups, there is commonality in the types of 
challenges experienced by individuals with protected characteristics. Language or 
communication difficulties are common barriers with specific problems highlighted for groups 
such as those from minority ethnic groups, learning disabilities, refugees, migrants or those 
with hearing impairments (PHE. 2020). 
 
Disability (including poor Mental Health) 
  
Disability is defined as a ‘physical or mental impairment that has a substantial and long-term 
negative effect on the ability to do normal daily activities. Disability is a protected 
characteristic and defined in the Equality Act 2010.  
 
There is some evidence to show oral health inequalities related to disability and tooth decay, 
tooth loss, dental traumatic injuries, oral health quality of life, oral health related behaviours 
and service use (lower dental attendance). These groups may be more challenging to treat 
with some requiring specialist input.   
 
Table 10 outlines the prevalence of some disabilities in the Y&tH region from data that was 
available. 
 
Table 10: PANSI data 2021 for data relating to the prevalence of protected 
characteristics and health inequalities for those aged those aged 18-64 years of age 
  

Inequality % of 2020 population in Y&tH predicted to be affected 

Common mental health disorder 19% 

Downs Syndrome 0.06% 

Severe Hearing Impairment 0-1% 

Learning Disability 2.4% 

Autistic Spectrum Disorders 1% 

Impaired Mobility 5-6% 

 
Children with learning and/or physical disabilities in residential schools 
 
Oral health leads from Local Authorities were invited to provide data on residential schools 
for children with learning or physical disabilities (Table I appendix). Based on this data, there 
are just under 500 children with various disabilities living in residential schools across the 
region. Humber and North Yorkshire ICS area has around 170 children aged 8 to 19, West 
Yorkshire ICS area around 175 children aged 5 to 25 and South Yorkshire around 152 
children aged 3 to 25 (further details can be found in the appendix table I). 
 
Recommendations 
 
Individuals with severe physical and/or learning disabilities will have a high need for oral 
health care and experience additional challenges accessing dental care. These groups may 
be more challenging to treat with some requiring specialist input and should be considered in 
commissioning plans. 
 
Oral health assessment should be a key part of all health assessments, including for 
example children with cardiac conditions, dementia and severe mental illness (SMI) health 
checks. 
 

Page 67



 

38 
 

Training 
• Specialist training and level 2 training should align with identified and commissioning 

plans.  
• Dental team training to support patients with a disability, for example in dementia or 

autistic spectrum disorders, can facilitate patient care in GDS. 
 
Service 
• Specialist led pathways that adopt a shared care approach integrating dental care across 

primary and secondary care should be developed and informed by MCNs with the skills 
to develop specialist and innovative care pathways.  

• Dental services should be accessible for people with physical and learning disabilities, 
for example ensuring that new practices are in areas with disabled parking.  

• Partnership working with health and social care to ensure signposting to oral health 
assessment and key oral health messages from health and social care interactions. 

 
Ethnicity 
Ethnicity is a protected characteristic and has previously been highlighted in section 4. 
There are areas across Yorkshire and the Humber with a population with varied ethnicity and 
local knowledge will be important to identify any oral health inequalities within communities. 
 
3. Vulnerable groups  
 
Evidence suggests that vulnerable groups such as homeless people, prisoners, Gypsy, 
Roma and Traveller communities, refugees and looked after children have poorer oral health 
and have considerable difficulty accessing care (Table 9). Homeless people have higher 
levels of untreated decay and periodontal disease and poorer oral health related quality of 
life than the general population. 
 
Further detail in relation to people with longstanding medical conditions, migrants, asylum 
seekers, resettled refugees, unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASC) and Roma 
Community can be found in the appendix (including tables J and K). 
 
Homeless 
Evidence suggests that homeless people experience significant levels of health inequalities, 
including poorer dental health and higher levels of dental decay and periodontal disease 
than the general population. High incidences of smoking and alcohol consumption put 
homeless populations at a higher risk of developing oral cancer (Collins et al., 2007 and 
Coles et al., 2009). There is a high incidence of cancers of the mouth amongst homeless 
men (PHE, 2015 and Lamont et al., 1997). Challenges to maintaining good oral health in the 
homeless include poor diet (Csikar et al., 2019), poor oral hygiene compounded by costs of 
a toothbrush and toothpaste, erratic dental attendance and increased risks from dental 
trauma (Coles et al., 2009, Conte et al., 2006 and BDA 2003).  
 
The highest prevalence of statutory homelessness across Yorkshire and the Humber can be 
found in larger cities like Leeds and Sheffield and in areas such as North-East Lincolnshire 
and Hull, followed by Doncaster and Craven. Source: PHE fingertips Statutory 
homelessness (eligible people not in priority need) in Y&tH by District & UA  2017/2018  
 
Dental Services in secure settings 
There are 13 prisons, 2 secure children’s homes, and 1 secure hospital for adult males with 

mental health disorder in Yorkshire and the Humber (table L, appendix). The prisons house 

approximately 9923 prisoners, and there around 78 beds at the secure hospital, 34 children 

reside at the secure children’s homes. the prisons population is gradually increasing and 

ageing, with increasingly complex healthcare and dental needs.   

Page 68



 

39 
 

The physical, mental, social and oral health of people in prison is poorer than the general 
population (DOH, 2003 and Walsh et al., 2008). Periodontal disease and dental decay levels 
in the prison population are around 4 times higher than the general population (Harvey et al., 
2005 and Heidari et al., 2014). People in prisons are more likely to have come from socially 
excluded or disadvantaged backgrounds and areas with high levels of unemployment 
(Mollen et al., 2007), and there is a direct relationship between deprivation and poor oral 
health. Studies have shown that oral health is poorer in a population of criminally convicted 
people before entering prison (Osborn et al., 2003). Therefore, the oral health needs on 
admission to prison are high, with significant levels of unmet dental treatment need. 
The poor oral health has been attributed to lifestyle choices such as: drinking alcohol; 
smoking tobacco; using illicit substances (Heidari et al., 2014 and Heidari et al., 2007), and 
high sugar diets. Chaotic lifestyles, the lack of oral health literacy and not valuing oral health 
also have a role (Hediari et al., 2014). There is a higher incidence of learning difficulties and 
mental health problems in this population, potentially contributing to poorer maintenance of 
oral hygiene (DOH, 2003 and Heidari et al., 2014). Despite the increased need for treatment, 
evidence suggests that people in prison infrequently seek dental care (Jones et al., 2005). 
This may be exacerbated by limited service provision. The transient nature of the prison 
population, as a result of people having short sentences or being relocated to other facilities, 
also means courses of treatment are often disrupted or left incomplete (NAPDUK 2013). 
Responsibility for dental services in secure settings lies with the NHSEI Health and Justice 
commissioning team (further details can be found in the appendix, including table L).  As 
highlighted above those that leave secure settings are vulnerable with increased dental 
need.   Oral Health Inequalities related with individuals with long standing medical conditions 
Individuals with long standing medical conditions may experience a variety of direct and/ or 
indirect oral health inequalities, due to the medical conditions they are suffering from.  
Available prevalence data relating to conditions affecting adults and older adults in Y&tH can 
be found in the appendix accompanied by tables M and N) 
 
Key points  
 
Oral health inequalities are complex and, in some cases, poorly understood. Availability and 
quality of data also varies. Further work could be done at a regional level and local level to 
understand the impact of oral health inequalities within communities 
 
Recommendations for reducing oral health inequalities in vulnerable groups at ICS level 
 
Additional clinical needs and complexities around language and other barriers could impact 
on the length of dental appointments. Commissioners may wish to consider sessional 
primary care dentistry for some of these vulnerable groups. 
 
Clarity is needed on the responsibility for translation and interpretation services for patients 
accessing NHS primary dental care so that dental practices are not disadvantaged by 
providing care for these patients. Patient/user group feedback should be sought to ensure 
these services are being offered and are fit for purpose.  
 
Primary Care level 
 

• An Inclusion health approach with incorporation of models beneficial to various 
vulnerable groups (including Severe Multiple Disadvantage), particularly those that 
encounter challenges accessing services.  

• Stabilisation sessions and urgent care drop-in sessions for example with: 
• Migrants, asylum seekers, refugees, Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities 
• Homeless 

 
 

Page 69



 

40 
 

Collaborative work across systems including NHS E and Local Authorities: 
 
Prevention 
• Targeted prevention in line with Delivering better oral health (PHE, 2021) and bespoke to 
vulnerable groups for example following the model of oral healthcare for asylum seekers and 
refugees (PHE, 2021). 
• Use of a common risk factor approach including MECC, signposting and brief interventions. 
 
Systems approach 
• Partnership working between dental practices and across the health and social care 
system through a community approach, improved data collection and integration of digital 
systems, with simplified processes to benefit the safeguarding and oral health of vulnerable 
children and adults.  
• Whilst acknowledging differences in commissioning arrangements (e.g. for prisons), 
maximising the skills of the wider health and social care workforce can help to reduce those 
risks in vulnerable groups such as the homeless, by making every contact count including 
signposting patients to services. 
 
Prevention  
 
Local Authority Oral Health Promotion Schemes - Responsibilities in relation to oral health: 
 
Since 1st April 2013, when the Health and Social Care Act 2012 came into force, the 

statutory responsibilities in relation to oral health and Local Authorities include: 

• Commission or provide oral health improvement programmes to improve health 
(Statutory instrument 3094) 

• Commission or provide oral health surveys and to participate in any oral health 
survey commissioned by the secretary of state (Statutory instrument 3094) 

• Power to make proposals regarding water fluoridation schemes and duty to conduct 
public consultations in relation to these (Statutory instrument 301) 

 
Two toolkits have been developed to aid Local Authorities with commissioning and/or 
provision to provide oral health improvement programmes, both of which outline evidence-
based interventions for children and young people and vulnerable older people respectively: 
 

• Local Authorities improving oral health: commissioning better oral health for children 
and young people- an evidence informed toolkit for Local Authorities (PHE, 2014) 

• Commissioning better oral health for vulnerable older people- an evidence informed 
toolkit for Local Authorities (PHE, 2018) 

 
Across Y&H there is a range of activity commissioned from supervised toothbrushing 
schemes, targeted fluoride varnish application schemes, toothbrush for life packs and water 
fluoridation to areas which have no commissioned activity. More detailed information should 
be explored with individual Local Authorities.  
 
Awareness of current oral health promotion initiatives and partnership working between 
Local Authorities, NHS Commissioning teams and ICS groups could be used to address oral 
health inequalities.   
 
Within Y&tH region, North Lincolnshire and North East Lincolnshire have established 
community water fluoridation schemes PHE (2020). 
 
 
 

Page 70



 

41 
 

Access to NHS dentistry in Y&tH and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
 
Data from NHS Digital reveals variation in access as a proportion of the population for adults 
and children by upper tier local authority (see table 11 and figure 15).   
 
Table 11: Patients seen in the previous 24 months and child patients seen in the previous 12 months as a 
percentage of the population, by patient type and LA up to 30th June 2021. 

 
Local Authority / ICS Adult (18 years and older) Child (0-17.99 years of age) 

   
Humber Coast & Vale   

East Riding of Yorkshire 42.0 28.4 

Kingston upon Hull, City of 56.7 35.7 

North East Lincolnshire 47.9 29.5 

North Lincolnshire 38.0 28.6 

York 45.4 43.4 

North Yorkshire** 38.7 35.2 

Hambleton   

Harrogate   

Richmondshire   

Ryedale   

Scarborough   

Selby   
 

  

West Yorkshire   

Bradford 41.9 27.8 

Calderdale 46.1 38.3 

Craven   

Kirklees 57.5 36.5 

Leeds 42.4 35.3 

Wakefield 52.5 35.8 
 

  

South Yorkshire   

Barnsley 51.7 32.4 

Doncaster 53.4 33.1 

Rotherham 51.4 32.3 

Sheffield 53.0 36.7 
 

  
Yorkshire and The Humber   

 
* Due to the nature that the data is aggregated Harrogate and Craven has been included in data 

pertaining to North Yorkshire. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



 

42 
 

Figure 4: Adult patients seen in the previous 24 months and child patients (0-17.99 years of age) seen in 
the previous 12 months as a percentage of the population, by patient type and LA up to 30th June 2021. 
 

 
 
Notes to accompany table 11 and figure 4 
Patients seen includes orthodontic visits (which are likely to be quite small numbers) this is the same as for 
previous years. 
Data is affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and the data reported in the publication including activity, patient 
numbers, finances and treatments, will be lower than expected during the time period of restrictions. 
Further detail regarding provision of NHS dental treatment during the COVID-19 pandemic can be found in the 
following section.  

 
Impact of COVID-19 on NHS dental access 
 
The dental sector has faced challenges since March 2020 at the start of the pandemic due to 
the relatively high proportion of aerosol generating procedures (AGPs) undertaken. Initially 
dental practices were asked to close and urgent dental centres (UDCs) were established for 
patients in pain. 
 
Practices reopened for the provision of face to face care in June 2020 and have steadily 
increased the activity that they can provide since then. The Chief Dental Officer asked dental 
primary dental care to prioritise patients according to their clinical need, due to reduced 
capacity. The starting point was a requirement to deliver at least 20% of normal activity 
volumes and this has gradually increased to a current minimum of 85% of pre-Covid activity 
until March 2022. Whilst restoration of NHS dental activity continues, it will be some time 
before dental services return to providing care at previous activity levels, with many dental 
practices still catching up on a backlog.    
 
COVID-19 has had an impact upon individuals accessing health services including dentistry. 
A methodology identifying unique patients as a proxy measure for access was developed in 
the North East of England to explore the impact of the pandemic on NHS dental access. 
 
In Yorkshire & the Humber there was a decrease by 81% (74% - England) in the proportion 
of children (aged 0-17 years) accessing NHS primary dental care and for adults (18 years 
and over) a decrease of 73% (68% - England)  
 

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
th

e
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 b

y 
lo

c
a
l 

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

Local authority

Adult patients seen in the previous 24 months and child patients seen in the previous 12 months 
up to 31st June 2021 as a percentage of the population by patient type and local authority 

Adult Child

Page 72



 

43 
 

Within Y&tH variations in the proportion of the population accessing primary NHS dental 
services were apparent between Local Authorities  with the greatest decrease evident in 
Barnsley (a decrease by 80% when comparing Jul-Dec 2019 with Jul-Dec 2020) and the 
smallest decrease in Richmondshire (62% respectively) (please see figure 5 below). 
 
Figure 5: Proportion of the population (all ages) in Local Authorities in Y&tH (expressed as a percentage) 
accessing primary dental care between Jul-Dec 2019 and Jul-Dec 2020 
 

 
 
 
Within Y&tH, variations in the proportion of the population of children (aged 0-17 years of 
age) and adults accessing primary NHS dental services were apparent between Local 
Authorities (see table 12). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 (

ex
p

re
ss

ed
 a

s 
a 

%
) 

o
f 

th
e 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 

Local Authority

Proportion of the population in Y&tH accessing primary NHS dental services between July-Dec 2019 and Jul-
Dec 2020

Proportion of population accessing services Jul-Dec 2019 Proportion of population accessing services Jul-Dec 2020

Page 73



 

44 
 

Table 12: Proportion of the population (0-17 and 18 years and over) in Local Authorities in Yorkshire & the 
Humber (expressed as a percentage) accessing primary dental care between Jul-Dec 2019 and Jul-Dec 2020 

 
Local Authority / 
ICS 

Proportion of 0-17 
population 
accessing services 
Jul-Dec 2019 

Proportion of 0-17 
population 
accessing 
services Jul-Dec 
2020 

Proportion of 
adult population 
accessing 
services Jul-Dec 
2019 

Proportion of 
adult population 
accessing 
services Jul-Dec 
2020 

     

H & NY  50% 11% 31% 9% 

York 53 8 35 8 

Hull  48 9 30 9 

North East Lincs  42 11 29 9 

North Lincs 46 12 29 10 

York 55 13 30 8 

Hambleton 58 18 35 11 

Harrogate 46 10 27 7 

Richmondshire 52 22 25 9 

Ryedale 50 16 30 10 

Scarborough 45 13 31 9 

Selby 57 10 40 10 
 

    

West Yorkshire 51% 10% 32% 9% 

Bradford 51 9 32 8 

Calderdale 49 11 31 10 

Craven 53 16 33 9 

Kirklees 56 12 36 10 

Leeds 49 11 30 9 

Wakefield 50 9 35 9 
 

    

South Yorkshire 50% 9% 35% 9% 

Barnsley 50 7 35 8 

Doncaster 48 9 37 10 

Rotherham 52 9 39 10 

Sheffield 50 10 33 9 

The greatest percentage change in dental access for 0-17 year olds was evident in Barnsley 
(a decrease by 85% when comparing Jul-Dec 2019 with Jul-Dec 2020) and the smallest 
decrease in Richmondshire (57% respectively) see figure O appendix) 

 
Within Y&tH, variations in the proportion of the adult population (aged 18 years of age and 
over) accessing primary NHS dental services were also apparent between Local Authorities 
with the greatest decrease evident in Barnsley (a decrease by 78% when comparing Jul-Dec 
2019 with Jul-Dec 2020) and the smallest decrease in Richmondshire (63% respectively) 
(see figure P appendix) 

 
When the access data was compared with local authority IMD deciles it was apparent that 
decreases in access impacted all areas despite their deprivation status. However, those that 
are in the most deprived areas and have the greatest burden of disease are more likely to 
experience poorer oral health through any reduction in dental access.    
The same proportions (expressed as a percentage) accessing primary dental care for both 
0-17 year olds and adults (aged 18 years and over) between Jul-Dec 2019 and Jul-Dec 2020 

Page 74



 

45 
 

have been summarised above at ICS level in table 12 (and figure Q appendix) which show 
similar trends for all ICS foot-prints. 

 
Key points 
 

• The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in reduced access to dental 
services for the population of Yorkshire and the Humber. 

• Those areas that are most deprived will be impacted to a greater degree as they 
have greater oral health need and higher prevalence of dental disease. 
 

Recommendations for all ICSs 
 
Improving access  
• Targeting resource to those with the greatest need and which experience the greatest 
challenges accessing care including those requiring urgent dental care. 
• Encourage universal implementation and promotion of Dental Check by One (DCby1) and   
child friendly practices. 
• Consideration of new or recommissioned practices in areas of deprivation with good public 
transport facilities links and disabled parking.  
• Recognise that there will be a time lag in recovery of dental services to pre-pandemic  
levels of provision. Those in the most deprived areas with greatest need will have 
experience the greatest impact. 
 
NHS Dental Care 
 
Using the SHAPE mapping tool to provide a broad outline of the location of NHS dental 
practices, (and allowing for any time lag between uploading of site data onto the SHAPE 
tool) there are approximately 267 sites providing NHS dental care in Humber Coast and Vale 
ICS, West Yorkshire ICS 359 and South Yorkshire ICS 204 (figures 6,7 and 8 below). In 
2019-2020 there were 635 GDS contracts and 29 PDS contracts in Y&tH . 
 
 
Figure 6 HCV NHS dental sites 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



 

46 
 

Figure 7 West Yorkshire ICS NHS dental sites 
 

 
 
Figure 8 South Yorkshire ICS NHS dental sites 
 

 
 
Urgent Dental Care (UDC) 
 
Urgent dental care provision is part of mandatory NHS GDS and PDS contracts. It is 
important to understand the various dimensions of urgent dental care such as the demand 
for UDC, customer experience, any gaps between triaged need and the demand, and 
identifying geographical areas that have high need. The amount of dentistry commissioned 
will also impact upon demand for UDC, for example the availability of commissioned routine 
dental care dentistry will impact upon in-hours urgent care demand. 
 
Challenges to the provision of urgent dental care include: 

• Calls 
• Volume of calls – Demand 
• Finances  
• Accessing the service 

- Negotiating the NHS111 system and travel times 

• Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic 

• Did not attend (DNA) rates 

• Mismatch of supply and demand of urgent appointments slots (some areas over 
supply others insufficient supply to meet demands). 

Page 76



 

47 
 

 
Recommendations 
 
A health equity audit should be used to determine equity of access to dental services, 
including urgent care services, and evaluate the outcomes from initiatives to improve access 
across Y&tH, the findings of which should inform future commissioning decisions. 
 

• Audit of triaged calls to NHS 111 and a review of algorithms to improve appropriate 
management of calls and patient experience. 

• Review of call waiting times. 

• Review of models of urgent dental care. Training of the dental workforce in the 
management of cases including encouraging definitive treatment, so patients do not 
need further appointments, appropriate prescribing of analgesic and antimicrobial 
medication, and promoting antimicrobial stewardship in line with national guidance. 

• Re-alignment of commissioned capacity to meet triaged need which is evidence 
based. 

• Identify those areas where triaged demand is highest to align with appointment 
schedules 

• Audit of DNA appointments to understand the reasons why and to improve 
efficiencies 

 
Spending on NHS dental care 
 
The amount of NHS primary care treatment per head of region population in 2018/19 varies 
such that in North East and Yorkshire there are 0.82 courses of treatment per head of 
regional population (0.71 England) and 1.66 UDAs per head of regional (1.48 UDAs) 
(National Audit Office. 2020). 
 
Workforce 
 
Primary care workforce 
 
A pilot study in 2020 by HEE Y&H collected detailed data from the primary care dental 
workforce across the region. The survey was a pilot with a response of 50% (5 out of 10 
questionnaires distributed). Whilst the response rate is too low to draw any meaningful 
conclusions (5 out of a possible 635 GDS contract holders) from the responses it 
demonstrates a method which could be adopted to explore the workforce patterns of the 
dental profession to inform future training needs and inform staff recruitment and retention. 
 
Specialist workforce 
 
Data was exported at NHS Trust level by HEE from Electronic Staff Records (ESR) to 
explore the distribution of dental specialists across the region. Exploration of the data 
revealed coding issues and further work will be needed to explore coding challenges. 
 
The future workforce 
 
Dental Foundation Training (DFT) 
 
Most NHS dentists will have undergone foundation training in an approved general dental 
practice. There is inequity in geographic distribution of DFT placements in Y&H, with limited 
placements towards the coast. 
 
 

Page 77



 

48 
 

Dental Core Training (DCT) 
 
DCT offers dentists who have completed DFT the experience of working in a range of 
settings and variety of specialties including hospitals, community dental services. 

 
The number of dentists in training posts in Yorkshire and the Humber remains relatively 
stable between 2019, and 2021. It is not known whether these dentists continue to practice 
in the NHS in Y&H. 
 
Table 13 Number of trainees in DFT, JDFCT and DCT posts 

 
Training scheme (numbers on scheme) 2019 2020 2021 

Dental Foundation Training 90 88 84 

JDFCT 24 24 24 

Dental Core Training (DC1,2 and 3 posts) 68 68 63 

 
Level 2 Training 
 
Level 2 (intermediate care) refers to care, which is delivered by dental practitioners, who 
have demonstrated a competency level beyond that of a dentist, who has satisfactorily 
completed Dental Foundation Training (or equivalent), but not at the level of a registered 
specialist (NHS England. 2018)  
 
Those dentists that wish to undertake level 2 procedures must undergo an accreditation 
process. Commissioners work with MCNs (where established) to develop Local 
Accreditation Panels (LAPs). In addition to being able to demonstrate the ability to deliver 
Level 1 care, these performers will also be required to demonstrate additional training, 
and/or experience in the relevant specialty areas to satisfy LAPs that they have the relevant 
competencies to deliver quality care of Level 2 complexity. They will be accredited to carry 
out all the treatments described in the Commissioning guides at Level 2, or just some of the 
treatments and this will be made clear during the accreditation process (NHS England. 2018) 
 
Specialist Training 
 
Specialist training posts are available across the Yorkshire and the Humber region. Posts 
can be aligned with the NHS and/or academia and vary in length of time usually between 3 
to 5 years in total. Some specialities comprise of small numbers nationally and this is 
reflected in the numbers being trained at a regional level and includes Dental Public Health, 
Dental Maxillo-Facial Radiology, Oral and Maxillo-Facial Pathology, Oral Medicine and 
Special Care Dentistry. The specialities with larger numbers of trainees include 
Orthodontics, Paediatric Dentistry, Restorative Dentistry and Oral Surgery (see figure 9 
below). Fluctuations in numbers will vary annually as new trainees enter training some move 
to part-time training and others complete their training.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



 

49 
 

Figure 9 Numbers of Specialist dental registrars in Y&tH by specialty in 2019, 2020 and 2021  

 

 
 
Specialist training is primarily delivered in dental schools and general hospitals which is 
reflected in the location of training sites across the region with most based in the teaching 
hospitals in Leeds or Sheffield. Some trainees will undergo training in the community dental 
services for paediatric and special care dentistry. 
 
Specialist workforce 
 
Data was exported at NHS Trust level by HEE from Electronic Staff Records (ESR) to 
explore the distribution of dental specialists across the region. Exploration of the data 
revealed coding issues and further work will be needed to explore coding challenges. The 
data identified that specialist dental services are provided at trust level across the region. 
 
Dental Care Professionals 
 
Dental care professionals comprise of dental therapists, dental hygienists, dental nurses, 
dental technicians and other roles and all are valued members of the dental team. There 
was no readily available data relating to numbers and details of training schemes but all of 
the professionals listed have to be registered with the GDC. Many have enhanced roles for 
example training for dental nurses in delivering fluoride varnish application and it is important 
to utilise skill mix to increase preventive dentistry and reduce oral health inequalities.  
 
Recommendations 
 

• Development of a Y&H workforce survey to inform future training needs, including 
additional training. 

• Development of level 2 training and accreditation. 

• Use of skill mix. 

• Training for the dental team that supports innovative commissioning. 

• Work to support recruitment and retention of dental team members in Y&H and 
particularly in areas that struggle to recruit and retain. 

• Upskilling opportunities in primary care settings. 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
sp

ec
ia

lis
t 

re
gi

st
ra

rs

Dental Speciality

Numbers of Specialist Dental Registrars in Y&tH by specialty in 2019, 2020 and 2021 

Total 2019 Total 2020 Total 2021

Page 79



 

50 
 

NHS dental services  
 
All NHS dental services, such as those provided in general dental practice, the community 
dental service (CDS) and within secondary care (hospitals) are commissioned by NHS 
England and Improvement.   
 
NHS Dentistry in England is delivered based on the General Dental Services (GDS) and 
Personal Dental Services (PDS) contracts (NHS England a. 2018 and NHS England b 
2018). There can be challenges for providers of GDS services in fulfilling current annual 
NHS contractual obligations, particularly when they provide dental care in areas of 
deprivation, with high needs patients who will require greater clinical time and also in areas 
where it is difficult to recruit and retain dental professionals.    
 
The Department of Health and Social Care (and later jointly with NHS England from 2013) 
have been testing alternatives or amendments to the current activity-based contracts and 
agreements since 2010 with the programme looking at both clinical and remuneration 
models. The programme offers opportunities to further improve oral health, reduce health 
inequalities and address issues with dentists’ morale, workforce retention, and patient 
access (NHS 2022).  
 
The remuneration system for prototypes offers a blended capitation and activity model which 
is closer to, and builds on, the 2006 contract and regulations. This combines a continuing 
capitation payment for prevention and a modification of the current UDA system for some, or 
all, ‘restorative treatment’. The prototyping has been achieved through introducing a 
variation to the current GDS contract or PDS agreement, covering contract metrics (NHS 
2022). 
 
Alternative approaches to commissioning 
 
An NHSE hosted multiagency stakeholder event in December 2018 made several 
recommendations for the future commissioning of dental care for the population of Y&H 
including increasing access to prevention with a focus on 0-19 years and adults, especially 
older/vulnerable groups. Acknowledging the constraints of the current contracting 
mechanism, the epidemiological evidence of poor oral health in Y&H and challenges to 
access to dental care for the whole population, including recruitment and retention of the 
dental team, NHSEI Y&H took a decision in 2019 to implement a flexible approach to the 
commissioning of primary care dental services across Y&H. 
 
The GDS and PDS frameworks have two main components: mandatory services and 
additional services (which may include dental public health or other services). A Flexible 
Commissioning (or Transformational Commissioning) approach is permissible under the 
additional services element by either ‘substituting’ a percentage of the existing contract value 
from UDAs into the planned commissioned activity (delivered within existing contract value) 
or in ‘addition’ to the contract value within limits.   
 
Y&H FC programme was originally intended to be implemented in two phases. Phase 1 
would be practice based across Y&H and funded by substitution of contact value, whilst 
phase 2 would take a more targeted approach that could involve out-reach and would be 
funded in addition to the contract value. To date only phase 1 has been implemented 
involving approximately a quarter of practices across Y&H and is currently undergoing 
evaluation. 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



 

51 
 

Table 14 - Summary of FC programme 

 

Prevention 

Evidence informed pathways based on Delivering better oral health (DBOH) (PHE, 2014) and 
informed by learning from In Practice Prevention (Y&H) and Starting Well (Hull & Wakefield) 

Whole population • All children – DBOH recommended prevention 
• All adults - DBOH lifestyle advice and signposting to local Health 

& Wellbeing Services 

Implementation of Dental Check by One (DCby1) 

MECC 

Targeted groups Children 0-18 
• Caries 
• Referred for GA extractions 

Older Adults  
• Dementia 
• Dry Mouth 
• ONJ Risk 
• Diabetes 
• High needs / Phased treatment approach  

Access 

Open to new patients (all ages) on NHS webpages (formerly NHS Choices) - 3-month 
window to implement 

Acceptance of referrals from CDS and 0-19 workforce 

‘Was Not Brought’ / Safeguarding 

Dental team & use of skill mix 

Appointment of a practice Oral Health Champion 

Training for DCPs & whole dental team in association with HEE Y&H 

DCP led pathways – skill mix 

Audit and evaluation 

Completion of NHS BSA bespoke audit and reporting tool (SNAP tool) 

 
Services 
 
Further work will be required to explore services, the following could be considered: 
 

• Outcomes are poorer in those with oral health inequalities. Where there are planned 
commissioning approaches, service re-design should take into account service 
reviews, ensuring that oral health inequalities are addressed. 

• An initial focus should be upon a full review of services such as the CDS and those 
that provide domiciliary care provision (to nursing and residential care and to the 
house-bound), and special care and paediatric pathways that are aligned with 
reducing oral health inequalities across the Y&tH region. This will enable exploration 
of opportunities for pathway development and where shared care would be 
appropriate.  

• Dental services are not equitably distributed and provide different levels of service 
provision.   

• A health equity audit should be used to determine equity of access to dental services, 

including urgent care services, and evaluate the outcomes from initiatives to improve 

access across Y&tH, the findings of which should inform future commissioning 

decisions. 

• Challenges accessing dental care is reported by patient groups from across the 
region, but need does not always align with demand. NHS dental care is free for 

Page 81



 

52 
 

children and certain adults, but others will have to pay a fee, which can be a barrier 
for some.  

• COVID-19 has impacted dental access for all in the region, those in deprived areas 
and those with additional needs/challenges will experience the greatest burden of 
oral disease. 

• Services can support people through local initiatives, such as oral health teams, peer 
support workers and the wider workforce providing targeted oral health messages 
and facilitating access to NHS dental care. 

• Innovative approaches in Y&H such as flexible commissioning for prevention and 
access programmes, have been introduced in an attempt to reduce oral health 
inequalities and to maximise delivery and spend of the dental budget. A review of the 
flexible commissioning model and existing time limited interventions can be used to 
inform further development or expansion of existing interventions.  

• Supporting all contractors to deliver their activity to lead in no clawback is beneficial 
for patients and providers, and where contracts are returned to NHS England using 
this as an opportunity to address oral health inequities locally. 

 
Service provision and gap analysis 
 
There is a need for further work at ICS level to: 

• Identify gaps in service provision 

• Identify the distribution of the locations of flexible commissioning and access 
programme sites 

• Map ICS Primary Dental Care (PDC) sites and DFT training sites against IMD and 
mapping of the distribution of dental practices in relation to deprivation 

• Identify the areas of deprivation in each ICS  

• Explore waiting times in: 
• Primary dental care (both in flexible commissioning and non-flexible 

commissioning sites) 
• CDS 
• OS/OMFS 
• Orthodontic 

To have a greater understanding of the oral health need/care delivery challenges for each 
ICS area further work would be recommended in relation to: 

• Urgent care (UDC) 
• UDC need – NHS 111 call volume and website volume – where and by how 

much? 
• UDC delivery – geographical spread – where and by how much? 
• Alignment between calls and provision  
• A&E contacts for urgent dental care 

• Service delivery 
• What is being commissioned?  
• Where are the gaps?  
• What are the existing care pathways? 
• Exploration of contract delivery within localities 
 

• Is it possible to supplement existing commissioned UDC services with a targeted FC 
UDC programme using NHS111 data and targeting a responsive UDC programme at 
need? 

• Exploring the use of therapists to support epidemiological surveys. 

• Exploring coding issues in relation to paediatric dental extractions under GA   

• Exploring challenges that not all of this data is available, so do we need to think 
about systems to collect this on ICS footprints? 

Page 82



 

53 
 

• Exploring challenges around communication in relation to signposting between 
systems and shared learning from good practice 

 
Public and Patient Engagement 
 
The summary below outlines the views, experiences and concerns raised via public and 
patient engagement from across the Y&tH. Data was not available for every local authority 
area, but it is acknowledged that there may be on-going workstreams by groups 
representing patients such as Healthwatch, third parties and by Local Authorities.  
 
It is important to note that whilst there are important issues of concern there has also been 
positive feedback from patients accessing NHS dental care including experiences of being 
made to feel welcome, staff were helpful and they felt safe with reports that dentists were 
taking appropriate cross infection control measures to protect staff and patients.  
 
Areas of concern are common across the region and relate primarily to access, availability, 
affordability and communication relating to NHS dental services. Reports acknowledge the 
challenges encountered during the COVID-19 pandemic but recommend different 
commissioning approaches to address the areas of concern. 
 
Table 15 Summary of challenges highlighted by Y&tH Healthwatch in relation to dental access 

 
LA/ICS Source of data Main areas of concern Recommendations 

H & NY    

York Healthwatch NHS Dental Services: 

• Access 

• Availability 

• Affordability 

• Communication services 
available 

Addressing the concerns raised 
through reform of 
commissioning arrangements 

North Yorkshire Healthwatch  NHS Dental Services: 

• Access 

• Availability 

• Affordability 

• Communication services 
available 

Address issues raised as 
concerns together with 
opportunities for more 
integrated holistic care and 
commissioning  

West Yorkshire    

Wakefield Healthwatch NHS Dental Services: 

• Access (routine and 
emergency) 

• Communication of services 
available 

(particularly during pandemic) 

Addressing concerns outlined 
including better access, 
improved communication and 
signposting and management of 
urgent care 

Calderdale and 
Kirklees 

Healthwatch 
Calderdale & 
Kirklees 

NHS Dental Services: 

• Access including those 
with protected 
characteristics 

• Communication of services 

Importance of oral health 
prevention Contractual reform 
which improves access 
particularly for those with 
protected characteristics and 
complex dental needs 
Improved communication of 
availability of NHS dental 
services 

WY & Harrogate* 
 

Healthwatch NHS Dental Services: 

• Access  

• Communication of services 
available 

(particularly during the 
pandemic) 

Addressing the concerns raised 

South Yorkshire    

Sheffield Healthwatch NHS Dental Services: 

• Access  

Addressing the concerns raised 

Page 83



 

54 
 

• Communication of services 
available 

(particularly during the pandemic) 

 
N.B. *Reports have been aligned with closest ICS geographical footprint. Please note West Yorkshire 
and Harrogate Healthwatch report has been aligned with West Yorkshire ICS, though Harrogate is 
aligned with Humber Coast and Vale  

 
Recommendations 
 
Public and patient engagement is important and necessary to complement other data 
sources to understand the oral health needs and any inequities in oral health service 
provision and would be recommended as an on-going process. 
 
It will be important as part of the on-going process to explore patient needs and challenges 
that they experience in accessing oral health care to inform future procurements and 
commissioning of NHS dental services.  
 
Recommendations aligned with life course approach 
 
Infancy and Early Years 
Infants and young children with experience of tooth decay are more likely to have poorer oral 
health throughout their lifetime. Tooth decay causes pain, affects eating and leads to time off 
school for children and time off work for carers. It is important they get the best start in life 
by:  

• Universal implementation and promotion of the of Dental Check by One (DCby1) and for 
further reviews at least once a year thereafter. 

• Maximising the skill mix of the dental workforce to deliver oral health preventive 
messages including oral hygiene, diet advice and applying fluoride varnish.  

• Using evidence based oral health improvement programmes including distribution of 
toothbrushing packs, supervised tooth brushing schemes, and training the wider early 
years workforce to deliver oral health prevention to those at high risk and facilitate 
access to NHS dental care. 

 
Childhood and Adolescence   
 

• Oral health improvement programmes are essential to support families in developing 

good oral health practices, but provision varies across the region and there is a need to 

address inequities to programmes.   

 

Working age and adults  

 

• Partnership working across the health and social care system, maximising the skills of 

the wider health and social care workforce can help to reduce those risks by making 

every contact count including signposting patients to services dedicated to mental health, 

diabetes, stop smoking, drug  and alcohol and in achieving and maintaining a healthy 

weight.   

Older People 

• Good oral health is important for quality of life, nutrition and hydration and is linked with 

general health. Poor oral health has been linked with aspiration pneumonia, poor 

diabetes control and heart disease. 

Page 84



 

55 
 

• An ageing population across the whole region will put pressure upon dental services.  
Prevention is key. As people retain teeth for longer, the maintenance of a heavily 
restored dentition is complicated and expensive, and often compounded by failing 
general health, polypharmacy causing a dry mouth, and the ability to self-care. It is 
essential that those who care for others are trained to provide mouthcare and dental 
services meet the needs of patients who are housebound.  

• Dental services for older people must be more integrated within the wider health and 
social care landscape. This will need to be supported by developments in training, 
information sharing and referral pathways. 

• In order to develop holistic patient-centred services, varying levels of prevention and 
care need to be available as part of the same care pathway. This may mean a service 
providing domiciliary care for routine prevention and simple treatments, plus access to 
public transport and multi-specialist centres for more complex treatments. 
 

Increasing integration with general medical and social services for older adults would mean 
that patients with progressive long-term conditions could receive a dental assessment and 
treatment plan when their long-term condition is diagnosed. This would allow a proactive 
approach to ensure the patient is dentally healthy before their general health makes 
treatment provision difficult and would facilitate earlier access to dental staff with experience 
of providing dental care for older adults and knowledge of the complexities involved. 
 
Top priorities and recommendations for reducing oral health inequalities in all ICS 
footprints: 
 
Particular consideration could be given to those that have both the greatest dental need and 
experience challenges in accessing routine and urgent dental care including individuals and 
communities that are deprived and vulnerable children known to the social care system, 
individuals with severe physical and/or learning disabilities, poor mental health, older adults, 
homeless, asylum seekers, refugees and migrants. Data and evidence surrounding oral 
health inequalities is variable and complex, but we know that they also exist in relation to 
oral cancer and also in vulnerable groups with long-standing medical conditions, substance 
misuse, prisoners/prison leavers and Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities. 
 
As a priority, a Community Dental Service (CDS), service review should encompass the 
entire special care dentistry and paediatric pathway and consider benefits of a Referral 
Management System (RMS). A service review of prison dental services in Yorkshire and the 
Humber is being undertaken separately. Considering the complex needs of the older and 
ageing population, care pathways for housebound or those living in residential and nursing 
settings should be reviewed. The review of current dental services for people with no fixed 
abode in Y&tH can be used to inform robust care pathway design, commissioned models 
and support implementation. 
 
Available Healthwatch reports were used to inform the rapid needs assessment. It is 
important that commissioned dental services including service design and development work 
consider the views, beliefs, and experiences of the public and patients living in Y&tH to 
improve patient safety, experience, and health outcomes. Building on work to date, NHSEI 
should continue to work in partnership with key stakeholders, including Healthwatch to 
maximise opportunities to ensure patient centred services improve access, reduce 
inequalities in communities and make better use of resources. 
 
Recommendations for reducing oral health inequalities - all ICS footprints 
 
 
 

Page 85



 

56 
 

Common Risk Factor Approach 
Oral health messages need to be incorporated through a common risk factor approach into 
all health promotional programmes and included in health assessments for vulnerable 
groups, including MECC, brief interventions and signposting.  
 
Prevention 
Targeted prevention particularly aimed at reducing tooth decay, gum disease and preventing 
oral cancer in line with evidence based national guidance and toolkits.  Screening of the oral 
mucosa for oral cancer/pre-cancer at dental appointments with referral to specialist services 
where necessary. 
 
Improving access  
Targeting resource to those with the greatest need and which experience the greatest 
challenges accessing care including those requiring urgent dental care. 
 
Acknowledging the impact of COVID-19 on dental access to all, however, those in the most 
deprived areas with greatest need will experience the greatest impact. 
 
A health equity audit approach should be used to determine equity of access to dental 
services and evaluate the outcomes from initiatives to improve access across Y&tH, the 
findings of which should inform future commissioning decisions. 
 

Encourage development of child friendly practices and universal implementation and 

promotion of Dental Check by One (DCby1) with as a minimum, annual reviews thereafter. 
 
Consideration of new or recommissioned practices in areas of deprivation supported by 
good public transport facilities and disabled parking.  
 
Training 
Maximising deployment of skill mix within the dental workforce, enables them to deliver oral 

health preventive messages including oral hygiene, diet advice and apply fluoride varnish 

aided by audit and learning from Starting Well, In Practice Prevention and flexible 

commissioning schemes. 

For children in deprived areas training the wider early years workforce to deliver oral health 

prevention to those at high risk and facilitate access to NHS dental care. Encouraging 

Starting Well - whole family approach core elements. 

Bespoke training for example training or support to individuals with autistic spectrum 

disorders can facilitate patient care for those with disabilities in General Dental Services 

(GDS). 

Alignment of training:  

• With the recommendations from Health Education England’s Advancing Dental Care 

Review. 

• Centres for training dental professionals should be prioritised to areas with the 

greatest oral health need and gaps in service provision to support reduction in oral 

health inequalities. Commissioning arrangements that enable trainees to gain 

experience in settings with the greatest oral health inequalities will be important.     

• Numbers in dental training and specialist training posts should align with high needs 
groups that require special care and with medium to long term commissioning plans.  
 

Understanding of the skills, work patterns and distribution of the dental work force with 
insight into their future aspirations and career plans to inform workforce planning, 
recruitment, and retention of dental professionals 

Page 86



 

57 
 

 
Reducing oral health inequalities in older people 
 
Training 
Training of the primary care dental workforce to support delivery of care for the changing 
demographic of the Y&tH population acknowledging the predicted increase in the older 
population. This would involve partnership working across the health and social care system 
to facilitate a reduction in oral health inequities in the population.  This could involve 
development of multi-disciplinary special care teams, led by MCNs, offering opportunities for 
dental professionals to up-skill (e.g. foundation training,  PLVE and Level 2 training), by 
working alongside specialists and those with level 2 specialist skills with high needs groups 
and identification and training of oral health care champions within care homes. Bespoke 
training in dementia friendly training can facilitate patient care of older adults in GDS. 
 
Service and care pathways 
In order to develop holistic patient-centred services for the older population, varying levels of 
prevention and care need to be available as part of the same care pathway. This may mean 
a service providing domiciliary care for bed bound patients including routine prevention and 
simple treatments, plus access to transport (including public transport) and multi-specialist 
centres for more complex treatments. Treatment may include a mix of mandatory and 
additional services and could be supported by oral health champions in practices and care 
homes.  Increasing integration through the sharing of information and appropriate referral 
pathways could enable alignment between general medical and social services for older 
adults with dental services. This would mean that patients with progressive long-term 
conditions could receive a dental assessment and treatment plan when their long-term 
condition is diagnosed. This would allow a proactive approach to ensure the patient is 
dentally healthy before their general health makes treatment provision difficult and would 
facilitate earlier access to dental staff with experience of providing dental care for older 
adults and knowledge of the complexities involved. 
 
Collaborative work across systems including NHSE and Local Authorities 
Partnership working across the health and social care system, through a community 
approach maximising the skills of the wider health and social care workforce can help to 
reduce risks by making every contact count. Oral health improvement programmes are 
essential to support families in developing good oral health practices, but provision varies 
across the region and there is a need to address inequities in access to and content of 
programmes. Complementary commissioning is important between Local Authorities and 
NHS E&I. Where gaps are identified working with Primary Care Network (PCN) leadership 
will be important to support alignment of services and strengthen collaboration across the 
totality of primary care. Improved data collection and integration of digital systems, with 
simplified processes should be explored to benefit the safeguarding and oral health of 
vulnerable children and adults.  
 

For consideration by Local Authorities (LAs) 
Oral health improvement programmes should be evidence-based and quality assured, 
audited and evaluated. Water fluoridation is an evidence based and a cost-effective 
approach, and LAs are currently responsible for feasibility studies. 
Commission oral health surveys to monitor the oral health of the whole population and 
participate in any oral health survey commissioned by the secretary of state. 
 
Service provision and care pathways 
Commissioning strategies will have the biggest impact on those at greatest risk of oral health 
inequities if the approach focusses on both prevention and treatment. Outcomes are poorer 
in those groups with identified oral health inequalities.  Procurement of services and service 
re-design should be underpinned by service reviews, needs assessments, and informed by 

Page 87



 

58 
 

national guidance and best practice. There is a need to understand and agree key actions to 
address oral health inequalities. National dental epidemiological programmes provide 
valuable data in relation to oral health inequalities and Local Authorities  should work in 
partnership with NHSE to explore opportunities for joint approaches to commissioning and 
contracting models to support collection of local data as part of the national dental 
epidemiology programme and address the data gaps identified in this needs assessment. 
 
An initial focus should be upon a full review of services such as the CDS including the 
special care and paediatric pathways and access to domiciliary care provision (nursing and 
residential homes or in their own home), aligned with reducing oral health inequalities. This 
will support further exploration of opportunities for specialist led pathway development 
informed by Managed Clinical Networks (MCNs), including progress toward shared care 
development, integrating dental care between GDS, CDS and secondary care. Quality 
assurance through audit, could be led by MCNs.  
 
Dental services are not equitably distributed and provide different levels of service provision.   
Challenges accessing dental care is reported by patient groups from across the region, but 
need does not always align with demand. Dental services should be accessible for people 
with physical and learning disabilities for example ensuring that new practices are in areas 
with disabled parking.  
 
An inclusion health approach with incorporation of models beneficial to various vulnerable 
groups particularly those that encounter challenges accessing services and have high need 
(for example individuals with Severe Multiple Disadvantage) through dedicated stabilisation 
and urgent care drop-in care sessions. These also provide an opportunity for training/up 
skilling of dental professionals and reducing inequalities with groups including migrants, 
asylum seekers, refugees, Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities, and the homeless. 
Innovative approaches in Y&H such as flexible commissioning for prevention and access 
programmes, have been introduced in an attempt to reduce oral health inequalities and to 
maximise delivery and spend of the dental budget. A review of the flexible commissioning 
model and existing time limited interventions can be used to inform further development or 
expansion of existing interventions.  
 
Supporting all contractors to maximise delivery of their contracted activity and minimise 
clawback is beneficial for patients, providers and commissioners.  Where contracts are 
returned to NHS England this should be used as an opportunity to address oral health 
inequities locally. The voice of the patient and public should be a standard part of the 
development of specifications for dental services and commissioning approaches should 
continue to be informed by patient responses. 
 
Recommendations at ICS level  
 
The development of ICSs offers the opportunity for action planning with key partners across 
each ICS footprint with priority setting and exploration of opportunities to reduce oral health 
inequalities.  Further work at ICS level will be needed in relation to systems to collate data 
on an ICS footprint to enable mapping and understanding of current service provision 
(including urgent dental care) with need, deprivation and existing time limited initiatives.   
 
ICS – South Yorkshire – recommendations for additional focus: 
Trends in tooth decay amongst 5 year olds, Deprivation, Vulnerable groups – Children in 
deprived areas and vulnerable children known to social care, the homeless, Gypsy, Roma 
and Traveller communities, and asylum seekers/resettled refugees 
 
 
 

Page 88



 

59 
 

ICS – West Yorkshire recommendations for additional focus: 
Deprivation, Ethnicity, Oral Cancer and Vulnerable groups – Children in deprived areas and 
vulnerable children known to social care, the homeless, Gypsy, Roma and Traveller 
communities and asylum seekers/resettled refugees.  
 
ICS – Humber and North Yorkshire recommendations for additional focus: 
Deprivation, Oral Cancer and Vulnerable groups – Children in deprived areas and vulnerable 
children known to social care, the homeless, Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities and 
asylum seekers/resettled refugees. 
 
Alignment with Core20PLUS5 – Y&tH 
      Model applied to Y&tH at ICS level 

• CORE – all ICS - The most deprived 20% of the national population as identified by 
the national Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) – strong evidence base 

• PLUS 
• All ICSs  - those with greatest need and those experiencing challenges 

accessing dental care 
• Vulnerable children 
• Physical and learning disabilities  
• Older adults – significant predicted population increase across all ICS 

footprints 
• Asylum seekers, migrants and refugees 

• SY – Prevention to reduce dental decay levels in children and homeless in 
Doncaster and deprived areas with greater ethnic diversity e.g. Sheffield 

• WY - deprived areas with greater mixed ethnic diversity e.g. Bradford, 
homeless in Leeds and Craven 

• HCV – Homeless in North East Lincolnshire and Hull, LAC in Hull and North 
East Lincolnshire 

• 5 
• All ICS - Oral cancer diagnosis – importance of role of GDS  
• WY – Bradford, Leeds and Wakefield 
• HCV - Hull 

 
Definitions and Abbreviations 
 
Equality - the state of being equal, especially in status, rights, or opportunities. 
 
Equity - the quality of being fair and impartial. 
 
Equality vs Equity - Equality has to do with giving everyone the exact same resources, 
whereas equity involves distributing resources based on the needs of the recipients. 
 
References 
 

1. BDA. 2003. Dental Care for Homeless People [Available from: https://bda.org/about-
the-bda/campaigns/Documents/homeless_dec20_2003.pdf (accessed Nov 21) 

2. Blackmore T, Williams SA, Prendergast MJ, Pope JE. 1995. The dental health of 
single male hostel dwellers in Leeds. Community Dent Health;12(2):104-9. 

3. Coles E, Edwards M, Elliott G, Freeman R, Heffernan A, Moore A. Smile4life: The 
oral health of homeless people across Scotland. 2009 

4. Collins J, Freeman R. 2007. Homeless in North and West Belfast: an oral health 
needs assessment. Br Dent J;202(12):E31. 

5. Conte M, Broder HL, Jenkins G, Reed R, Janal MN. 2006. Oral health, related 
behaviors and oral health impacts among homeless adults. Journal of Public Health 
Dentistry;66(4):276-8. 

Page 89



 

60 
 

6. Csikar J, Vinall-Collier K, Richemond JM, Talbot J, Serban ST, Douglas GVA. 
Identifying the barriers and facilitators for homeless people to achieve good oral 
health. Community Dent Health. 2019. 

7. Department of Health, HM Prison Service. 2003 Strategy for Modernising Dental 
Services for Prisoners in England. Available from: 
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20110504020935/http:/www.dh.go
v.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh
_4068229.pdf 

8. Department of Health. 2013. Health Technical Memorandum 01-05. Decontamination 
in primary care dental practices.  Available from: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/decontamination-in-primary-care-dental-
practices-htm-01-05/ 

9. Department of Health and Social Care. 2021. Integrated care systems boundaries 
review: decision summary. Available from: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integrated-care-systems-boundaries-
review-decision-summary/integrated-care-systems-boundaries-review-decision-
summary (accessed Nov 2021). 

10. FDI World Dental Federation. 2020. Promoting Oral Health for Refugees: An 
Advocacy Guide 2020 [Available from: 
https://www.fdiworlddental.org/sites/default/files/2021-
02/Promoting%20Oral%20Health%20for%20Refugees%20-
%20An%20Advocacy%20Guide.pdf (accessed October 2021) 

11. Foschi R, Pelucchi C, Dal Maso L, et al. 2010 Citrus fruit and cancer risk in a network 
of case-control studies. Lancet;381:965-970. 

12. Harvey S, Anderson B, Cantore S, King E, Malik F. 2005. Reforming Prison Dental 
Services in England- A Guide to Good Practice. Available from: 
http://www.ohrn.nhs.uk/conferences/past/D160905PCW.pdf 

13. HEE. 2021. Advancing Dental Care Review: Final Report. [accessed Jan 2022]. 
Available from: https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/advancing-dental-care  

14. Health Education England (HEE) 2021. Health Education Yorkshire and The Humber 
– Dentistry.  Available from 
https://www.yorksandhumberdeanery.nhs.uk/dentistry/dental_foundation_training/dft
_recruitment (accessed Nov 2021). 

15. Healthwatch Calderdale and Healthwatch Kirklees. 2019. Health and Social Care 
Committee Inquiry into Dentistry Services September 2019 

16. Healthwatch. 2021. NHS Dentistry in North Yorkshire: A Review of Public Feedback 
2020-2021 

17. Healthwatch Sheffield. 2020. What we’ve heard about dentistry 
18. Healthwatch Wakefield. 2021. Review of feedback of dental services 
19. Heidari E, Dickinson C, Newton T. 2014. An overview of the prison population and 

the general health status of prisoners. Br Dent J;217(1):15-9. 
20. Heidari E, Dickinson C, Newton T. 2014. Oral health of adult prisoners and factors 

that impact on oral health. Br Dent J. 2014;217(2):69-71. 
21. Heidari E, Dickinson C, Wilson R, Fiske J. 2007 Oral health of remand prisoners in 

HMP Brixton, London. British Dental Journal.;202(2):E1. 
22. Heidari E, Dickinson C, Newton T. 2014. Multidisciplinary team working in an adult 

male prison establishment in the UK. Br Dent J;217(3):117-21. 
23. Johnson N, Bain C. 2000. Tobacco and oral disease. British Dental Journal;189 

(4):200-206. 
24. Jones CM, Woods K, Neville J, Whittle JG. 2005. Dental health of prisoners in the 

north west of England in 2000: literature review and dental health survey results. 
Community Dent Health. 2005;22(2):113-7. 

25. Lamont DW, Toal FM, Crawford M. 1997. Socioeconomic deprivation and health in 
Glasgow and the west of Scotland--a study of cancer incidence among male 

Page 90

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20110504020935/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh_4068229.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20110504020935/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh_4068229.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20110504020935/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh_4068229.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integrated-care-systems-boundaries-review-decision-summary/integrated-care-systems-boundaries-review-decision-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integrated-care-systems-boundaries-review-decision-summary/integrated-care-systems-boundaries-review-decision-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integrated-care-systems-boundaries-review-decision-summary/integrated-care-systems-boundaries-review-decision-summary
https://www.fdiworlddental.org/sites/default/files/2021-02/Promoting%20Oral%20Health%20for%20Refugees%20-%20An%20Advocacy%20Guide.pdf
https://www.fdiworlddental.org/sites/default/files/2021-02/Promoting%20Oral%20Health%20for%20Refugees%20-%20An%20Advocacy%20Guide.pdf
https://www.fdiworlddental.org/sites/default/files/2021-02/Promoting%20Oral%20Health%20for%20Refugees%20-%20An%20Advocacy%20Guide.pdf
http://www.ohrn.nhs.uk/conferences/past/D160905PCW.pdf
https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/advancing-dental-care
https://www.yorksandhumberdeanery.nhs.uk/dentistry/dental_foundation_training/dft_recruitment
https://www.yorksandhumberdeanery.nhs.uk/dentistry/dental_foundation_training/dft_recruitment


 

61 
 

residents of hostels for the single homeless. Journal of Epidemiology & Community 
Health;51(6):668-71. 

26. Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government. 2018. Homelessness data: 

notes and definitions 2018 [Available from: 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-data-notes-and-definitions (accessed 

October 2021) 

27. Mollen E, Stover L, Jurgen H, R G. 2007. Health in Prisons: A WHO guide to the 

essentials in prisoner health. Available from: 

http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/99018/E90174.pdf 

28. Mustufvi Z, Barraclough O, Hearnshaw S, Whiston S, Grant S, Serban S, et al. 

Flexible Commissioning: A prevention and access focused approach in Yorkshire 

and the Humber. BDJ In Practice. 2020;33(2):20-2. 

29. National Association for Prison Dentistry United Kingdom (NAPDUK) 2013. The 

status of prison dentistry in England and Wales 2013.. 

30. National Audit Office. 2020. Dentistry in England: A National Audit Office 

memorandum to support a Health and Social Care Committee inquiry 

31. NHS Digital. 2021. NHS Dental Statistics for England - 2020-21 Annual Report 
32. NHS England a. 2018. Standard General Dental Services Contract – July 2018  

[Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/general-
dental-services-contract-2018.pdf (accessed May 2021) 

33. NHS England b. 2018. Standard Clauses for a Personal Dental Services Agreement - 
July 2018  [Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/08/standard-clauses-for-a-personal-dental-services-
agreement-2018.pdf (accessed May 2021) 

34. NHS England c. 2018. The Primary Dental Services Statements of Financial 
Entitlements (Amendment) Directions 2018  [Available from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/765878/primary-dental-services-statements-of-financial-entitlements-
amendments-directions_2018.pdf (accessed May 2021) 

35. NHS England d. 2018. Guidance for Commissioners on the Accreditation of 
Performers of Level 2 Complexity Care. Available from: guidance-for-the-
accreditation-of-performers-of-level-2-complexity-care-dec-2018.pdf (england.nhs.uk) 
9accessed March 2022) 

36. NHS. 2009. NHS dental services in England: An independent review led by Professor 
Jimmy Steele. 

37. NHS. 2019 Overview Mouth Cancer. [Online]  https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/mouth-
cancer/  [accessed 9/11/2021]. 

38. NHS. 2019 Diagnosis Mouth cancer. [Online]. https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/mouth-
cancer/diagnosis/. [accessed 9/11/2021] 

39. . NHS. 2021 What do cancer stages and grades mean? [Online] 2021. What do 
cancer stages and grades mean? - NHS (www.nhs.uk) [accessed 9/11/2021] 

40. NHS. 2021. HTM 03-01. Specialised ventilation for healthcare buildings.  2021.  
Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/specialised-ventilation-for-
healthcare-buildings/ 

41. NHS. 2022. Dental contract reform. [accessed 7 February 2022]. Available from: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/dentistry/dental-commissioning/dental-
contract-reform/  

42. Osborn M, Butler T, Barnard PD. 2003. Oral health status of prison inmates - New 
South Wales, Australia. Aust Dent J;48(1):34-8. 

43. ONS 2011 Census data 
44. ONS 2011. Adult Dental Health Survey 2009 - Summary report and thematic series. 

[accessed Jan 2022]. Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/adult-dental-health-survey/adult-dental-health-
survey-2009-summary-report-and-thematic-series 

Page 91

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/guidance-for-the-accreditation-of-performers-of-level-2-complexity-care-dec-2018.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/guidance-for-the-accreditation-of-performers-of-level-2-complexity-care-dec-2018.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/specialised-ventilation-for-healthcare-buildings/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/specialised-ventilation-for-healthcare-buildings/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/dentistry/dental-commissioning/dental-contract-reform/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/dentistry/dental-commissioning/dental-contract-reform/


 

62 
 

45. ONS 2020 population estimates 
46. ONS 2020 population projections Office for National Statistics (ONS) subnational 

population projections by persons, males and females, by single year of age. The 
latest subnational population projections available for England, published 24 March 
2020, are full 2018-based and project forward the population from 2018 to 2043. 

47. Oral Health Foundation. 2019. State of Mouth Cancer UK Report 2018/2019.  
48. PHE. 2014.  Local Authorities  improving oral health: commissioning better oral 

health for children and young people. [accessed Jan 2022]. Available from: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-oral-health-an-evidence-
informed-toolkit-for-local-authorities  

49. PHE. 2015. What is Known About the Oral Health of Older People in England and 
Wales: A review of oral health surveys of older people. [accessed Jan 2022]. 
Available from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/489756/What_is_known_about_the_oral_health_of_older_people.pdf  

50. PHE 2015. West Yorkshire oral health needs assessment 2015 [cited 2019. Available 
from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/463070/West_Yorks_oral_health_needs_assessment_2015.pdf 
(accessed Nov 21) 

51. PHE.2018. Commissioning better oral health for vulnerable older people: Resources 
to support commissioners in improving the oral health of vulnerable older people. 
[accessed Jan 2022]. Available from: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/commissioning-better-oral-health-for-
vulnerable-older-people 

52. PHE.2018. Water Fluoridation Health monitoring report for England 2018. [accessed 
Jan 2022]. Available from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/692756/EXECUTIVE_SUMMARY_Water_Fluoridation_Health_monitori
ng_report_for_England_2018_DR.pdf  

53. PHE.2018. Public Health England. Homelessness: applying All Our Health 2018  
[Available from:https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/homelessness-applying-
all-our-health/homelessness-applying-all-our-health (accessed October 2021) 

54. PHE. 2019. Oral health survey of mildly dependent older people 2016. [accessed Jan 
2022]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-
survey-of-mildly-dependent-older-people-2016  

55. PHE. 2019. Survey of prison dental services in England, Wales and Northern Ireland 
2017 to 2018. London.. Available from: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-survey-of-prison-dental-
services-2017-to-2018 

56. PHE.2020. Oral health survey of adults attending dental practices 2018. [accessed 
Jan 2022]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-
survey-of-adults-attending-dental-practices-2018 

57. PHE. 2020.Oral cancer in England: a report on incidence, survival and mortality rates 
of oral cancer in England, 2012 to 2016 (publishing.service.gov.uk) [accessed 
9/11/2021] 

58. PHE. 2020. Improving oral health: A community water fluoridation toolkit for Local 
Authorities . [accessed 7 February 2022]. Available from 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/953333/Fluoridation_Toolkit_V1.7.pdf  

59. PHE.2021. Hospital tooth extractions of 0 to 19 year olds, Episodes of children being 
admitted to hospital for tooth extractions from 2016 to 2020 [accessed Jan 22]. 
Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hospital-tooth-
extractions-of-0-to-19-year-olds 

60. PHE 2021 Inequalities in oral health in England 

Page 92

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-oral-health-an-evidence-informed-toolkit-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-oral-health-an-evidence-informed-toolkit-for-local-authorities
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/489756/What_is_known_about_the_oral_health_of_older_people.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/489756/What_is_known_about_the_oral_health_of_older_people.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692756/EXECUTIVE_SUMMARY_Water_Fluoridation_Health_monitoring_report_for_England_2018_DR.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692756/EXECUTIVE_SUMMARY_Water_Fluoridation_Health_monitoring_report_for_England_2018_DR.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692756/EXECUTIVE_SUMMARY_Water_Fluoridation_Health_monitoring_report_for_England_2018_DR.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-survey-of-mildly-dependent-older-people-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-survey-of-mildly-dependent-older-people-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-survey-of-prison-dental-services-2017-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-survey-of-prison-dental-services-2017-to-2018
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/953333/Fluoridation_Toolkit_V1.7.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/953333/Fluoridation_Toolkit_V1.7.pdf


 

63 
 

61. PHE 2021 Public Health – Local Health – Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019  
62. PHE/Barnsley OHAG. 2018. Barnsley Oral Health Needs Assessment  
63. PHE. 2021. Model of oral healthcare for asylum seekers and refugees 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/1010952/MoC_Local_authority__2_.pdf (accessed October 2021) 

64. Sheiham and Watt (2000). The common risk factor approach: a rational basis for 

promoting oral health.  Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology, 28 (6): 399-406. 

65. Thomas B. Homelessness kills: An analysis of the mortality of homeless people in 
early twenty-first century England 2012 [Available from: 
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/236798/crisis_homelessness_kills2012.pdf 
(accessed October 2021) 

66. Walsh T, Tickle M, Milsom K, Buchanan K, Zoitopoulos L..2008 An investigation of 
the nature of research into dental health in prisons: a systematic review. Br Dent 
J;204(12):683-9. 

67. Waplington J, Morris J, Bradnock G. 2000. The dental needs, demands and attitudes 
of a group of homeless people with mental health problems. Community Dent 
Health;17(3):134-7. 

68. Warnakulasuriya, S. 2009 Global epidemiology of oral and oropharyngeal cancer. 
2009, Oral Oncology, pp. 309-316. .  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



 

64 
 

 
 
Appendix 
Population Demographics 

 
Table A:  Population of Y&tH by local authority and ICS for all ages between 2020-2040 
 

Local Authority / ICS ALL AGES 

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 % change 
2020-
2040 

       

H & NY 1,709,349 1,727,629 1,740,947 1,750,839 1,760,116 3% 

East Riding of Yorks 342,195 348,423 352,671 355,594 358,301 5% 

Kingston upon Hull,  261,184 260,953 261,111 261,502 261,834 0% 

North East Lincs 159,996 159,843 159,229 158,769 158,738 -1% 

North Lincolnshire 173,143 175,145 176,052 176,806 177,729 3% 

York 211,099 212,418 214,759 215,837 215,869 2% 

North Yorkshire** 618,904 629,021 636,162 642,119 648,170 5% 

Hambleton 91,480 92,231 92,622 92,884 93,122 2% 

Harrogate 160,644 161,267 161,270 161,612 162,450 1% 

Richmondshire 53,189 52,957 52,717 52,544 52,597 -1% 

Ryedale 55,846 57,978 59,608 60,825 61,851 11% 

Scarborough 109,422 110,965 112,216 113,166 113,994 4% 

Selby 91,149 95,452 98,693 101,300 103,631 14% 
       

West Yorkshire 2,399,360 2,443,053 2,481,844 2,516,380 2,549,547 6% 

Bradford 540,909 547,333 551,918 556,691 562,645 4% 

Calderdale 210,958 212,645 213,676 214,808 216,463 3% 

Craven 57,173 58,173 59,037 59,788 60,525 6% 

Kirklees 441,772 447,671 452,340 456,556 461,132 4% 

Leeds 795,565 806,609 819,468 829,842 837,250 5% 

Wakefield 352,983 370,623 385,405 398,696 411,532 17% 
       

South Yorkshire 1,419,395 1,452,639 1,483,081 1,511,302 1,537,806 8% 

Barnsley 248,707 256,164 262,376 268,202 274,052 10% 

Doncaster 313,762 320,194 324,963 329,641 334,626 7% 

Rotherham 267,215 272,899 277,482 282,030 287,078 7% 

Sheffield 589,710 603,383 618,261 631,430 642,050 9% 
       

Y&tH 5,528,103 5,623,321 5,705,872 5,778,521 5,847,468 6% 

 Source:  ONS Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland - 

Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

** includes Craven 

Page 94

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


 

65 
 

Table B:  Population of Y&tH by local authority and ICS for adults (0-19 years) between 2020-2040 

Local Authority / ICS 0-19 years 

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 % 
change 
2020-
2040 

       

H & NY 372,837 373,420 361,832 349,132 346,546 -7% 

East Riding of Yorkshire 69,669 69,931 67,963 65,595 65,204 -6% 

Kingston upon Hull, 63,754 64,164 62,405 60,464 60,251 -5% 

North East Lincolnshire 37,744 37,475 35,714 33,946 33,391 -12% 

North Lincolnshire 39,062 38,895 37,048 35,513 35,095 -10% 

York 45,609 45,911 45,098 43,628 43,000 -6% 

North Yorkshire** 128,064 127,984 124,227 120,288 119,919 -6% 

Hambleton 17,822 17,432 16,610 15,887 15,759 -12% 

Harrogate 35,378 34,784 33,085 31,642 31,270 -12% 

Richmondshire 11,261 10,907 10,378 9,957 9,911 -12% 

Ryedale 10,795 11,183 11,115 10,898 10,944 1% 

Scarborough 21,484 21,420 20,814 19,968 19,739 -8% 

Selby 20,260 21,320 21,603 21,634 21,982 9% 
       

West Yorkshire 604,813 615,692 608,985 598,067 601,915 0% 

Bradford 155,643 155,080 150,329 146,065 146,323 -6% 

Calderdale 49,995 49,534 47,694 45,890 45,830 -8% 

Craven 11,066 10,940 10,623 10,301 10,314 -7% 

Kirklees 110,886 111,214 108,755 105,766 105,863 -5% 

Leeds 195,854 202,355 202,779 200,486 202,019 3% 

Wakefield 81,370 86,570 88,806 89,560 91,566 13% 
       

South Yorkshire 330,749 337,980 335,378 331,908 335,150 1% 

Barnsley 55,977 57,289 56,722 55,805 56,305 1% 

Doncaster 72,894 73,574 71,475 69,573 69,533 -5% 

Rotherham 62,995 64,373 63,857 63,241 64,051 2% 

Sheffield 138,883 142,744 143,325 143,290 145,261 5% 
       

Yorkshire & the Humber 1,308,399 1,327,093 1,306,195 1,279,107 1,283,610 -2% 

 Source:  ONS Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern 

Ireland - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

** includes Craven 

 

  

Page 95

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


 

66 
 

Table C:  Population of Y&tH by local authority and ICS for adults (20-64 years) between 2020-2040 

Local Authority / ICS 20-64 years 

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 % 
change 
2020-
2040 

       

H & NY  957,417 940,624 921,098 908,367 903,381 -6% 

East Riding of Yorkshire 181,892 179,414 175,172 171,869 170,562 -6% 

Kingston upon Hull,  157,850 154,632 152,709 152,507 152,177 -4% 

North East Lincolnshire 88,939 86,228 83,576 81,968 81,162 -9% 

North Lincolnshire 96,789 95,434 93,774 92,374 92,250 -5% 

York 126,225 124,473 123,754 123,261 122,418 -3% 

North Yorkshire** 335,968 330,108 321,155 314,952 313,292 -7% 

Hambleton 49,203 48,029 46,079 44,713 44,286 -10% 

Harrogate 86,768 84,127 80,971 78,576 77,401 -11% 

Richmondshire 30,191 28,817 27,324 26,145 25,624 -15% 

Ryedale 29,856 30,081 29,806 29,654 29,757 0% 

Scarborough 57,671 56,393 54,612 53,539 53,120 -8% 

Selby 52,034 52,998 53,321 53,763 54,625 5% 
       

West Yorkshire 1,385,732 1,385,695 1,390,044 1,397,426 1,404,129 1% 

Bradford 303,303 302,681 303,342 304,220 303,667 0% 

Calderdale 120,793 119,207 117,517 116,512 116,024 -4% 

Craven 30,246 29,665 29,042 28,563 28,479 -6% 

Kirklees 251,886 250,968 250,150 249,461 249,353 -1% 

Leeds 475,285 473,003 475,316 479,239 480,770 1% 

Wakefield 204,219 210,171 214,677 219,432 225,836 11% 
       

South Yorkshire 830,781 836,593 843,806 850,924 861,897 4% 

Barnsley 143,681 144,663 145,183 145,940 148,051 3% 

Doncaster 180,161 180,160 180,138 181,043 183,106 2% 

Rotherham 151,183 151,384 151,719 152,609 155,024 3% 

Sheffield 355,757 360,387 366,766 371,332 375,716 6% 
       

Yorkshire & the Humber 3,173,930 3,162,912 3,154,947 3,156,717 3,169,407 0% 

Source:  ONS Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern 

Ireland - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

** includes Craven 

 

  

Page 96

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


 

67 
 

Table D:  Population of Y&tH by local authority and ICS for older adults (65+years) between 2020-

2040 

Local Authority / ICS 65+ years 

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 % 
change 
2020-
2040 

       

H & NY  533,967 584,515 648,798 700,218 725,148 36% 

East Riding of Yorkshire 90,634 99,078 109,537 118,130 122,536 35% 

Kingston upon Hull,  39,580 42,157 45,998 48,532 49,406 25% 

North East Lincolnshire 33,313 36,139 39,939 42,856 44,185 33% 

North Lincolnshire 37,292 40,816 45,230 48,919 50,385 35% 

York 39,266 42,034 45,907 48,949 50,452 28% 

North Yorkshire** 154,872 170,930 190,780 206,879 214,958 39% 

Hambleton 24,456 26,771 29,933 32,284 33,076 35% 

Harrogate 38,499 42,356 47,214 51,394 53,779 40% 

Richmondshire 11,738 13,233 15,015 16,442 17,062 45% 

Ryedale 15,196 16,715 18,687 20,273 21,150 39% 

Scarborough 30,268 33,152 36,790 39,659 41,135 36% 

Selby 18,855 21,135 23,769 25,903 27,024 43% 
       

West Yorkshire 408,815 441,665 482,815 520,887 543,503 33% 

Bradford 81,963 89,572 98,248 106,406 112,655 37% 

Calderdale 40,171 43,904 48,465 52,406 54,609 36% 

Craven 15,862 17,567 19,373 20,924 21,732 37% 

Kirklees 79,000 85,489 93,436 101,329 105,916 34% 

Leeds 124,425 131,251 141,372 150,118 154,461 24% 

Wakefield 67,395 73,882 81,922 89,704 94,130 40% 
       

South Yorkshire 257,864 278,066 303,898 328,470 340,759 32% 

Barnsley 49,050 54,212 60,471 66,457 69,696 42% 

Doncaster 60,707 66,460 73,350 79,025 81,987 35% 

Rotherham 53,037 57,142 61,907 66,180 68,003 28% 

Sheffield 95,069 100,252 108,170 116,808 121,074 27% 
       

Yorkshire & the Humber 1,045,774 1,133,317 1,244,730 1,342,697 1,394,451 33% 

Source:  ONS Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern 

Ireland - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

** includes Craven 

  

Page 97

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


 

68 
 

Table E:  Population of Yorkshire & the Humber by local authority and ICS for older adults (85+years) 

between 2020-2040 

Local Authority / ICS 85+ years 

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 % 
change 
2020-
2040 

       

Humber Coast & Vale 48,993 55,257 63,121 79,762 85,373 74% 

East Riding of Yorkshire 11,201 12,922 14,951 19,448 20,557 84% 

Kingston upon Hull, City of 4,593 4,680 4,813 6,118 6,590 43% 

North East Lincolnshire 4,518 4,969 5,525 6,884 7,442 65% 

North Lincolnshire 4,607 5,119 5,956 7,447 8,122 76% 

York 5,727 6,451 7,251 8,944 9,425 65% 

North Yorkshire** 20,556 23,524 27,532 34,553 37,165 81% 

Hambleton 3,081 3,612 4,208 5,238 5,550 80% 

Harrogate 5,894 6,812 7,772 9,602 10,358 76% 

Richmondshire 1,423 1,720 2,028 2,568 2,814 98% 

Ryedale 2,016 2,284 2,733 3,406 3,659 81% 

Scarborough 3,767 4,137 4,768 6,037 6,472 72% 

Selby 2,166 2,550 3,116 4,070 4,385 102%        

West Yorkshire 52,056 57,036 63,508 79,289 84,822 63% 

Bradford 10,824 11,567 12,157 15,297 16,991 57% 

Calderdale 4,762 5,181 6,035 7,682 8,183 72% 

Craven 2,210 2,408 2,909 3,633 3,929 78% 

Kirklees 9,671 10,998 12,622 15,912 16,885 75% 

Leeds 16,433 17,693 18,942 23,266 24,364 48% 

Wakefield 8,156 9,188 10,844 13,499 14,469 77%        

South Yorkshire 33,079 36,410 41,271 49,570 52,794 60% 

Barnsley 5,880 6,531 7,688 9,448 10,340 76% 

Doncaster 7,473 8,094 9,116 11,323 12,361 65% 

Rotherham 6,431 7,432 8,698 10,431 10,937 70% 

Sheffield 13,295 14,353 15,769 18,368 19,156 44%        

Yorkshire and the Humber 134,127 148,702 167,898 208,621 222,988 66% 

Source:  ONS Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern 

Ireland - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

** includes Craven 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 98

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


 

69 
 

Child oral health 

Table F:  Summary of FCE for all extractions and extractions with caries as the primary diagnosis for 0-19 years from 2017/18 to 2019/20. 

Local Authority / 
Integrated Care 
System of residence 

FCE’s for extractions as 
a % of the total 
population (all 
diagnoses)  

FCE’s for extractions as 
% of population with 
caries as the primary 
diagnosis  

FCE’s for extractions as 
% of population with 
caries as the primary 
diagnosis  

FCE’s for extractions as 
% of population with 
caries as the primary 
diagnosis  

Number of FCE's for 
extractions with caries as 
the primary diagnosis 

 
(0-19 years) (0-5 years) (6-10 years) (0-19 years) (0-19 years)  
17/18 18/19 19/20 17/18 18/19 19/20 17/18 18/19 19/20 17/18 18/19 19/20 17/18 18/19 19/20 

 
H & NY  

               

ER of Yorkshire 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% * * * 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 95 115 110 

Kingston upon Hull, 0.2% 0.3% 0.3% * * 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 105 150 125 

North East Lincs  0.9% 1.0% 1.1% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 2.0% 2.1% 2.1% 0.9% 0.9% 1.0% 25 35 35 

North Lincs  0.6% 0.8% 0.7% 0.5% 0.5% 0.6% 0.9% 1.5% 1.0% 0.4% 0.6% 0.5% 45 60 60 

York 0.6% 0.5% 0.4% 0.5% 0.5% 0.4% 1.2% 0.9% 0.9% 0.5% 0.4% 0.3% 70 45 40 

North Yorkshire 
               

Hambleton 0.5% 0.6% 0.4% 0.5% 0.8% 0.3% 0.9% 0.8% 0.7% 0.4% 0.4% 0.3% 20 25 25 

Harrogate 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.4% 0.3% 0.3% 0.7% 0.6% 0.9% 0.3% 0.3% 0.4% 55 70 55 

Richmondshire 0.5% 0.7% 0.6% 0.4% 0.4% 0.3% 0.9% 1.0% 1.0% 0.3% 0.5% 0.4% 20 15 20 

Ryedale 0.4% 0.5% 0.4% * 0.5% * 0.5% 0.9% 0.7% 0.3% 0.5% 0.3% 15 10 10 

Scarborough 0.5% 0.5% 0.6% 0.5% 0.4% 0.3% 0.8% 0.8% 1.1% 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 25 25 25 

Selby 0.5% 0.6% 0.5% 0.3% 0.6% 0.4% 0.8% 1.0% 0.8% 0.4% 0.5% 0.4% 30 25 30 

 
West Yorkshire 

               

Bradford 0.4% 0.4% 0.8% 0.5% 0.4% 1.0% 0.4% 0.5% 1.2% 0.3% 0.3% 0.7% 180 185 165 

Calderdale 0.9% 0.7% 0.6% 0.9% 0.8% 0.5% 1.5% 0.9% 1.0% 0.7% 0.5% 0.5% 60 85 50 

Craven 0.3% 0.4% 0.4% * 0.3% 0.3% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 10 15 20 

Kirklees 0.6% 0.6% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.4% 0.9% 0.9% 0.8% 0.5% 0.4% 0.4% 120 140 120 

Leeds 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.4% 0.3% 0.4% 0.7% 0.6% 0.8% 0.3% 0.3% 0.4% 255 240 295 

Wakefield 0.8% 0.9% 0.9% 0.8% 0.7% 0.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.7% 0.7% 0.8% 0.8% 125 115 80 

 

P
age 99



 

70 
 

South Yorkshire 
               

Barnsley 1.2% 1.0% 1.0% 1.2% 0.8% 0.8% 2.0% 1.8% 1.9% 1.0% 0.9% 0.9% 100 85 65 

Doncaster 1.5% 1.2% 1.3% 1.3% 1.1% 1.0% 3.0% 2.3% 2.8% 1.4% 1.1% 1.2% 125 110 100 

Rotherham 1.6% 1.2% 1.4% 1.5% 1.1% 1.2% 2.7% 2.1% 2.5% 1.3% 1.0% 1.2% 150 125 120 

Sheffield 1.4% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.0% 0.9% 2.2% 2.0% 2.1% 1.1% 1.0% 0.9% 395 300 340 

                

ENGLAND** 0.5% 0.4% 0.4% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.6% 0.6% 0.5% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 20,929 21,608 19,947 

* denotes figure <6 suppressed because of disclosure control. All other subnational figures rounded to the nearest 5 
**England totals based on unsuppressed figures 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 100



 

71 
 

Adult oral health 
 
Table G: - Adult oral health impacts in Yorkshire and the Humber 2018 by local authority 

Upper-Tier LA Name 

%
 f

u
n

c
ti

o
n

a
l 

d
e

n
ti

ti
o

n
 (

2
1

 o
r 

m
o

re
 t

e
e

th
) 

%
 a

c
ti

v
e

 d
e
c

a
y

 

(D
T

>
0

) 

A
v
e

ra
g

e
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

d
e

c
a

y
e

d
 t

e
e

th
 

(f
o

r 
th

o
s

e
 w

it
h

 

a
c

ti
v

e
 d

e
c
a

y
) 

%
 w

it
h

 f
il

le
d

 

te
e

th
 

%
 w

it
h

 d
e

n
tu

re
s
 

%
 w

it
h

 b
le

e
d

in
g

 

o
n

 p
ro

b
in

g
 

%
 w

it
h

 P
U

F
A

 

%
 w

it
h

 a
n

y
 

tr
e
a

tm
e

n
t 

n
e

e
d

 

%
 u

rg
e

n
t 

tr
e
a

tm
e

n
t 

n
e

e
d

 

%
 n

o
t 

s
e

e
n

 a
 

d
e

n
ti

s
t 

in
 t

h
e

 

la
s

t 
2

 y
e

a
rs

 

%
 s

u
ff

e
ri

n
g

 a
n

y
 

o
ra

l 
h

e
a
lt

h
 

im
p

a
c

ts
 (

fa
ir

ly
 

o
r 

v
e

ry
 o

ft
e
n

) 

 

Humber Coast & Vale            

East Riding of Yorkshire 82.8 37.5 1.9 98.4 14.1 76.2 7.9 90.5 3.2 5.3 17.2 

Kingston upon Hull, City of*            

North East Lincolnshire**            

North Lincolnshire 77.6 21.2 2.7 88.2 23.5 30.6 8.4 67.9 9.0 11.9 10.9 

York 89.5 7.9 1.3 92.1 7.9 25.0 2.7 56.8 2.7 11.1 15.6 

North Yorkshire* 77.7 19.0 1.6 91.7 17.3 31.5 3.1 82.7 2.4 3.7 12.4 

 

West Yorkshire            

Bradford 91.7 33.3 1.9 90.0 5.0 31.7 1.7 76.7 5.0 9.6 19.2 

Calderdale*            

Kirklees*            

Leeds 89.2 33.5 1.8 92.2 12.6 66.9 3.0 61.8 1.2 5.9 24.0 

Wakefield*            

 

South Yorkshire            

Barnsley*            

Doncaster*            

Rotherham*            

Sheffield*            

Yorkshire and the Humber 82.8 25.0 1.9 91.7 15.6 44.6 4.3 75.4 3.2 6.1 16.5 

P
age 101



 

72 
 

England 81.9 26.8 2.1 90.2 15.4 52.9 5.2 70.5 4.9 7.9 17.7 

 

* Did not participate in the survey 
**North East Lincolnshire - insufficient numbers examined for estimate 
^^ Includes Craven 
PUFA – presence of pain, ulceration, fistulae or abscess – a measure of sepsis 

 

 
 

 

P
age 102



 

73 
 

Adult oral health 

Figure A 

 

 
 
Figure B 

 

 
The report and full tables of results are available at: Oral health survey of adults 

attending general dental practices 2018 (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

 
  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Bradford York Leeds Yorkshire
and The

Humberii

East Riding
of Yorkshire

England North
Yorkshire

North
Lincolnshire

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

th
o

se
 s

u
rv

ey
ed

Local Authority

Percentage of adults in local authorities in Y&tH (from those that particpated) with a 
functional dentition from the 2018 survey of adults in general dental practice

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

East Riding
of Yorkshire

Leeds Bradford England Yorkshire
and The

Humberii

North
Lincolnshire

North
Yorkshire

York

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

th
o

se
 s

am
p

le
d

 w
it

h
 a

ct
iv

e 
d

ec
ay

Local Authority

Percentage of adults in Y&tH (from those that were sampled) with active dental 
decay (DT>0) from the 2018 survey of adults in general dental practice

Page 103

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/891208/AiP_survey_for_England_2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/891208/AiP_survey_for_England_2018.pdf


 

74 
 

Oral Cancer 

Figure C:  Standardised incidence of C00-C14 by lower-tier local authority area, 2012 to 

2016 

 

Figure D:  Standardised incidence of C00-C6 by lower-tier local authority area, 2012 to 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 104



 

75 
 

Oral Cancer 

Figure E:  Standardised incidence of C00-C14 in England by income deprivation (IMD 2015) 

quintile, 2012 to 2016. 

 

Figure F: Mortality due to C00-C14 in England by income deprivation (IMD 2015) quintile, 

2012 to 2016. 

 

 

 

Page 105



 

76 
 

Oral cancer 

Table H:Standardised incidence and mortality of C00-C14 and C00-C06 by statistical region, upper-tier local authority area and lower-tier local authority area, 2012 to 2016.  

Geography C00-C14 C00-C06 

Standardised 
incidence 
per 100,000 

Lower 
95% 
CI 

Upper 
95% 
CI 

Standardised 
mortality per 
100,000 

Lower 
95% 
CI 

Upper 
95% 
CI 

Standardised 
incidence 
per 100,000 

Lower 
95% 
CI 

Upper 
95% 
CI 

Standardised 
mortality per 
100,000 

Lower 
95% 
CI 

Upper 
95% 
CI 

England 14.55 14.4 14.71 4.54 4.45 4.62 8.36 8.24 8.48 2.19 2.13 2.25 

             

Yorkshire & the Humber 15.26 14.76 15.75 4.7 4.42 4.99 8.7 8.32 9.07 2.18 1.98 2.37 
             

Humber Coast & Vale 
            

East Riding of Yorkshire 13.65 11.87 15.42 3.88 2.87 4.88 8.14 6.75 9.53 1.94 1.19 2.69 

Kingston upon Hull, 18.26 15.56 20.96 6.48 4.72 8.24 10.24 8.18 12.3 2.55 1.41 3.69 

North East Lincolnshire 16.76 13.68 19.84 5.7 3.74 7.67 9.25 6.91 11.59 2.64 1.2 4.08 

North Lincolnshire 13.32 10.62 16.01 4.42 2.78 6.07 7.68 5.54 9.81 2.41 1.12 3.7 

York 14.43 11.81 17.05 4.35 2.84 5.85 8.85 6.77 10.93 2.05 0.94 3.15 

North Yorkshire** 13.99 12.66 15.32 3.48 2.80 4.16 7.65 6.67 8.64 1.33 0.89 1.76 

Hambleton 11.91 8.59 15.23 1.89 0.29 3.48 7.91 5.14 10.68 † † † 

Harrogate 15.00 12.19 17.81 3.50 2.06 4.94 7.34 5.34 9.34 1.12 0.18 2.06 

Richmondshire 15.87 10.38 21.36 6.59 2.76 10.42 10.21 5.62 14.79 † † † 

Ryedale 10.91 6.61 15.21 † † † 6.40 2.98 9.82 † † † 

Scarborough 16.21 12.7 19.73 4.08 2.17 5.99 7.74 5.20 10.27 † † † 

Selby 13.76 9.81 17.71 3.58 1.28 5.88 8.11 5.02 11.20 † † †              

West Yorkshire 
            

Bradford 17.28 15.4 19.15 6.11 4.93 7.29 10.39 8.91 11.88 3.03 2.17 3.89 

Calderdale 14.45 11.87 17.04 3.69 2.29 5.1 8.54 6.47 10.60 2.03 0.93 3.13 

Craven 12.51 8.17 16.86 3.27 0.72 5.82 6.52 3.23 9.8 † † † 

Kirklees 15.31 13.46 17.16 5.24 4.08 6.4 9.18 7.73 10.63 2.83 1.98 3.68 

Leeds 16.24 14.76 17.71 5.06 4.19 5.94 9.48 8.34 10.61 2.27 1.69 2.85 

Wakefield 16.73 14.62 18.85 5.14 3.9 6.38 10.55 8.83 12.27 2.69 1.76 3.62 

P
age 106



 

77 
 

             

South Yorkshire 
            

Barnsley 13.59 11.27 15.91 4.72 3.25 6.19 7.17 5.47 8.87 2.72 1.59 3.86 

Doncaster 14.36 12.28 16.45 4.14 2.97 5.31 8.04 6.43 9.65 2.1 1.22 2.98 

Rotherham 15.47 13.14 17.81 4.2 2.91 5.48 8.72 6.92 10.52 1.47 0.63 2.31 

Sheffield 15.27 13.62 16.92 4.85 3.9 5.81 7.45 6.29 8.62 1.67 1.09 2.25 

** includes Craven 

† cells left blank as the rates are based on fewer than 10 cases and have been suppressed. 

Rates statistically significantly lower than the England mean have been highlighted in green and rates statistically significantly higher than the England mean 

have been highlighted in red 

P
age 107



 

78 
 

Table I: Residential schools for children with learning or physical disabilities provided by Local 
Authorities in Y&H 
 

LA/ICS School Numbers Age 
range 

Disabilities 

H&NY 
 

ERYorkshire Kingsmill Special 
School  

TBC 3 to 19  

St Anne's Special 
School 

TBC 3 to 19  

Kingston upon Hull, Oakfield School  30 11 to 16 Social, Emotional, and Mental Health difficulties 

North East Lincs     

North Lincs      

York No residential 
schools 

   

North Yorkshire** Welburn Hall  80 16 to 19  Autism, MLD / SLD 

Brompton Hall 60 8 to 16 SEMH (many also have ASD / ADHD) 

Hambleton     

Harrogate     

Richmondshire     

Ryedale     

Scarborough     

Selby     

West Yorkshire     

Bradford No residential 
schools  

   

Calderdale William Henry 
Smith school 

79  5-19 SEMH - ADHD, ASD, FASD, OCD and Attachment 
Disorder 
Of the 79 students: 
(28 residential+6 part time residential) 

Stafford Hall 
school 

12 11-18 Learning Difficulties, Autism and associated 
challenging behaviours. 

Craven     

Kirklees No residential 
schools 

   

Leeds No information 
available 

   

Wakefield Camphill 
Wakefield 

60 16 to 25 ADHD, ASD, ASP, AUT, CLD, DYSP, EBD, EPI, 
LD, MLD, SCLD, SLD, SPLD 

Hesley's Ivy Lane 
School & Ivy 
Close Children's 
Home 
(not open yet) 

24 11 to 19  Learning disability, autism and complex needs, 
including behaviours that challenge. 

     

South Yorkshire 

Barnsley No residential 
schools 

   

Doncaster Doncaster School 
for the Deaf  

29 4 to 19  Hearing Impairment 

Fullerton House 
School  

32 8 to 19 ASD, Severe Learning Difficulty 

Wilsic Hall School 30 11 to 19  ASD, Severe Learning Difficulty 

Rotherham Ellern Mede 
Moorgate School 

12 under 18 
to 25 

Eating disorder facility 

Sheffield Brantwood 
Specialist School 

49 7 to 19 Autism Spectrum Conditions, Pathological Demand 
Avoidance and Attachment Disorder  

Page 108



 

79 
 

Migrants Asylum Seekers, Resettled refugees, Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking 
Children (UASC) and Roma Community 
 
Studies have indicated a high prevalence of oral disease and unmet oral healthcare needs in 
refugees, often exceeding the levels experienced by the most disadvantaged communities of 
the host country. Most commonly, refugees experience high levels of dental caries, 
periodontal disease, oral lesions and traumatic dental injuries (FDI. 2020). 
 
Similarly, to the general population, people from migrant communities could be classified into 
3 main groups in terms of their engagement with dental care services: 

• People who wish to engage with services and require support to achieve dental 
fitness 

• People who only wish to engage in case of an urgent need/pain 

• People who do not wish to engage 
 
When designing dental care pathways, some of the specific barriers for accessing care by 
migrants can be around: 
 

• Language 

• Prior beliefs about oral health 

• Anxiety 

• Understanding administration including exemption or partial exemption 
 
The section below tables J and K are a summary of data kindly collated by Migration Yorkshire 

 
Table J Summary of data relating to Asylum seekers, resettled refugees, Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking 

Children and Roma Community in Y&tH – notes to accompany table K 

Vulnerable 
group 

Basis of 
Data/Data 
source  

Data 
includes 

Data  
excludes 

Numbers 
dependent upon 

Y&H Local 
Authority 
participation 

Comments 

Asylum 
seekers 

Recipients 
of S95 
Home 
Office 
support 
(whilst 
awaiting a 
decision on   
asylum 
claim) 

‘Dispersal’ 
[individuals 
who are 
destitute and 
living in no-
choice 
dispersal 
housing] and 
‘Subsistence 
only’ 
[individuals 
receiving a 
subsistence 
allowance 
only - not 
housing] 
claimants. 
 

People who have 
had their claim 
refused but are 
still living in 
dispersal housing 
[under ‘Section 
4’], 
Unaccompanied 
children, and 
those whose 
cases are 
considered 
closed. 

Numbers arriving 
in the UK, the 
proportion that 
the Home Office 
send Y&tH to be 
accommodated, 
location of 
available 
housing/friends 
and family, 
timeframe for 
case assessment 
and post-decision 
outcome. 
 

Data reveals small 
numbers in 
Harrogate, North 
Lincolnshire and 
York possibly as 
part of  temporary 
arrangements 
during the 
pandemic. 

Permanent 
accommodation site - 
Wakefield up to 250 people 
on ‘Section 98’ support are 
housed temporarily for a 
matter of days/weeks until 
their longer term 
accommodation [S95 
‘dispersal’ accommodation] 
in the community is 
allocated. 
 

Resettled 
refugees 

People 
resettled via 
Government 
resettlement 
schemes 
 
Home 
Office - 
cumulative 
count of 
resettled 
refugees 

Prior to 2021, 
the resettled 
refugee data 
covered 
VPRS and 
the 
Vulnerable 
Children 
Resettlement 
Scheme 
(VCRS),  
 

Prior to 2021 
data 
excluded the 
smaller numbers 
arriving under the 
Gateway 
Protection 
Programme 
(GPP) and the 
Mandate 
scheme. 
 

Numbers arriving 
in the UK,  how 
many people the 
local authority 
has offered to 
host, and whether 
the individuals’ 
needs can be met 
in that area, such 
as housing size 
and adaptation 
for the family’s 

All have 
participated  
 

Most resettled refugees to 
date have been Syrians 
arriving under the (VPRS). 
 

Page 109



 

80 
 

since the 
start of the 
Vulnerable 
Persons 
Resettleme
nt Scheme 
 VPRS 
scheme 
(March 
2014 to 
June 2021). 
 

From 2021, 
the VPRS 
and VCRS 
have been 
replaced by 
the UKRS. 
The resettled 
refugee data 
covers the 
UKRS as 
well as the 
Community 
Sponsorship 
scheme and 
the smaller 
schemes 
which were 
previously 
excluded.  
 
 

In 2021, new 
resettlement 
schemes for 
people from 
Afghanistan 
(ARAP and 
ACRS) were 
announced and 
have not yet 
been 
incorporated into 
any dataset. 
 

physical needs, 
school places and 
appropriate 
medical care.  
 

Unaccompa
nied asylum-
seeking 
children 
(UASC) 
 

Department 
for 
Education - 
snapshot of 
UASC as of 
March 
2020. 

Spontaneous 
arrivals and 
children 
coming into 
care of Local 
Authorities  
through 
different 
formal 
schemes 
including the 
(VCRS) and 
the Dublin 
schemes. 

Those in the 
Leaving Care 
system or on the 
National Transfer 
Scheme (NTS). 
Figures in Y&tH 
will have 
increased during 
2021 due to the 
introduction of 
the NTS to 
relocate 
unaccompanied 
children from the 
South East to 
Local Authorities  
around the 
country.  
 

 All Local 
Authorities  are 
potentially hosting 
unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking 
children and have 
a legal duty to 
provide 
accommodation. 
 

UASC are children, who 
have applied for asylum in 
their own right and are 
separated from both 
parents and/or any other 
responsible adult. 

Roma Department 
of 
Education – 
School 
Census 
snapshot 
and rate as 
of 2020/21 

State funded 
nursery, 
primary, 
secondary, 
special and 
pupil referral 
schools. 
 
 

The ethnic 
category used in 
data collection 
includes 
‘Gypsy/Roma’, 
which may 
include wider 
Gypsy groups, - 
best indicator  at 
this time.  

There is a 
separate category 
for ‘Irish 
Traveller’, so this 
group will not be 
included. 
 

 Challenges surrounding 
data collection 
 
Department of Education 
shows Yorkshire and 
Humber to have the 
second highest number of 
school students who are 
Gypsy/Roma. 
 

 

Data is provided at lower local authority level for asylum seekers and resettled refugees but 

only at upper tier local authority for unaccompanied asylum seeker children and Roma 

Travellers. 

Table K Summary of data relating to Asylum seekers, resettled refugees, Unaccompanied 

Asylum-Seeking Children and Roma Community in Y&tH 

Page 110



 

81 
 

Local Authority / 
ICS 

Number 
of 
asylum 
seekers 
in 
receipt 
of S95 
support 
(June 
2021) 

Number 
of 
resettled 
refugees 
(March 
2014 to 
June 
2021) 

Mid Year 
Population 
Estimate 
(2020) 

Number of 
asylum 
seekers in 
receipt of 
S95 
support 
per 1,000 
population 
(June 
2021) 

Number of 
resettled 
refugees 
per 1,000 
population 
(March 
2014 to 
June 
2021) 

Number of 
unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking 
children 
(UASC) looked 
after by the 
local authority 
(2020) 

Number of 
unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking 
children 
(UASC) per 
1,000 0-17 
population 
looked after by 
the local 
authority (2020) 

0-17 Mid 
Year 
Population 
Estimate 
(2020) 

Number 
of 
students 
classified 
as White: 
Gypsy 
Roma 
(January 
2020) 

Percentage 
of students 
classified 
as White: 
Gypsy 
Roma 
(January 
2020) 

Humber Coast & 
Vale 

          

East Riding of 
Yorkshire 

0 165 343201 0 0.5 13 0.2 63378 61 0.001 

Kingston upon 
Hull, City of 

511 135 259126 2 0.5 34 0.6 57585 133 0.003 

North East 
Lincolnshire 

93 38 159364 0.6 0.2 17 0.5 34460 36 0.001 

North Lincolnshire 2 57 172748 0 0.3 17 0.5 35677 57 0.002 

York 54 84 211012 0.3 0.4 0 0 36602 59 0.002 

North Yorkshire** 1 291 620610 0 0.5 19 0.2 117670 164 0.002 

Hambleton 0 60 91932 0 0.7           

Harrogate 1 61 161545 0 0.4           

Richmondshire 0 43 53732 0 0.8           

Ryedale 0 21 55629 0 0.4           

Scarborough 0 36 108737 0 0.3           

Selby 0 32 91697 0 0.3           

           

West Yorkshire           

Bradford 1040 635 542128 1.9 1.2 20 0.1 142619 987 0.01 

Calderdale 338 78 211439 1.6 0.4 8 0.2 45951 128 0.003 

Craven 0 38 57338 0 0.7           

Kirklees 621 147 441290 1.4 0.3 9 0.1 100020 49 0.001 

Leeds 999 383 798786 1.3 0.5 59 0.3 170581 1039 0.008 

Wakefield 346 129 351592 1 0.4 17 0.2 74986 48 0.001 

           

South Yorkshire           

Barnsley 346 23 248071 1.4 0.1 0 0 51621 65 0.002 

Doncaster 243 19 312785 0.8 0.1 0 0 67362 432 0.009 

Rotherham 465 38 264984 1.8 0.1 7 0.1 57453 564 0.012 

Sheffield 858 402 589214 1.5 0.7 22 0.2 118398 1669 0.02 

 

Page 111



 

82 
 

** Data relating to North Yorkshire cannot be aligned at ICS level as it includes data from 

Harrogate, Hambleton, Richmondshire, Ryedale, Scarborough, Selby which are all aligned 

with HCV but also includes data relating to Craven which is aligned with West Yorkshire ICS 

Data from the School Census has been provided to indicate concentrations of the Roma 

population at local authority level. The ethnic category used is ‘Gypsy/Roma’, so this may 

cover some wider Gypsy groups, however this is the best indicator. People from Roma 

communities experience high levels of tooth decay, which may be linked to a traditionally 

high sugar diet.    

Table L Summary table of prisons in Y&tH and numbers of prisoners at each site 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Name and category of prison Number of prisoners/patients at site 

HMP &YOI Doncaster (B) 1145 

HMP&YOI Hatfield (D) 378 

HMP Lindholme (C) 1010 

HMP Moorland (C) 1006 

HMP Wealstun (C) 832 

HMP Leeds (B) 1218 

HMP Hull (B) 1056 

HMP Humber (C) 1069 

HMP Wakefield (A) 750 

HMP Full Sutton (A/B) 546 

HMP Wetherby (male juvenile) 360 

HMP Newhall (Closed Category prison for 
female adults, juveniles and young 
offenders, with mother and baby unit)  

425 

HMP/YOI Askham Grange (open prison 
and young offender institute) 

128 

Adel Beck (secure children's home) 24 

Aldine House (secure children's centre) 10 

Wathwood Secure Hospital 78 

  

Page 112



 

83 
 

Despite the increased need for treatment, evidence suggests that people in prison 
infrequently seek dental care (Jones et al. 2005). This may be exacerbated by the limited 
service provision. All the prisons apart from HMP Hatfield and HMP Askham Grange, have 
access to on-site NHS dental services, which are commissioned as a tripartite agreement 
between NHSEI Health and Justice commissioning team, the dental provider and the 
healthcare provider.  Prisoners from Askham Grange are released on temporary licence to 
access dental services at a local community dental service clinic. Prisoners from HMP 
Hatfield may be released on temporary licence to access dental services at HMP Moorland 
or out in the wider community. There is no in-house dental service in the children’s secure 
units, but there is a dental clinic at the secure hospital. 
Currently, prison dental services in Yorkshire and the Humber provide on average a range of 
approximately 1 to 6 sessions per week, so the clinics are unused for much of the week. The 
capacity has been adversely impacted by restrictions in prisons due to COVID-19, which 
meant that services were only able to deliver a restricted service. Whilst provision of urgent 
dental care was maintained throughout the pandemic, routine care resumed after several 
months but was prohibited during outbreak period. Mobilisation has also been affected by 
the need for extensive post-AGP (aerosol generating procedure) downtime due to poor 
ventilation, and lack of trained staff available to provide the alarm bell response 
requirements. Long waiting times have been particularly reported at HMP Lindholme. 
The transient nature of the prison population, as a result of people having short sentences or 
being relocated to other facilities, also means courses of treatment are often disrupted or left 
incomplete (NAPDUK 2013). Providers of dental healthcare services are faced with 
challenges, including funding for healthcare services and staffing (including recruitment, 
retention and training) (Heidari et al. 2014). A managed clinical network for the North East 

and Yorkshire has been set up to provide peer support and drive improvements to services.  
The challenges affecting delivery of dental care in prisons in Y&tH include: 

• Opportunities and funding to enable refurbishment of dental suites to meet national 
standards of infection prevention and control, improve ventilation and improve prison 
safety and security for dental staff 

• Access for prisoners with disabilities, such as provision of lifts and wheelchair-
accessible dental suites. 

• Enablement of transport and prison staffing to take prisoners to other 
prisons/hospitals for dental care  

• Consistency and reporting of dental care via FP17 forms 

• Provision of care in the local community for prisoners released on temporary licence 
(ROTL). 

• Continuity of care for those transferred to other prisons or released back into the 
community. 
 

Further work is required is around oral health promotion, through working in partnership with 
other services e.g. stop smoking services, and making use of prison health champions for    
peer support. Dental services also need to develop a stronger voice within the healthcare 
team.  
 
Recommendations, which are supported by a recent PHE survey (PHE. 2019) 
Responsibility for dental services in secure settings lies with the NHSEI Health and Justice 
commissioning team. Recommendations for the Health and Justice commissioning team and 
secure settings MCN include: 
 
• Undertake an Oral health needs assessment and service review of prison dental services 
at prison level in Y&tH to inform continued collaborative working between prisons, 
commissioning teams and providers to ensure need is aligned with oral health prevention, 
service provision and in-line with current national guidance . This should include the whole 
pathway right from initial assessment upon reception, prevention and treatment services 

Page 113



 

84 
 

whilst in prison and continuity of care upon transfer to another prison or release back into the 
community.    
• Undertake an inventory of fixtures, fittings and equipment at each prison dental service, 
and ensure HMPPS, NHSEI and the providers understand each other’s roles and 
responsibilities around capital funding and ongoing maintenance to meet national standards 
including those related to: infection prevention and control, ventilation, safety and security. 
• Ensure new build dental suites or refurbishments meet national standards from the outset, 
particularly around infection prevention and control and ventilation.  
• Improve recording and reporting of dental activity. 
• Develop good relationships between the dental staff and prison healthcare. 
• Encourage prevention and oral health promotion both within the prison dental services and 
in partnership with other prison services to encourage MECC. 
• Develop the prison dental workforce and MCN, and drive improvements to prison dental 
services.  
• Increase clinical capacity, particularly where longer waiting times are being experienced. 
 
Oral health inequalities – vulnerable groups 
People with longstanding medical conditions 
 
Data regarding the prevalence of the following long-standing medical conditions (diabetes) 
and those individuals that have alcohol related health problems and are dependent upon 
drugs and alcohol is available on a Yorkshire and the Humber and local authority footprint for 
those aged 18-64 and is available via PANSI data (see table M) for older people with the 
following conditions via POPPI data (see table N): 
 

• Older people: 
• With cardio-vascular disease 
• With dementia 
• Living alone 
• Predicted to be living in a care home 
• With obesity 

 
Disadvantaged groups 
 
Prevalence between Local Authorities and ICS footprints are predicted to be almost identical 
regardless of the location of the local authority or the ICS footprint. From PANSI data there 
appeared to be no predicted increase or decrease in the prevalence of the specific 
conditions below at the level of local authority or ICS footprint or between 2020-2040. Any 
predicted change being between 1-2%. 
 
Table M: PANSI data relating to prevalence of health inequalities 2021 for those aged 18-64 years of age 

  
Inequality Percentage of 2020 population in Y&tH predicted 

to be affected 

Alcohol related health problems 4-5% 

Diabetes 3-4% 

Dependent upon drugs 3-4% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



 

85 
 

Table N POPPI data relating to prevalence of health inequalities 2021 for those aged 65 
years and over  
 

Inequality Percentage of 2020 population in Y&tH predicted 
to be affected 

Cardio-vascular disease 31-32% 

Dementia 7% 

Diabetes 12-13% 

Living alone 32-33% 

Predicted to be living in a care home 3-4% 

Obesity 30% 

 

Access 
 
Figure O: Proportion of the population (0-17 years of age) in Local Authorities  in  
Yorkshire & the Humber (expressed as a percentage) accessing primary dental care between Jul-Dec 
2019 and Jul-Dec 2020 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 (

ex
p

re
ss

ed
 a

s 
a 

p
er

ce
n

ta
ge

) 
o

f 
th

e 
p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 

Local Authority

Proportion of the population of children (aged 0-17 years of age) accessing primary NHS dental 
services between July-Dec 2019 and Jul-Dec 2020 

Proportion of 0-17 population accessing services Jul-Dec 2019

Proportion of 0-17 population accessing services Jul-Dec 2020

Page 115



 

86 
 

Figure P: Proportion of the population (aged 18 years and over) in Local Authorities  in Yorkshire & the 
Humber (expressed as a percentage) accessing primary dental care between Jul-Dec 2019 and Jul-Dec 
2020 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45

P
o

p
ro

ti
o

n
 (

ex
p

re
ss

ed
 a

s 
a 

p
er

ce
n

ta
ge

) 
o

f 
ad

u
lt

s 
in

 
Yo

rk
sh

ir
e 

&
 H

u
m

b
er

Local Authority

Proportion of the population of adults (aged 18 years and over) accessing primary 
NHS dental services between July-Dec 2019 and July-Dec 2020 in Y&tH  

Proportion of adult population accessing services Jul-Dec 2019

Proportion of adult population accessing services Jul-Dec 2020

Page 116



 

87 
 

Figure Q: Proportion of the population (0-17 and 18 years and over) in Local 
Authorities  in Yorkshire & the Humber (expressed as a percentage) accessing 
primary dental care between Jul-Dec 2019 and Jul-Dec 2020 

 

 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

South Yorkshire ICS West Yorkshire ICS Humber Coast and Vale ICS

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
ad

u
lt

s 
an

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

 (
ex

p
re

ss
ed

 a
s 

a 
p

er
ce

n
ta

ge
) 

in
 Y

o
rk

sh
ir

e 
an

d
 t

h
e 

H
u

m
b

er

ICS

Change in the proportion (expressed as a percentage of the population of 0-17 
year olds and adults (18 years and over) accessing NHS primary dental services 

between July and Dec 2019 and July and Dec 2020 by ICS footprint in Y&tH

Proportion of 0-17 population accessing services Jul-Dec 2019

Proportion of 0-17 population accessing services Jul-Dec 2020

Proportion of adult population accessing services Jul-Dec 2019

Proportion of adult population accessing services Jul-Dec 2020

Page 117



 

88 
 

Workforce 

Figure 28 Numbers of dental specialist registrars by location and specialty in Y&tH between 2019 and 

2020 

 

 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Bradford 2019

Bradford 2021

CCDH 2020

City Healthcare 2019

City Healthcare 2021

Hull 2020

LDI 2020

Mid Yorks 2019

Mid Yorks 2021

Calderdale 2021

Number of specialist registrars

Lo
ca

ti
o

n
 o

f 
tr

ai
n

in
g 

si
te

 a
n

d
 y

ea
r

Numbers of dental specialist registrar by location and 
specialty in Yorkshire and the Humber between 2019 and 

2020

Dental Public Health Dental and maxillofacial Radiology
Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology Oral Medicine
Oral Surgery Orthodontics
Paediatric Dentistry Restorative Dentistry
Special Care Dentistry

Page 118



 

1 
 

 

 

Rapid Oral Health  

Needs Assessment 

Yorkshire & the Humber 

May 2022 

 

 

 

 

Understanding oral health inequalities in Yorkshire 

and the Humber and the evidence base 

South Yorkshire 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 119



 

2 
 

Foreword 

Please note it is the intention that this ICS focussed document is read in conjunction with the 

main document Rapid Oral Health Needs Assessment, Yorkshire and the Humber, May 

2022.  This supplemental document provides highlights from the main document for a 

specific ICS (South Yorkshire ICS), where data has been available at the level of local 

authority, which could then be aligned with a specific ICS geographical footprint.  The main 

document provides greater detail, and additional sections, in relation to oral health needs, 

the evidence base, oral health inequalities and recommendations for Yorkshire and the 

Humber region, including the other Y&tH ICS footprints.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 120



 

3 
 

Rapid Oral Health Needs Assessment Yorkshire & the Humber 2022 
South Yorkshire ICS 

Contents 
 

Contents                                                                                           Page 

1. Foreword                                                                                               2 

2. Executive summary                                                                               4 

3. Aims and objectives                                                                               6 

4. Population demographics                                                                      6 

5. Oral health of children                                                                            8 

6. Oral health of adults                                                                               9 

7. Oral cancer                                                                                           10 

8. Oral health inequalities                                                                         11 

9. Access to NHS dental care and impact of COVID-19                           13                                                                                                              

10. Patient and public engagement                                                             14 

11. Recommendations in reducing oral health inequalities                         17                                                    

12. Appendix                                                                                                20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 121



 

4 
 

Executive Summary  

The purpose of this rapid oral health needs assessment is to help understand the oral health 

inequalities across Yorkshire and the Humber (Y&tH) and the evidence base in order to  

inform principles underpinning strategy and work programme development; address 

inequalities; and meet population need and demand. It also supports a multi-stakeholder 

approach to the commissioning of prevention programmes to improve oral health and reduce 

oral health inequalities.   

Poor oral health is largely preventable and is essential for good general health throughout 

the life course, enabling individuals to eat, speak, and socialise without pain or 

embarrassment. 

I. Limitations of the Rapid Oral Health Needs Assessment 

 

It is important to acknowledge the limitations when considering the findings including: 

 

• Availability, accessibility, robustness, and the timeframe to collate relevant datasets. 

• The focus of this rapid oral health needs assessment has been on identifying oral health 

inequalities, with recommendations based on principle. There will be a need for further 

investigation of the data to develop an understanding of where prioritisation is needed, 

aligned with services and care pathways. 

• Limitations of available evidence on oral health inequalities related to: 

• Protected characteristics with mixed or inconclusive evidence related to pregnancy/ 

maternity and religion, and limited data available for oral health inequalities related to 

ethnicity but evidence related to oral cancer, caries, and tooth loss. 

• Vulnerable groups – prisoners, Gypsy Roma, and Traveller communities, looked after 

children and bariatric patients. 

• This rapid oral health needs assessment does not provide a comprehensive overview of 

the totality of commissioned dental services in Y&tH e.g. dental services commissioned 

by Health and Justice in secure settings, nor identify any gaps in service provision, but it 

does provide recommendations in relation to prioritisation of care pathway work to inform 

future commissioning and service model design. 

 

II. Key findings from Yorkshire and the Humber 

 

• Inequalities in oral health exist with those in the most deprived areas experiencing poorer 

oral health across all age groups. 

• 3-year-olds in Y&tH have the greatest experience of tooth decay nationally (Y&H – 15%; 

England 12%). 

• By the age of 5-years in Yorkshire and the Humber, 29% have experience of tooth 

decay, the second highest prevalence nationally (England 23%) (Range Ryedale – 11% 

to Sheffield – 41%). 

• For those children with experience of tooth decay, by the time they reach 5 years of age 

they will on average have 4 teeth that are either decayed, extracted, or filled (Range: 

Craven 2 – Bradford 4.3 teeth).  

• Tooth decay can cause problems with eating, sleeping, communication and socialising, 

and can result in missed days from school for hospital extractions and time off work for 

carers. 

Page 122



 

5 
 

• Tooth decay is still the most common reason for hospital admissions in the 6-10-year-old 

age group and 2-3% of children in Local Authorities across South Yorkshire had teeth 

extracted under general anaesthetic in 2019, the highest levels seen nationally.   

• There is evidence of oral health inequalities associated with disability in terms of caries, 

dental access, tooth loss, traumatic dental injuries, oral health behaviours and quality of 

life. 

• Y&tH has an ageing population. Over the next two decades the population of older adults 
(65+ years) is expected to increase by 33% and for those aged 85+ years is expected to 
increase by 66%. 42% of mildly dependant older adults had a functional dentition (21 or 
more teeth) with an expectation of retaining their teeth for life. 

• Incidence of oral cancer is significantly higher in Y&tH when compared with England.  

• There are limited contractual levers from which to re-distribute resource to promote oral 

health prevention and support dentists in treating high needs patients. 

• A health equity audit should be used to determine equity of access to dental services, 

including urgent care services, and evaluate the outcomes from initiatives to improve 

access across Y&tH, the findings of which should inform future commissioning decisions. 

Top priorities: 

Particular consideration should be given to those that have both the greatest dental need 

and experience challenges in accessing routine and urgent dental care. This includes 

individuals and communities that are deprived, vulnerable children known to the social care 

system, individuals with severe physical and/or learning disabilities, those with poor mental 

health, older adults, homeless, asylum seekers, refugees and migrants. Data and evidence 

surrounding oral health inequalities is variable and complex, but we know that they also exist 

in relation to oral cancer as well as in vulnerable groups with long-standing medical 

conditions, substance misuse, prisoners/prison leavers and Gypsy, Roma, and Traveller 

communities. 

As a priority, a Community Dental Service (CDS) service review should encompass the 

entire special care dentistry and paediatric pathway and consider benefits of a Referral 

Management System (RMS). A service review of prison dental services in Yorkshire and the 

Humber is being undertaken separately. Considering the complex needs of the older and 

ageing population, care pathways for housebound or those living in residential and nursing 

settings should be reviewed. The review of current dental services for people with no fixed 

abode in Y&tH can be used to inform robust care pathway design, commissioned models 

and support implementation. 

 
Available Healthwatch reports were used to inform the rapid needs assessment. It is 

important that commissioned dental services including service design and development work 

consider the views, beliefs, and experiences of the public and patients living in Y&tH to 

improve patient safety, experience, and health outcomes. Building on work to date, NHSEI 

should continue to work in partnership with key stakeholders, including Healthwatch, to 

maximise opportunities to ensure patient centred services improve access, reduce 

inequalities in communities and make better use of resources. 

 

 

 

 

Page 123



 

6 
 

Aim: 
 
The aim is to support commissioning teams with prioritisation and targeting of oral health 
care provision to reduce inequalities to access to NHS dental care across Y&tH.    
 
Objectives: 
 

• Use readily available data sources to highlight predicted population demographics, 
prevalence of oral health disease and oral health inequalities and inequities across 
Yorkshire and the Humber. 

 

• To utilise the initial findings to inform targeted work to explore how oral health 
inequalities and inequities can be addressed and inform future workstreams. 

 
Integrated Care Systems (ICS) 
 
Where possible local authority data has been aligned with the current geographical footprints 
of South Yorkshire Integrated Care System (ICS) which is outlined in table 1 below.   
 
Table 1: ICS footprint aligned with Yorkshire & the Humber Local Authorities  
 

ICS Local Authority 

South Yorkshire Barnsley 

 Doncaster 

 Rotherham 

 Sheffield 

 
Data relating specifically to Bassetlaw is not included due to the changes in ICS footprint i.e. Bassetlaw will move 
into Nottingham and Nottinghamshire ICS.’ (DHSC. 2021). 

 

Population demographics 

Across Y&tH the local authorities vary in terms of their size and population demographics, 
with some areas having a differential proportion of children, working age adults and older 
adults (Table 2) and the distribution of that population within the geography (Figure 2). 
 
There are densely populated areas of South Yorkshire which presents challenges for the 
planning and delivery of dental services, including location and distribution of services and 
recruitment and retention of dental team members. 
 
Table 3 summarises the predicted trends in population demographics at ICS level across 
Yorkshire & the Humber between 2020-2040 (see also Appendix – population Tables A-E). 
Over the next two decades, the all age population of Yorkshire and the Humber is expected 
to increase by 6%. Similar increases are expected in most Y&tH local authorities. The 
populations of all local authorities in South Yorkshire are expected to increase at a rate 
greater than that of Yorkshire and the Humber. In most Local Authorities the falling birth rate 
is reflected in the predicted reduction in the child population, with the exception of 
Rotherham, Sheffield, Barnsley. 
 
Of most significance is the predicted 33% increase in the population of older adults (65+ 
years), across Y&tH and 66% increase in the population of 85+ age group which is 
consistent across all Local Authorities. This highlights the need to develop dental services 
that meet the dental needs of this ageing population in terms of managing patients with co-
morbidities and polypharmacy, training for the dental team and estates (refer to section on 
adult oral health). 

Page 124



 

7 
 

 
Challenges exist in the mechanisms that are available to enable the commissioning of dental 
services that align with population growth. 
 

Table 2 Population of Y&tH by local authority and SY ICS by age group, 2020. 

LA / ICS All ages 0-19 20-64 65+ 85+ 
      

South Yorkshire 1,415,054 328,263 830,705 256,086 32,561 

Barnsley 248,071 56,154 143,257 48,660 5,750 

Doncaster 312,785 73,197 179,264 60,324 7,427 

Rotherham 264,984 62,673 149,923 52,388 6,223 

Sheffield 589,214 136,239 358,261 94,714 13,161 
      

Y&tH 5,526,350 13,330,355 32,755,764 1,042,314 133,392 

ENGLAND 56,550,138 1,303,008 3,181,028 10,464,019 1,406,410 

 

Table 3:  Predicted change in population for Y&tH by local authority and SY ICS (2020-
2040) 

 

LA / ICS % change 2020-2040 

0-19 years 20-64 years 65+ years 85+ years All ages 

      

South Yorkshire 1% 4% 32% 60% 8% 

Barnsley 1% 3% 42% 76% 10% 

Doncaster -5% 2% 35% 65% 7% 

Rotherham 2% 3% 28% 70% 7% 

Sheffield 5% 6% 27% 44% 9% 
      

Y&tH -2% 0% 33% 66% 6% 

 

Deprivation 
 
The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is the official measure of relative deprivation in 
England and is part of a suite of outputs that form the Indices of Deprivation (IoD). It follows 
an established methodological framework in broadly defining deprivation to encompass a 
wide range of an individual’s living conditions.  
 
Deprivation is one measure of the diversity of the population of Yorkshire and the Humber. 
More deprived areas are found in highly populated urban areas and along the North Sea 
coast. Deprivation is strongly correlated with poor oral health, particularly tooth decay (all 
ages) and oral cancer in adults. 
 
Ethnicity 
 
Ethnicity is an important factor to consider in relation to oral health inequalities but the 
impacts upon oral health are further complicated due to variability in findings from research 
highlighting the need for further investigation. There are ethnically diverse populations 

Page 125



 

8 
 

across Yorkshire and the Humber and local knowledge will be important to identify any oral 
health inequalities within communities. 
 
Table 4 Ethnicity variations by local authority in Yorkshire & the Humber for SY ICS (source ONS census 
2011) 

 

Local 
authority/ICS 

White Mixed/multiple 
ethnic group 

Asian/ 
Asian British 

Black/African/ 
Caribbean/Black 
British 

Other ethnic 
group 

      

South Yorkshire       

Barnsley 97.76% 0.59% 0.84% 0.59% 0.23% 

Doncaster 95.20% 0.86% 2.66% 0.85% 0.42% 

Rotherham 93.83% 0.69% 4.06% 0.88% 0.54% 

Sheffield 84.07% 1.73% 8.47% 3.60% 2.14% 

 

Oral Health of Children 

Oral health of 3-year-old children  
 
The second national survey of 3-year-old pre-school children, attending nurseries, both 
private and state funded, nursery classes attached to schools and play groups was carried 
out in 2020. Although most three-year-old children were free from visually obvious tooth 
decay, the proportion of children experiencing tooth decay in Yorkshire and the Humber was 
14.7% which is higher than the national figure of 10.7% and the worst region in the country. 
When data are examined at local authority level in SY ICS, the prevalence of tooth decay 
was lowest in Sheffield (0.9%) (Table 5). 
 
In the Doncaster local authority area cessation of the survey due to the COVID-19 pandemic 

meant that the field work teams were unable to visit any nurseries. Therefore, the results 

should be interpreted with caution. 

Table 5:  Oral health experience of 3-year-olds in Yorkshire and the Humber, 2020 

Upper-Tier LA Name/ICS % d3mft>0 
including 
Incisors 

Mean d3mft inc 
Incisors (d3mft>0 
inc Incisors) 

% with 
incisor 
caries 

Care Index % inc 
Incisors (ft/d3mft 
including Incisors) 

% with 
pufa 

South Yorkshire 
     

Barnsley 10.8 †† 5.4 0.0 0.0 

Doncaster***      

Rotherham 16.2 2.4 4.7 4.3 0.0 

Sheffield 0.9 †† 0.0 0.0 0.4 
      

Y&tH~ 14.7 2.9 3.9 4.6 0.5 

England 10.7 2.9 3.4 4.4 0.4 

*Did not participate in survey 

**Includes Craven 
***LAs did not visit any nurseries due to Covid-19 
†Based on fewer than 30 volunteers with decay experience 
††Insufficient numbers for estimate 
~Excludes Doncaster; East Riding of Yorkshire; Kingston Upon Hull; Kirklees; York 
PUFA – presence of pain, ulceration, fistulae or abscess – a measure of sepsis 

 

Page 126



 

9 
 

Oral health of 5-year-old children 
 
In 2019 the prevalence of tooth decay (% dmft>0) in five-year-old children in Y&tH was the 
second highest in the country with 29% of children examined experiencing tooth decay 
(England-23%) (Table 6). Within SY all Local Authorities have a disease prevalence which is 
greater than England and Y&tH (Table 6). 
 
Table 6:  Oral health experience of 5-year-olds in Yorkshire and the Humber, SY ICS 2019 

 
Local Authority / ICS % d3mft > 0  Mean d3mft 

(d3mft > 0) 
% with 
sepsis 

% with incisor 
caries 

Care Index % 
(ft/d3mft) 

      

South Yorkshire 
     

Barnsley 39.6 4.1 1.9 11.3 8.9 

Doncaster 37.2 3.7 3.0 9.3 11.1 

Rotherham 31.6 3.5 1.2 9.7 7.4 

Sheffield 41.0 4.0 1.2 15.4 7.2 

Yorkshire and the 
Humber 

28.7 3.8 1.4 7.6 9.2 

England 23.4 3.4 1.0 5.2 10.3 

 

Hospital dental extractions 
 
Tooth decay is still the most common reason for hospital admissions in the 6-10-year old 
age group (PHE, 2021) Hospital tooth extractions of 0 to 19 year olds - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk).  
 
Across England during 2019/20 there has been a 5.9% reduction in the number of episodes 
of caries-related tooth extractions in hospital for 0 to 19-year olds compared to the previous 
year, despite a 0.3% increase in the estimated population of this age group. The reduction is 
mainly due to the significant drop in the number of admissions for tooth extractions in March 
2020. This is consistent with the reduction for all admissions to hospital during this month 
because of the SARS-CoV-2 outbreak. 
 
Children from deprived backgrounds are more likely to access these services, a reflection of 
the inequality of distribution of dental caries in the population. 
 
The proportion of 0-19-year olds having GA for extraction is higher than England for all local 

authorities in South Yorkshire as is the proportion of 0-19, 0-5- and 6-10-years having GA for 

extraction with tooth decay as the primary diagnosis (Table F appendix). Note - caution in 

interpreting this data as activity from Hull and East Riding is not captured in HES data. 

 

Oral health of adults 

Oral health survey of adults attending general dental practices, 2018 

 
Adults (16+ years) attending general dental practices for any reason, were recruited to take 
part in the Oral health survey of adults attending general dental practices 2018 (PHE.2020), 
the first of its type. The survey consisted of a questionnaire on the impact of oral problems 
on individuals, use of dental services and barriers to receipt of care and a brief clinical 

Page 127

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/891208/AiP_survey_for_England_2018.pdf


 

10 
 

examination conducted by trained local epidemiology teams under standardised conditions 
(data relating to SY can be found in table G in the appendix). 

 

Mildly Dependant Older Adults (2016) 
 
In response to the increasing proportion of older people in the population and the need to 
understand the oral health needs of community dwelling older people in the context of their 
particular health and social care needs, in 2015 the National Dental Epidemiology 
Programme for England (NDPHEP) undertook the first dental epidemiological survey of 
adults living in supported housing and which explored their oral health and dental service 
use Oral health survey of mildly dependent older people 2016 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk).  
  
The method was implemented as a pilot and as there is no directly comparable data to use 
which could help to show trends, information from the England data subset of the 2009 Adult 
Dental Health Survey (ADHS) (ONS.2011) (Adult Dental Health Survey 2009 - Summary 
report and thematic series - NHS Digital) was used to give broad comparators, but the 
results provide baseline data for this population. 
 
There was general consistency in the findings across this survey and the ADHS. Across all 
variables reported Y&H was broadly similar to England, but there were some variations at 
local authority level. 
 
Highlighted key findings with a SY focus include:  
 
Oral health 

• 9% of participants reported having oral pain on the day of the examination while 8% 
were found to have an open pulp, ulceration, fistula or an abscess (Y&H – 10.7%,  
Rotherham – 27%). 

• 27% were edentulous (no natural teeth) (Doncaster – 53.8%). 
 

Treatment need and service use 

• 14.8% had full dentures in need of replacement (Y&H – 14.8%, Doncaster – 25.9%, 
Sheffield – 25%). 

• 13% had partial dentures in need of replacement (Y&H – 15.1%, Doncaster – 
41.2%). 
 

Oral Cancer 

In 2020 PHE published a first report describing the incidence, survival and mortality rates for 
oral cancer in England, 2012 to 2016 (PHE, 2020). The report uses two categories for 
reporting based on International Classification of Diseases (ICD) version 10: lip, oral cavity 
and pharynx (C00-C14) and oral cavity (C00- C06). The latter grouping features cancers of 
sites likely to be visible in a dental examination. Note - the report excludes the very low 
incidence of malignant head and neck neoplasms of bone (C41) or soft tissue (C45-C49) 
which may occur in the mouth and in situ or benign neoplasms of uncertain behaviour. The 
latter may be under-recorded in the cancer registry but are important to note as these and 
pre-cancerous conditions contribute to dental referrals for investigation. 
 
In England from 2012 to 2016 there were 35,830 new cases of oral cancer diagnosed and 
10,908 deaths (PHE. 2020). Incidence and mortality rates for oral cancer have risen in 
recent years and there are stark inequalities between geographic areas and population 
groups. Source: Oral cancer in England: a report on incidence, survival and mortality rates of 
oral cancer in England, 2012 to 2016 (publishing.service.gov.uk) 
 

Page 128

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-survey-of-mildly-dependent-older-people-2016
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-dental-health-survey/adult-dental-health-survey-2009-summary-report-and-thematic-series
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-dental-health-survey/adult-dental-health-survey-2009-summary-report-and-thematic-series
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/891699/Oral_cancer_report_170420.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/891699/Oral_cancer_report_170420.pdf


 

11 
 

Incidence of C00-C14 in Y&tH was higher than for England overall.  The majority of lower-
tier local authority areas in which incidence was greater than for England were densely 
populated urban centres in the North (Table H appendix).  
 
Mortality due to C00-C14 in Y&H was higher (NS) than the England rate. At lower-tier local 
authority level the areas in which mortality was less than the England rate were typically 
rural and those in which it was greater than for England were typically urban. Mortality was 
greater than the England rate in lower-tier local authority areas covering densely populated 
cities (Table H appendix). 
 
There was evident variation in incidence and mortality between income deprivation quintiles 
with rates increasing steadily as income deprivation increases. 
 

Oral Health Inequalities 

Oral Health inequalities 
 
The PHE inequalities in Oral Health in England (PHE, 2021) document outlines the various 
dimensions of inequality. Key summaries and relevant sections of the document are outlined 
below and have been used to: 
 

• Identify those groups and individuals where oral health inequalities exist 

• Understand the impact of those inequalities upon oral health such as increased oral 
disease and/ or barriers accessing dental care 

 
Barriers to dental service use have been found for those with protected characteristics and 
vulnerable groups at individual, organisational and policy level although availability of data is 
variable (Table 9). 
 
Table 9: Scoping Review of oral health inequalities in the UK: overview of findings (PHE 2021) 
 

 
 

 

Protected characteristics 

Disability (including poor Mental Health) 

Page 129



 

12 
 

  
Disability is defined as a ‘physical or mental impairment that has a substantial and long-term 
negative effect on the ability to do normal daily activities. Disability is a protected 
characteristic and defined in the Equality Act 2010.  
 
There is some evidence to show oral health inequalities related to disability and tooth decay, 
tooth loss, dental traumatic injuries, oral health quality of life, oral health related behaviours 
and service use (lower dental attendance). These groups may be more challenging to treat 
with some requiring specialist input.   
 
Table 10 outlines the prevalence of some disabilities in the Y&tH region from data that was 
available. 
 
Table 10: PANSI data 2021 for data relating to the prevalence of protected 
characteristics and health inequalities for those aged those aged 18-64 years of age 
  

Inequality % of 2020 population in Y&tH predicted to be affected 

Common mental health disorder 19% 

Downs Syndrome 0.06% 

Severe Hearing Impairment 0-1% 

Learning Disability 2.4% 

Autistic Spectrum Disorders 1% 

Impaired Mobility 5-6% 

 
Children with learning and/or physical disabilities in residential schools 
 
Oral health leads from Local Authorities were invited to provide data on residential schools 
for children with learning or physical disabilities (Table I appendix). Based on this data, there 
are just under 500 children with various disabilities living in residential schools across the 
region (for South Yorkshire ICS there are around 152 children aged 3 to 25, further details 
can be found in the appendix table I). 
 
 
Vulnerable groups  
 
Evidence suggests that vulnerable groups such as homeless people, prisoners, Gypsy, 
Roma and Traveller communities, refugees and looked after children have poorer oral health 
and have considerable difficulty accessing care (Table 9). Homeless people have higher 
levels of untreated decay and periodontal disease and poorer oral health related quality of 
life than the general population. 
 
Further detail in relation to people with longstanding medical conditions, migrants, asylum 
seekers, resettled refugees, unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASC) and Roma 
Community can be found in the appendix (including tables J and K). 

 

Homeless 
 
The highest prevalence of statutory homelessness across Yorkshire and the Humber can be 
found in larger cities like Sheffield and in areas such as Doncaster. Source: PHE fingertips 
Statutory homelessness (eligible people not in priority need) in Y&tH by District & UA  
2017/2018  

 

 

Page 130



 

13 
 

Dental Access 

Access to NHS dentistry in SY ICS and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
 
Data from NHS Digital reveals variation in access as a proportion of the population for adults 

and children by upper tier local authority in SY ICS (see table 11) 

Table 11: Patients seen in the previous 24 months and child patients seen in the previous 12 months as a 
percentage of the population, by patient type and LA up to 30th June 2021. 

 
Local Authority / ICS Adult (18 years and older) Child (0-17.99 years of age) 

    
  

South Yorkshire   

Barnsley 51.7 32.4 

Doncaster 53.4 33.1 

Rotherham 51.4 32.3 

Sheffield 53.0 36.7 

 

Impact of COVID-19 on NHS dental access 
 
The dental sector has faced challenges since March 2020 at the start of the pandemic due to 
the relatively high proportion of aerosol generating procedures (AGPs) undertaken. Initially 
dental practices were asked to close and urgent dental centres (UDCs) were established for 
patients in pain. 
 
Practices reopened for the provision of face to face care in June 2020 and have steadily 
increased the activity that they can provide since then. The Chief Dental Officer asked dental 
primary dental care to prioritise patients according to their clinical need, due to reduced 
capacity. The starting point was a requirement to deliver at least 20% of normal activity 
volumes and this has gradually increased to a current minimum of 85% of pre-Covid activity 
until March 2022. Whilst restoration of NHS dental activity continues, it will be some time 
before dental services return to providing care at previous activity levels, with many dental 
practices still catching up on a backlog.    
 
COVID-19 has had an impact upon individuals accessing health services including dentistry. 
A methodology identifying unique patients as a proxy measure for access was developed in 
the North East of England to explore the impact of the pandemic on NHS dental access. 
 
In Yorkshire & the Humber there was a decrease by 81% (74% - England) in the proportion 
of children (aged 0-17 years) accessing NHS primary dental care and for adults (18 years 
and over) a decrease of 73% (68% - England)  
 

Within Y&tH, variations in the proportion of the population of children (aged 0-17 years of 
age) and adults accessing primary NHS dental services were apparent between local 
authorities in SY ICS (see table 12). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 131



 

14 
 

Table 12: Proportion of the population (0-17 and 18 years and over) in Local Authorities in ST ICS (expressed as 
a percentage) accessing primary dental care between Jul-Dec 2019 and Jul-Dec 2020 

 
Local Authority / 
ICS 

Proportion of 0-17 
population 
accessing services 
Jul-Dec 2019 

Proportion of 0-17 
population 
accessing 
services Jul-Dec 
2020 

Proportion of 
adult population 
accessing 
services Jul-Dec 
2019 

Proportion of 
adult population 
accessing 
services Jul-Dec 
2020 

     

South Yorkshire 50% 9% 35% 9% 

Barnsley 50 7 35 8 

Doncaster 48 9 37 10 

Rotherham 52 9 39 10 

Sheffield 50 10 33 9 

 

NHS Dental Care sites 

Using the SHAPE mapping tool to provide a broad outline of the location of NHS dental 
practices/sites of care 
  
Figure 8 South Yorkshire ICS NHS dental sites 
 

 
 
Patient Engagement 

The summary below outlines the views, experiences and concerns raised via public and 
patient engagement from across the SY ICS. Data was not available for every local authority 
area, but it is acknowledged that there may be on-going workstreams by groups 
representing patients such as Healthwatch, third parties and by Local Authorities.  
 
It is important to note that whilst there are important issues of concern there has also been 
positive feedback from patients accessing NHS dental care including experiences of being 
made to feel welcome, staff were helpful and they felt safe with reports that dentists were 
taking appropriate cross infection control measures to protect staff and patients.  
 
Areas of concern are common across the region and relate primarily to access, availability, 
affordability and communication relating to NHS dental services. Reports acknowledge the 
challenges encountered during the COVID-19 pandemic but recommend different 
commissioning approaches to address the areas of concern. 

Page 132



 

15 
 

Table 15 Summary of challenges highlighted by Y&tH Healthwatch in SY ICS areas in relation to 
dental access 

 
LA/ICS Source of data Main areas of concern Recommendations 

Sth Yorkshire    

Sheffield Healthwatch NHS Dental Services: 

• Access  

• Communication of services 
available 

(particularly during the pandemic) 

Addressing the concerns raised 

 
N.B. Reports have been aligned with closest ICS geographical footprint.  

 

Recommendations aligned with life course approach 
 
Infancy and Early Years 
Infants and young children with experience of tooth decay are more likely to have poorer oral 
health throughout their lifetime. Tooth decay causes pain, affects eating and leads to time off 
school for children and time off work for carers. It is important they get the best start in life 
by:  

• Universal implementation and promotion of the of Dental Check by One (DCby1) and for 
further reviews at least once a year thereafter. 

• Maximising the skill mix of the dental workforce to deliver oral health preventive 
messages including oral hygiene, diet advice and applying fluoride varnish.  

• Using evidence based oral health improvement programmes including distribution of 
toothbrushing packs, supervised tooth brushing schemes, and training the wider early 
years workforce to deliver oral health prevention to those at high risk and facilitate 
access to NHS dental care. 

Childhood and Adolescence   
Oral health improvement programmes are essential to support families in developing good 

oral health practices, but provision varies across the region and there is a need to address 

inequities to programmes.   

 

Working age and adults  

 

• Partnership working across the health and social care system, maximising the skills of 

the wider health and social care workforce can help to reduce those risks by making 

every contact count including signposting patients to services dedicated to mental health, 

diabetes, stop smoking, drug and alcohol and in achieving and maintaining a healthy 

weight.   

Older People 

• Good oral health is important for quality of life, nutrition and hydration and is linked with 

general health. Poor oral health has been linked with aspiration pneumonia, poor 

diabetes control and heart disease. 

• An ageing population across the whole region will put pressure upon dental services.  
Prevention is key. As people retain teeth for longer, the maintenance of a heavily 
restored dentition is complicated and expensive, and often compounded by failing 
general health, polypharmacy causing a dry mouth, and the ability to self-care. It is 
essential that those who care for others are trained to provide mouthcare and dental 
services meet the needs of patients who are housebound.  

Page 133



 

16 
 

• Dental services for older people must be more integrated within the wider health and 
social care landscape. This will need to be supported by developments in training, 
information sharing and referral pathways. 

• In order to develop holistic patient-centred services, varying levels of prevention and 
care need to be available as part of the same care pathway. This may mean a service 
providing domiciliary care for routine prevention and simple treatments, plus access to 
public transport and multi-specialist centres for more complex treatments. 

Increasing integration with general medical and social services for older adults would mean 
that patients with progressive long-term conditions could receive a dental assessment and 
treatment plan when their long-term condition is diagnosed. This would allow a proactive 
approach to ensure the patient is dentally healthy before their general health makes 
treatment provision difficult and would facilitate earlier access to dental staff with experience 
of providing dental care for older adults and knowledge of the complexities involved. 
 
Top priorities and recommendations for reducing oral health inequalities in all ICS 
footprints: 
Particular consideration could be given to those that have both the greatest dental need and 
experience challenges in accessing routine and urgent dental care including individuals and 
communities that are deprived and vulnerable children known to the social care system, 
individuals with severe physical and/or learning disabilities, poor mental health, older adults, 
homeless, asylum seekers, refugees and migrants. Data and evidence surrounding oral 
health inequalities is variable and complex, but we know that they also exist in relation to 
oral cancer and also in vulnerable groups with long-standing medical conditions, substance 
misuse, prisoners/prison leavers and Gypsy, Roma, and Traveller communities. 
 
As a priority, a Community Dental Service (CDS), service review should encompass the 
entire special care dentistry and paediatric pathway and consider benefits of a Referral 
Management System (RMS). A service review of prison dental services in Yorkshire and the 
Humber is being undertaken separately. Considering the complex needs of the older and 
ageing population, care pathways for housebound or those living in residential and nursing 
settings should be reviewed. The review of current dental services for people with no fixed 
abode in Y&tH can be used to inform robust care pathway design, commissioned models 
and support implementation. 
 
Available Healthwatch reports were used to inform the rapid needs assessment. It is 
important that commissioned dental services including service design and development work 
consider the views, beliefs, and experiences of the public and patients living in Y&tH to 
improve patient safety, experience, and health outcomes. Building on work to date, NHSEI 
should continue to work in partnership with key stakeholders, including Healthwatch to 
maximise opportunities to ensure patient centred services improve access, reduce 
inequalities in communities and make better use of resources. 
 
Recommendations for reducing oral health inequalities - all ICS footprints 
 
Common Risk Factor Approach 
Oral health messages need to be incorporated through a common risk factor approach into 
all health promotional programmes and included in health assessments for vulnerable 
groups, including MECC, brief interventions and signposting.  
 
Prevention 
Targeted prevention particularly aimed at reducing tooth decay, gum disease and preventing 
oral cancer in line with evidence based national guidance and toolkits.  Screening of the oral 
mucosa for oral cancer/pre-cancer at dental appointments with referral to specialist services 
where necessary. 
 

Page 134



 

17 
 

Improving access  
Targeting resource to those with the greatest need and which experience the greatest 
challenges accessing care including those requiring urgent dental care. 
 
Acknowledging the impact of COVID-19 on dental access to all, however, those in the most 
deprived areas with greatest need will experience the greatest impact. 
 
A health equity audit approach should be used to determine equity of access to dental 
services and evaluate the outcomes from initiatives to improve access across Y&tH, the 
findings of which should inform future commissioning decisions. 
 

Encourage development of child friendly practices and universal implementation and 

promotion of Dental Check by One (DCby1) with as a minimum, annual reviews thereafter. 
 
Consideration of new or recommissioned practices in areas of deprivation supported by 
good public transport facilities and disabled parking.  
 
Training 
Maximising deployment of skill mix within the dental workforce, enables them to deliver oral 

health preventive messages including oral hygiene, diet advice and apply fluoride varnish 

aided by audit and learning from Starting Well, In Practice Prevention and flexible 

commissioning schemes. 

For children in deprived areas training the wider early years workforce to deliver oral health 

prevention to those at high risk and facilitate access to NHS dental care. Encouraging 

Starting Well - whole family approach core elements. 

Bespoke training for example training or support to individuals with autistic spectrum 

disorders can facilitate patient care for those with disabilities in General Dental Services 

(GDS). 

Alignment of training:  

• With the recommendations from Health Education England’s Advancing Dental Care 

Review. 

• Centres for training dental professionals should be prioritised to areas with the 

greatest oral health need and gaps in service provision to support reduction in oral 

health inequalities. Commissioning arrangements that enable trainees to gain 

experience in settings with the greatest oral health inequalities will be important.     

• Numbers in dental training and specialist training posts should align with high needs 
groups that require special care and with medium to long term commissioning plans.  
 

Understanding of the skills, work patterns and distribution of the dental work force with 
insight into their future aspirations and career plans to inform workforce planning, 
recruitment, and retention of dental professionals 
 
Reducing oral health inequalities in older people 
 
Training 
Training of the primary care dental workforce to support delivery of care for the changing 
demographic of the Y&tH population acknowledging the predicted increase in the older 
population. This would involve partnership working across the health and social care system 
to facilitate a reduction in oral health inequities in the population.  This could involve 
development of multi-disciplinary special care teams, led by MCNs, offering opportunities for 
dental professionals to up-skill (e.g. foundation training, PLVE and Level 2 training), by 
working alongside specialists and those with level 2 specialist skills with high needs groups 

Page 135



 

18 
 

and identification and training of oral health care champions within care homes. Bespoke 
training in dementia friendly training can facilitate patient care of older adults in GDS. 
 
Service and care pathways 
In order to develop holistic patient-centred services for the older population, varying levels of 
prevention and care need to be available as part of the same care pathway. This may mean 
a service providing domiciliary care for bed bound patients including routine prevention and 
simple treatments, plus access to transport (including public transport) and multi-specialist 
centres for more complex treatments. Treatment may include a mix of mandatory and 
additional services and could be supported by oral health champions in practices and care 
homes.  Increasing integration through the sharing of information and appropriate referral 
pathways could enable alignment between general medical and social services for older 
adults with dental services. This would mean that patients with progressive long-term 
conditions could receive a dental assessment and treatment plan when their long-term 
condition is diagnosed. This would allow a proactive approach to ensure the patient is 
dentally healthy before their general health makes treatment provision difficult and would 
facilitate earlier access to dental staff with experience of providing dental care for older 
adults and knowledge of the complexities involved. 
 
Collaborative work across systems including NHSE and Local Authorities 
Partnership working across the health and social care system, through a community 
approach maximising the skills of the wider health and social care workforce can help to 
reduce risks by making every contact count. Oral health improvement programmes are 
essential to support families in developing good oral health practices, but provision varies 
across the region and there is a need to address inequities in access to and content of 
programmes. Complementary commissioning is important between Local Authorities and 
NHS E&I. Where gaps are identified working with Primary Care Network (PCN) leadership 
will be important to support alignment of services and strengthen collaboration across the 
totality of primary care. Improved data collection and integration of digital systems, with 
simplified processes should be explored to benefit the safeguarding and oral health of 
vulnerable children and adults.  
 

For consideration by Local Authorities (LAs) 
Oral health improvement programmes should be evidence-based and quality assured, 
audited and evaluated. Water fluoridation is an evidence based and a cost-effective 
approach, and LAs are currently responsible for feasibility studies. 
Commission oral health surveys to monitor the oral health of the whole population and 
participate in any oral health survey commissioned by the secretary of state. 
 
Service provision and care pathways 
Commissioning strategies will have the biggest impact on those at greatest risk of oral health 
inequities if the approach focusses on both prevention and treatment. Outcomes are poorer 
in those groups with identified oral health inequalities.  Procurement of services and service 
re-design should be underpinned by service reviews, needs assessments, and informed by 
national guidance and best practice. There is a need to understand and agree key actions to 
address oral health inequalities. National dental epidemiological programmes provide 
valuable data in relation to oral health inequalities and Local Authorities  should work in 
partnership with NHSE to explore opportunities for joint approaches to commissioning and 
contracting models to support collection of local data as part of the national dental 
epidemiology programme and address the data gaps identified in this needs assessment. 
 
An initial focus should be upon a full review of services such as the CDS including the 
special care and paediatric pathways and access to domiciliary care provision (nursing and 
residential homes or in their own home), aligned with reducing oral health inequalities. This 
will support further exploration of opportunities for specialist led pathway development 

Page 136



 

19 
 

informed by Managed Clinical Networks (MCNs), including progress toward shared care 
development, integrating dental care between GDS, CDS and secondary care. Quality 
assurance through audit, could be led by MCNs.  
 
Dental services are not equitably distributed and provide different levels of service provision.   
Challenges accessing dental care is reported by patient groups from across the region, but 
need does not always align with demand. Dental services should be accessible for people 
with physical and learning disabilities for example ensuring that new practices are in areas 
with disabled parking.  
 
An inclusion health approach with incorporation of models beneficial to various vulnerable 
groups particularly those that encounter challenges accessing services and have high need 
(for example individuals with Severe Multiple Disadvantage) through dedicated stabilisation 
and urgent care drop-in care sessions. These also provide an opportunity for training/up 
skilling of dental professionals and reducing inequalities with groups including migrants, 
asylum seekers, refugees, Gypsy, Roma, and Traveller communities, and the homeless. 
Innovative approaches in Y&H such as flexible commissioning for prevention and access 
programmes, have been introduced in an attempt to reduce oral health inequalities and to 
maximise delivery and spend of the dental budget. A review of the flexible commissioning 
model and existing time limited interventions can be used to inform further development or 
expansion of existing interventions.  
 
Supporting all contractors to maximise delivery of their contracted activity and minimise 
clawback is beneficial for patients, providers and commissioners.  Where contracts are 
returned to NHS England this should be used as an opportunity to address oral health 
inequities locally. The voice of the patient and public should be a standard part of the 
development of specifications for dental services and commissioning approaches should 
continue to be informed by patient responses. 
 
Recommendations at ICS level  
 
The development of ICSs offers the opportunity for action planning with key partners across 
each ICS footprint with priority setting and exploration of opportunities to reduce oral health 
inequalities.  Further work at ICS level will be needed in relation to systems to collate data 
on an ICS footprint to enable mapping and understanding of current service provision 
(including urgent dental care) with need, deprivation and existing time limited initiatives.   
 
ICS – South Yorkshire – recommendations for additional focus: 
Trends in tooth decay amongst 5 year olds, Deprivation, Vulnerable groups – Children in 
deprived areas and vulnerable children known to social care, the homeless, Gypsy, Roma 
and Traveller communities, and asylum seekers/resettled refugees 
 
Alignment with Core20PLUS5 – Y&tH 
      Model applied to Y&tH at ICS level 

• CORE – all ICS - The most deprived 20% of the national population as identified by 
the national Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) – strong evidence base 

• PLUS 
• All ICSs - those with greatest need and those experiencing challenges 

accessing dental care 
• Vulnerable children 
• Physical and learning disabilities  
• Older adults – significant predicted population increase across all ICS 

footprints 
• Asylum seekers, migrants and refugees 

Page 137



 

20 
 

• SY – Prevention to reduce dental decay levels in children and homeless in 
Doncaster and deprived areas with greater ethnic diversity e.g. Sheffield 

• 5 
• All ICS - Oral cancer diagnosis – importance of role of GDS  

Appendix 

Population Demographics 

Table A:  Population of Y&tH by local authority and SY ICS for all ages between 2020-2040 
 

Local Authority / ICS ALL AGES 

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 % change 
2020-
2040 

South Yorkshire 1,419,395 1,452,639 1,483,081 1,511,302 1,537,806 8% 

Barnsley 248,707 256,164 262,376 268,202 274,052 10% 

Doncaster 313,762 320,194 324,963 329,641 334,626 7% 

Rotherham 267,215 272,899 277,482 282,030 287,078 7% 

Sheffield 589,710 603,383 618,261 631,430 642,050 9% 
       

Y&tH 5,528,103 5,623,321 5,705,872 5,778,521 5,847,468 6% 

 Source:  ONS Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland - 

Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

** includes Craven 

Table B:  Population of Y&tH by local authority and SY ICS for adults (0-19 years) between 2020-2040 

Local Authority / ICS 0-19 years 

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 % 
change 
2020-
2040 

South Yorkshire 330,749 337,980 335,378 331,908 335,150 1% 

Barnsley 55,977 57,289 56,722 55,805 56,305 1% 

Doncaster 72,894 73,574 71,475 69,573 69,533 -5% 

Rotherham 62,995 64,373 63,857 63,241 64,051 2% 

Sheffield 138,883 142,744 143,325 143,290 145,261 5% 
       

Yorkshire & the Humber 1,308,399 1,327,093 1,306,195 1,279,107 1,283,610 -2% 

 Source:  ONS Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern 

Ireland - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

** includes Craven 

 

  

Page 138

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


 

21 
 

Table C:  Population of Y&tH by local authority and SY ICS for adults (20-64 years) between 2020-

2040 

Local Authority / ICS 20-64 years 

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 % 
change 
2020-
2040 

South Yorkshire 830,781 836,593 843,806 850,924 861,897 4% 

Barnsley 143,681 144,663 145,183 145,940 148,051 3% 

Doncaster 180,161 180,160 180,138 181,043 183,106 2% 

Rotherham 151,183 151,384 151,719 152,609 155,024 3% 

Sheffield 355,757 360,387 366,766 371,332 375,716 6% 
       

Yorkshire & the Humber 3,173,930 3,162,912 3,154,947 3,156,717 3,169,407 0% 

Source:  ONS Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern 

Ireland - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

** includes Craven 

Table D:  Population of Y&tH by local authority and SY ICS for older adults (65+years) between 2020-

2040 

Local Authority / ICS 65+ years 

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 % 
change 
2020-
2040 

South Yorkshire 257,864 278,066 303,898 328,470 340,759 32% 

Barnsley 49,050 54,212 60,471 66,457 69,696 42% 

Doncaster 60,707 66,460 73,350 79,025 81,987 35% 

Rotherham 53,037 57,142 61,907 66,180 68,003 28% 

Sheffield 95,069 100,252 108,170 116,808 121,074 27% 
       

Yorkshire & the Humber 1,045,774 1,133,317 1,244,730 1,342,697 1,394,451 33% 

Source:  ONS Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern 

Ireland - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

** includes Craven 

  

Page 139

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


 

22 
 

Table E:  Population of Yorkshire & the Humber by local authority and SY ICS for older adults 

(85+years) between 2020-2040 

Local Authority / ICS 85+ years 

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 % 
change 
2020-
2040 

       

South Yorkshire 33,079 36,410 41,271 49,570 52,794 60% 

Barnsley 5,880 6,531 7,688 9,448 10,340 76% 

Doncaster 7,473 8,094 9,116 11,323 12,361 65% 

Rotherham 6,431 7,432 8,698 10,431 10,937 70% 

Sheffield 13,295 14,353 15,769 18,368 19,156 44%        

Yorkshire and the Humber 134,127 148,702 167,898 208,621 222,988 66% 

Source:  ONS Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern 

Ireland - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

** includes Craven 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 140

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


 

23 
 

Child oral health 

Table F:  Summary of FCE for all extractions and extractions with caries as the primary diagnosis for 0-19 years from 2017/18 to 2019/20. 

Local Authority / 
Integrated Care 
System of residence 

FCE’s for extractions as 
a % of the total 
population (all 
diagnoses)  

FCE’s for extractions as 
% of population with 
caries as the primary 
diagnosis  

FCE’s for extractions as 
% of population with 
caries as the primary 
diagnosis  

FCE’s for extractions as 
% of population with 
caries as the primary 
diagnosis  

Number of FCE's for 
extractions with caries as 
the primary diagnosis 

 
(0-19 years) (0-5 years) (6-10 years) (0-19 years) (0-19 years)  
17/18 18/19 19/20 17/18 18/19 19/20 17/18 18/19 19/20 17/18 18/19 19/20 17/18 18/19 19/20 

South Yorkshire 
               

Barnsley 1.2% 1.0% 1.0% 1.2% 0.8% 0.8% 2.0% 1.8% 1.9% 1.0% 0.9% 0.9% 100 85 65 

Doncaster 1.5% 1.2% 1.3% 1.3% 1.1% 1.0% 3.0% 2.3% 2.8% 1.4% 1.1% 1.2% 125 110 100 

Rotherham 1.6% 1.2% 1.4% 1.5% 1.1% 1.2% 2.7% 2.1% 2.5% 1.3% 1.0% 1.2% 150 125 120 

Sheffield 1.4% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.0% 0.9% 2.2% 2.0% 2.1% 1.1% 1.0% 0.9% 395 300 340 

                

ENGLAND** 0.5% 0.4% 0.4% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.6% 0.6% 0.5% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 20,929 21,608 19,947 

* denotes figure <6 suppressed because of disclosure control. All other subnational figures rounded to the nearest 5 
**England totals based on unsuppressed figures 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 141



 

24 
 

 
 
Adult oral health 
 
Table G: - Adult oral health impacts in Yorkshire and the Humber 2018 by local authority 

Upper-Tier LA Name 

%
 f

u
n

c
ti

o
n

a
l 

d
e

n
ti

ti
o

n
 (

2
1

 o
r 

m
o

re
 t

e
e

th
) 

%
 a

c
ti

v
e

 d
e
c

a
y

 

(D
T

>
0

) 

A
v
e

ra
g

e
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

d
e

c
a

y
e

d
 t

e
e

th
 

(f
o

r 
th

o
s

e
 w

it
h

 

a
c

ti
v

e
 d

e
c
a

y
) 

%
 w

it
h

 f
il

le
d

 

te
e

th
 

%
 w

it
h

 d
e

n
tu

re
s
 

%
 w

it
h

 b
le

e
d

in
g

 

o
n

 p
ro

b
in

g
 

%
 w

it
h

 P
U

F
A

 

%
 w

it
h

 a
n

y
 

tr
e
a

tm
e

n
t 

n
e

e
d

 

%
 u

rg
e

n
t 

tr
e
a

tm
e

n
t 

n
e

e
d

 

%
 n

o
t 

s
e

e
n

 a
 

d
e

n
ti

s
t 

in
 t

h
e

 

la
s

t 
2

 y
e

a
rs

 

%
 s

u
ff

e
ri

n
g

 a
n

y
 

o
ra

l 
h

e
a
lt

h
 

im
p

a
c

ts
 (

fa
ir

ly
 

o
r 

v
e

ry
 o

ft
e
n

) 

 

 

South Yorkshire            

Barnsley*            

Doncaster*            

Rotherham*            

Sheffield*            

Yorkshire and the Humber 82.8 25.0 1.9 91.7 15.6 44.6 4.3 75.4 3.2 6.1 16.5 

England 81.9 26.8 2.1 90.2 15.4 52.9 5.2 70.5 4.9 7.9 17.7 

 

* Did not participate in the survey 
**North East Lincolnshire - insufficient numbers examined for estimate 
^^ Includes Craven 
PUFA – presence of pain, ulceration, fistulae or abscess – a measure of sepsis 
 

P
age 142



 

25 
 

Page 143



 

26 
 

Oral cancer 

Table H: Standardised incidence and mortality of C00-C14 and C00-C06 by statistical region, upper-tier local authority area and lower-tier local authority area, 2012 to 2016.  

Geography C00-C14 C00-C06 

Standardised 
incidence 
per 100,000 

Lower 
95% 
CI 

Upper 
95% 
CI 

Standardised 
mortality per 
100,000 

Lower 
95% 
CI 

Upper 
95% 
CI 

Standardised 
incidence 
per 100,000 

Lower 
95% 
CI 

Upper 
95% 
CI 

Standardised 
mortality per 
100,000 

Lower 
95% 
CI 

Upper 
95% 
CI 

England 14.55 14.4 14.71 4.54 4.45 4.62 8.36 8.24 8.48 2.19 2.13 2.25 

Yorkshire & the Humber 15.26 14.76 15.75 4.7 4.42 4.99 8.7 8.32 9.07 2.18 1.98 2.37 
             

South Yorkshire 
            

Barnsley 13.59 11.27 15.91 4.72 3.25 6.19 7.17 5.47 8.87 2.72 1.59 3.86 

Doncaster 14.36 12.28 16.45 4.14 2.97 5.31 8.04 6.43 9.65 2.1 1.22 2.98 

Rotherham 15.47 13.14 17.81 4.2 2.91 5.48 8.72 6.92 10.52 1.47 0.63 2.31 

Sheffield 15.27 13.62 16.92 4.85 3.9 5.81 7.45 6.29 8.62 1.67 1.09 2.25 

** includes Craven 

† cells left blank as the rates are based on fewer than 10 cases and have been suppressed. 

Rates statistically significantly lower than the England mean have been highlighted in green and rates statistically significantly higher than the England mean 

have been highlighted in red 

P
age 144



 

27 
 

Table I: Residential schools for children with learning or physical disabilities provided by Local 
Authorities in Y&H 
 

LA/ICS School Numbers Age 
range 

Disabilities 

South Yorkshire 

Barnsley No residential 
schools 

   

Doncaster Doncaster School 
for the Deaf  

29 4 to 19  Hearing Impairment 

Fullerton House 
School  

32 8 to 19 ASD, Severe Learning Difficulty 

Wilsic Hall School 30 11 to 19  ASD, Severe Learning Difficulty 

Rotherham Ellern Mede 
Moorgate School 

12 under 18 
to 25 

Eating disorder facility 

Sheffield Brantwood 
Specialist School 

49 7 to 19 Autism Spectrum Conditions, Pathological Demand 
Avoidance and Attachment Disorder  

Migrants Asylum Seekers, Resettled refugees, Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking 
Children (UASC) and Roma Community 
 
Studies have indicated a high prevalence of oral disease and unmet oral healthcare needs in 
refugees, often exceeding the levels experienced by the most disadvantaged communities of 
the host country. Most commonly, refugees experience high levels of dental caries, 
periodontal disease, oral lesions and traumatic dental injuries (FDI. 2020). 
 
Similarly, to the general population, people from migrant communities could be classified into 
3 main groups in terms of their engagement with dental care services: 

• People who wish to engage with services and require support to achieve dental 
fitness 

• People who only wish to engage in case of an urgent need/pain 

• People who do not wish to engage 
 
When designing dental care pathways, some of the specific barriers for accessing care by 
migrants can be around: 
 

• Language 

• Prior beliefs about oral health 

• Anxiety 

• Understanding administration including exemption or partial exemption 
 
The section below tables J and K are a summary of data kindly collated by Migration Yorkshire 

 
Table J Summary of data relating to Asylum seekers, resettled refugees, Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking 

Children and Roma Community in Y&tH – notes to accompany table K 

Vulnerable 
group 

Basis of 
Data/Data 
source  

Data 
includes 

Data  
excludes 

Numbers 
dependent upon 

Y&H Local 
Authority 
participation 

Comments 

Asylum 
seekers 

Recipients 
of S95 
Home 
Office 
support 
(whilst 
awaiting a 
decision on   
asylum 
claim) 

‘Dispersal’ 
[individuals 
who are 
destitute and 
living in no-
choice 
dispersal 
housing] and 
‘Subsistence 
only’ 
[individuals 

People who have 
had their claim 
refused but are 
still living in 
dispersal housing 
[under ‘Section 
4’], 
Unaccompanied 
children, and 
those whose 
cases are 

Numbers arriving 
in the UK, the 
proportion that 
the Home Office 
send Y&tH to be 
accommodated, 
location of 
available 
housing/friends 
and family, 
timeframe for 

Data reveals small 
numbers in 
Harrogate, North 
Lincolnshire and 
York possibly as 
part of  temporary 
arrangements 
during the 
pandemic. 

Permanent 
accommodation site - 
Wakefield up to 250 people 
on ‘Section 98’ support are 
housed temporarily for a 
matter of days/weeks until 
their longer term 
accommodation [S95 
‘dispersal’ accommodation] 
in the community is 
allocated. 

Page 145



 

28 
 

receiving a 
subsistence 
allowance 
only - not 
housing] 
claimants. 
 

considered 
closed. 

case assessment 
and post-decision 
outcome. 
 

 

Resettled 
refugees 

People 
resettled via 
Government 
resettlement 
schemes 
 
Home 
Office - 
cumulative 
count of 
resettled 
refugees 
since the 
start of the 
Vulnerable 
Persons 
Resettleme
nt Scheme 
 VPRS 
scheme 
(March 
2014 to 
June 2021). 
 

Prior to 2021, 
the resettled 
refugee data 
covered 
VPRS and 
the 
Vulnerable 
Children 
Resettlement 
Scheme 
(VCRS),  
 
From 2021, 
the VPRS 
and VCRS 
have been 
replaced by 
the UKRS. 
The resettled 
refugee data 
covers the 
UKRS as 
well as the 
Community 
Sponsorship 
scheme and 
the smaller 
schemes 
which were 
previously 
excluded.  
 
 

Prior to 2021 
data 
excluded the 
smaller numbers 
arriving under the 
Gateway 
Protection 
Programme 
(GPP) and the 
Mandate 
scheme. 
 
In 2021, new 
resettlement 
schemes for 
people from 
Afghanistan 
(ARAP and 
ACRS) were 
announced and 
have not yet 
been 
incorporated into 
any dataset. 
 

Numbers arriving 
in the UK,  how 
many people the 
local authority 
has offered to 
host, and whether 
the individuals’ 
needs can be met 
in that area, such 
as housing size 
and adaptation 
for the family’s 
physical needs, 
school places and 
appropriate 
medical care.  
 

All have 
participated  
 

Most resettled refugees to 
date have been Syrians 
arriving under the (VPRS). 
 

Unaccompa
nied asylum-
seeking 
children 
(UASC) 
 

Department 
for 
Education - 
snapshot of 
UASC as of 
March 
2020. 

Spontaneous 
arrivals and 
children 
coming into 
care of Local 
Authorities  
through 
different 
formal 
schemes 
including the 
(VCRS) and 
the Dublin 
schemes. 

Those in the 
Leaving Care 
system or on the 
National Transfer 
Scheme (NTS). 
Figures in Y&tH 
will have 
increased during 
2021 due to the 
introduction of 
the NTS to 
relocate 
unaccompanied 
children from the 
South East to 
Local Authorities 
around the 
country.  
 

 All Local 
Authorities are 
potentially hosting 
unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking 
children and have 
a legal duty to 
provide 
accommodation. 
 

UASC are children, who 
have applied for asylum in 
their own right and are 
separated from both 
parents and/or any other 
responsible adult. 

Roma Department 
of 
Education – 
School 
Census 
snapshot 
and rate as 
of 2020/21 

State funded 
nursery, 
primary, 
secondary, 
special and 
pupil referral 
schools. 
 

The ethnic 
category used in 
data collection 
includes 
‘Gypsy/Roma’, 
which may 
include wider 
Gypsy groups, - 

There is a 
separate category 
for ‘Irish 
Traveller’, so this 
group will not be 
included. 
 

 Challenges surrounding 
data collection 
 
Department of Education 
shows Yorkshire and 
Humber to have the 
second highest number of 

Page 146



 

29 
 

 best indicator at 
this time.  

school students who are 
Gypsy/Roma. 
 

 

Data is provided at lower local authority level for asylum seekers and resettled refugees but 

only at upper tier local authority for unaccompanied asylum seeker children and Roma 

Travellers. 

Table K Summary of data relating to Asylum seekers, resettled refugees, Unaccompanied 

Asylum-Seeking Children and Roma Community in Y&tH 

Local Authority / 
ICS 

Number 
of 
asylum 
seekers 
in 
receipt 
of S95 
support 
(June 
2021) 

Number 
of 
resettled 
refugees 
(March 
2014 to 
June 
2021) 

Mid Year 
Population 
Estimate 
(2020) 

Number of 
asylum 
seekers in 
receipt of 
S95 
support 
per 1,000 
population 
(June 
2021) 

Number of 
resettled 
refugees 
per 1,000 
population 
(March 
2014 to 
June 
2021) 

Number of 
unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking 
children 
(UASC) looked 
after by the 
local authority 
(2020) 

Number of 
unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking 
children 
(UASC) per 
1,000 0-17 
population 
looked after by 
the local 
authority (2020) 

0-17 Mid 
Year 
Population 
Estimate 
(2020) 

Number 
of 
students 
classified 
as White: 
Gypsy 
Roma 
(January 
2020) 

Percentage 
of students 
classified 
as White: 
Gypsy 
Roma 
(January 
2020) 

South Yorkshire           

Barnsley 346 23 248071 1.4 0.1 0 0 51621 65 0.002 

Doncaster 243 19 312785 0.8 0.1 0 0 67362 432 0.009 

Rotherham 465 38 264984 1.8 0.1 7 0.1 57453 564 0.012 

Sheffield 858 402 589214 1.5 0.7 22 0.2 118398 1669 0.02 

 

** Data relating to North Yorkshire cannot be aligned at ICS level as it includes data from 

Harrogate, Hambleton, Richmondshire, Ryedale, Scarborough, Selby which are all aligned 

with HCV but also includes data relating to Craven which is aligned with West Yorkshire ICS 

Data from the School Census has been provided to indicate concentrations of the Roma 

population at local authority level. The ethnic category used is ‘Gypsy/Roma’, so this may 

cover some wider Gypsy groups, however this is the best indicator. People from Roma 

communities experience high levels of tooth decay, which may be linked to a traditionally 

high sugar diet.    

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Doncaster Locality Profile – Final 17.03.23 
NHS England DPH Team 
 

1 

Dental Locality Profile – Doncaster 

March 2023 

 

Overview 

• Doncaster is a unitary authority in West Yorkshire (population 312,785) which in 

common with the remainder of the region has an increasing and ageing 

population.1   

• There is a relatively small ethnic minority population1. 

• Doncaster is one of the 20% most deprived districts/unitary authorities in England2. 

Deprivation is strongly correlated with experience of dental disease for both children 

and adults. 

• The rate for alcohol-related harm hospital admissions, estimated levels of excess 

weight in adults (aged 18+) and smoking prevalence in adults (aged 18+) are worse 

than the England average2. These conditions share common risk factors (tobacco, 

alcohol and sugar) with oral diseases. 

Positives 

• Distribution of practices across Doncaster is good with practices focussed in areas of 

population density and includes more deprived areas (see maps). 

• Access rates for both adults and children in Doncaster are higher than the national 

rates. 

• UDAs commissioned per capita in Doncaster is higher than WY ICB and YH 

• Primary care specialist orthodontic and IMOS practices. 

• Good local engagement with YH developments (transitional / flexible commissioning, 

access programme). 

• Local development of level 2 paediatric services in NHS dental practice (pilot 

imminent) 

• Access to data – the local authority has the commissioning responsibility for the 

epidemiology fieldwork and they have a provider. It is essential that epidemiological 

surveys continue to be commissioned to enable identification of oral health 

inequalities. 

Challenges 

• In Doncaster the average levels of dental decay are above the national average for 

5-year-olds in England. Within Doncaster, the highest levels of experience of dental 

decay can be found in the Central locality.3,4 

• Relatively high delivery of commissioned UDAs but less than 96% (91% in 2019/20). 

• Poor oral health is largely preventable.  Oral disease developed in childhood has 

lifelong consequences.  Access to timely prevention and care needs to adopt a life 

course approach and should include increasing access to fluorides, dietary control 

of sugars and reducing tobacco and alcohol use.     

• There is no simple formula for estimation of unmet need in an area.  

Dental needs can be unmet due to a variety of reasons (waiting lists/volume 

commissioned, cost, physical access to premises, ability to travel, opening 

hours/ability to take time off work/caring responsibilities).  Most patients would like a 

relationship/registration with a named practice of the type that exists for general 

medical services and to access those services as they choose (either regularly or 

Page 149



 

Doncaster Locality Profile – Final 17.03.23 
NHS England DPH Team 
 

2 

only occasionally or when they have an urgent need).  GP practices have patient lists 

whilst dental practices are contracted to delivery activity. Dental practices are obliged 

only to deliver a course of treatment to an individual, not ongoing regular care 

however many practices do tend to see patients regularly.   

• Expectations of retaining some or all dentition for life will be resource intensive.  

Maintenance of a heavily restored dentitions is complex potentially requiring 

specialist skills and often compounded by medical complexity, polypharmacy and the 

ability to self-care as an individual ages. 

• Local engagement has highlighted poor oral health of communities living in 

Hexthorpe ward (including those from Eastern Europe), as well as dental access for 

individuals residing in Hexthorpe and asylum seekers as areas of concern. Also 

highlighted were concerns of the oral health of prisoners/prison leavers and dental 

access once they leave prison.   

Current workstreams 

• Review of YH Community Dental Services which has led to focussed work on 

recovery of dental GA services, workforce development (including level 2) and 

development of dental sedation services. 

• NHSE YH accreditation of level 2 paediatric practitioners from the 1st cohort of the 

2yr training programme developed by HEE YH.  3rd training cohort currently being 

recruited.   

• Level 2 Special Care Dentistry training programme has also been developed and 

the 1st cohort are being recruited. 

• Transformational commissioning – review and further development / merging of 

flexible commissioning and access programmes focussed on need and addressing 

inequalities. 

• Waiting list validation – seeking to understand how practices record and manage 

waiting lists. 

• Domiciliary care – access to dental care for those patients who are for housebound 

and unable to access local dental practices. 

 

In the future we need to consider…. 

• Access to prevention interventions for all ages (life course), including expansion of 

delivery of prevention focussed practices (transformational/flexible commissioning) 

• Patient facing communications – NHS dentistry how and when to access, recall 

intervals based on need (NICE guidance) 

• Development of pathways that meet the needs of an ageing population - not just 

domiciliary services.  Integration of pathways with the wider system (eg. post 

diagnosis), development of the dental team (level 2 SCD etc), estate/physical 

access. 

• Investment – focussed on need and addressing inequalities.  The OHNA 

assessment and commissioning data leads to the identification of the following areas: 

Reallocation of resources to existing practices (within year / small numbers of 
UDAs) 

Wards with the highest level of deprivation 
(IMD 1) in the first instance. 

Adwick le Street & Carcroft 
Conisbrough 
Hexthorpe & Balby North 
Mexborough 

Page 150



 

Doncaster Locality Profile – Final 17.03.23 
NHS England DPH Team 
 

3 

Town  

Commissioning in a new location/recommissioning in an existing location/retaining 
an existing practice 

IMD 1- no GDS services commissioned Balby South 

IMD 4 – no GDS services commissioned Edenthorpe & Kirk Sandall 

IMD 5 – no GDS services commissioned Roman Ridge 

IMD 1 – GDS services commissioned Adwick le Street & Carcroft 
Conisbrough 
Hexthorpe & Balby North 
Mexborough 
Town 

 

Investment decisions should also consider: 

• Population distribution – see maps. 

• Accessibility / transport links 

• Contract delivery – poorer delivery may have underlying factors that investment may 

mitigate, for example opportunities for career/practice development/specialisation 

• Contemporary intelligence from key local stakeholders 

 

Page 151



 

Doncaster Locality Profile – Final 17.03.23 
NHS England DPH Team 
 

4 

Population and their oral health needs 

 Doncaster SY ICB 
 

Yorkshire & the 
Humber 

England 
 

Population1 312,785    

Predicted change in population (2020-
2040) -All ages 

7% 8% 6%  

0-19 years of age -5% 1% -2%  

20-64 years of age 2% 4% 0%  

65+ years of age 35% 32% 33%  

85+ years of age 65% 60% 66%  

Epidemiology     

5-year-olds (2019)3,4     

% with experience of decay 37.2% N/A 28.7% 23.4% 

Mean number of teeth affected in 
those with decay (mean dmft 
(dmft>0)) 

3.7 N/A 3.8 3.4 

% with sepsis 3% N/A 1.4% 1% 

Mildly dependant older (2016)5     

Edentulous (no teeth) 53.8% N/A 32.4% 27% 

Of those with teeth - reporting pain in 
mouth 

7% N/A 9.7% 9.5% 

% evidence of infection/sepsis 11.6% N/A 10.7% 7.8% 

Oral cancer6Standardised rate per 100,000     

Incidence - lip, oral cavity and 
pharynx (C00-C14) 

14.36 N/A 15.26 14.55 

Incidence - oral cavity (C00- C06) 8.04 N/A 8.7 8.36 

Mortality - lip, oral cavity and pharynx 
(C00-C14) 

4.14 N/A 4.7 4.54 

Mortality - oral cavity (C00- C06) 2.1 N/A 2.18 2.19 

     

Red - worse than YH and England; Amber -worse than YH but better than England; Green – better than YH and England 

  

P
age 152



 

Doncaster Locality Profile – Final 17.03.23 
NHS England DPH Team 
 

5 

Commissioned dental services 

 Doncaster SY ICB YH England 

Primary Care Services      

Numbers of GDS providers 40 173 611  

Wards in Doncaster with an NHS 
dental practice 

17 wards. 
18 practices in IMD decile 1- (most 
deprived) 

   

Wards without an NHS dental practice 
in Doncaster 
 
 

Balby South (IMD 1) 
Edenthorpe and Kirk Sandall (IMD 
4), Roman Ridge (IMD 5) 

   

UDAs commissioned (2019-20) 632,540 2,515,632 8,665,024  

UDAs delivered (2019-20) 572,487 2,375,214 8,003,442  

Total value of commissioned UDAs £19,848,693.21 £80,834,070.25 £279,907,703.56  

UDAs commissioned per capita 2.02 1.78 1.6  

Specialist primary care services     

Orthodontic providers 8 (4 north and 4 south) 28 75  

IMOS providers 3 7 19  

CDS providers 1 (RFT) 2 9  

Dental Access7     

Adult (% popn in 24 months to 30th June ’22) 47.6%  41.8% (NHS NEY) 36.9% 

Child (% popn in 12 months to 30th June ’22) 50.4%  48.9% (NHS NEY) 46.2% 

Oral Health Prevention     

Fluoride varnish - (0-17yrs)8 - FP17 
forms (Nov 2021-Oct 2022 

61.7% 65% 59.5% 54.6% 

Innovation in primary care     

Flexible commissioning practices  15 57 152  

Practices in Access scheme  0 15 55  

Practices providing additional urgent 
access sessions (to end March 2023) 

4 34 106  

Practice locations prioritised under 
‘Golden Hello’ scheme (IMD 1) 

8 19 120  

Red - worse than YH and England; Amber -worse than YH but better than England; Green – better than YH and England 

P
age 153



 

Doncaster Locality Profile – Final 17.03.23 
NHS England DPH Team 
 

6 

Figure 1:  NHS GDS providers in Doncaster superimposed on deprivation (IMD, 2019) (darker = more deprived). 

 

P
age 154



 

Doncaster Locality Profile – Final 17.03.23 
NHS England DPH Team 
 

7 

Figure 2:  NHS GDS providers superimposed on population density (mid-2020) for Doncaster (darker = greater population density) with 

mapped (source NHSBSA) 

  

P
age 155



 

Doncaster Locality Profile – Final 17.03.23 
NHS England DPH Team 
 

8 

References  

1. Oral Health Needs Assessment, NHS England YH, May 2022 

2. Local Authority Health Profile 2019 https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health-profiles/2019/E08000017.html?area-

name=Doncaster 
3. Doncaster oral health profile of 5-year-old children, PHE, revised April 2021. Public library - UKHSA national - Knowledge Hub 

(khub.net) 

4. Oral health survey of 5-year-old children 2019. PHE, 2020 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/oral-health-survey-of-5-year-old-

children-2019  

5. Oral health survey of mildly dependent older people 2016. PHE, 2019. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-survey-

of-mildly-dependent-older-people-2016 

6. Oral cancer in England Incidence, survival, and mortality rates of oral cancer in England from 2012 to 2016, PHE, 2020. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-cancer-in-england   

7. Access data; Annex 2; Table 1 (e and f).  NHS BSA https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-

statistics/2021-22-annual-report 

8. Fluoride varnish data download.  NHS BSA, November 2022. 

 

P
age 156

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health-profiles/2019/E08000017.html?area-name=Doncaster
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health-profiles/2019/E08000017.html?area-name=Doncaster
https://khub.net/web/phe-national/public-library/-/document_library/v2WsRK3ZlEig/view_file/462864664?_com_liferay_document_library_web_portlet_DLPortlet_INSTANCE_v2WsRK3ZlEig_redirect=https%3A%2F%2Fkhub.net%3A443%2Fweb%2Fphe-national%2Fpublic-library%2F-%2Fdocument_library%2Fv2WsRK3ZlEig%2Fview%2F395264411%3F_com_liferay_document_library_web_portlet_DLPortlet_INSTANCE_v2WsRK3ZlEig_redirect%3Dhttps%253A%252F%252Fkhub.net%253A443%252Fweb%252Fphe-national%252Fpublic-library%252F-%252Fdocument_library%252Fv2WsRK3ZlEig%252Fview%252F387050362%253F_com_liferay_document_library_web_portlet_DLPortlet_INSTANCE_v2WsRK3ZlEig_redirect%253Dhttps%25253A%25252F%25252Fkhub.net%25253A443%25252Fweb%25252Fphe-national%25252Fpublic-library%25252F-%25252Fdocument_library%25252Fv2WsRK3ZlEig%25252Fview%25252F387014363
https://khub.net/web/phe-national/public-library/-/document_library/v2WsRK3ZlEig/view_file/462864664?_com_liferay_document_library_web_portlet_DLPortlet_INSTANCE_v2WsRK3ZlEig_redirect=https%3A%2F%2Fkhub.net%3A443%2Fweb%2Fphe-national%2Fpublic-library%2F-%2Fdocument_library%2Fv2WsRK3ZlEig%2Fview%2F395264411%3F_com_liferay_document_library_web_portlet_DLPortlet_INSTANCE_v2WsRK3ZlEig_redirect%3Dhttps%253A%252F%252Fkhub.net%253A443%252Fweb%252Fphe-national%252Fpublic-library%252F-%252Fdocument_library%252Fv2WsRK3ZlEig%252Fview%252F387050362%253F_com_liferay_document_library_web_portlet_DLPortlet_INSTANCE_v2WsRK3ZlEig_redirect%253Dhttps%25253A%25252F%25252Fkhub.net%25253A443%25252Fweb%25252Fphe-national%25252Fpublic-library%25252F-%25252Fdocument_library%25252Fv2WsRK3ZlEig%25252Fview%25252F387014363
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/oral-health-survey-of-5-year-old-children-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/oral-health-survey-of-5-year-old-children-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-survey-of-mildly-dependent-older-people-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-health-survey-of-mildly-dependent-older-people-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/oral-cancer-in-england
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2021-22-annual-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2021-22-annual-report


Oral Health Improvement & 
Dental Services in Doncaster

• Debbie Stovin, Senior Dental Commissioning Manager, NHS HNYICB / South 
Yorkshire ICB Programme Lead

• Sarah Robertson, Consultant in Dental Public Health, Healthcare Public Health, 
NHSE North East and Yorkshire

• Agatha Agema, Oral Health Lead, Doncaster City Council

P
age 157



Public perceptions of dental services

• ‘Registered’ lists –patients are not registered with a dentist as they are a 
GP - only deliver a course of treatment to an individual, not ongoing regular 
care.  Patient records are not automatically transferred between practices. 

• NHS Services being free at the point of delivery – Dental services 
are subsidised with fee paying, non-exempt adult patients contributing 
towards cost of treatment, determined by course of treatment

• Practices accepting new patients for regular dental care - 
www.nhs.uk is the digital platform. Dental practices are now required to 
regularly update their profile page but accepting new patients does not 
necessarily mean they won’t have to sit on a waiting list. Variability in how 
practices manage these waiting lists

• Private dental care: Most dental practices offer both NHS and private 
dental care, which, as independent contractors, are at liberty to doP

age 158



Dental Commissioning Challenges
• Access & inequalities:  NHS England and now ICBs have 

inherited a range of contracts – there is inconsistent and often 
inequitable access to dental services, both in terms of 
capacity in primary care and of complex and inconsistent 
pathways.
o Patients waiting to access regular care, often on long lists. 

The Covid pandemic has created a backlog which has 
compounded existing challenges.

• Dental Workforce: availability of clinical workforce, practices 
experiencing recruitment and retention issues, not just 
dentists but wider clinical team. Impacts of funding.

• Limitations of the 2006 NHS dental contract and progress of 
the national contract reform programme

P
age 159



Dental Contract Limitations 
• Primary Care national contract – rolled out in 2006, held by provider in 

perpetuity (subject to any performance concerns), with little flexibility for 
either commissioner of provider unless these is an opportunity to rebase.

• Primary Care commissioned dental activity is based on Courses of 
Treatment (CoT) and Units of Dental Activity (UDAs). Depending on the 
complexity of the treatment, each CoT represents a given number of UDAs.

• UDA (tariff) variance - Each practice has an historical UDA value and 
target,  if target not achieved it results in ‘clawback’, but little incentive to 
see patients with greatest the needs. Expectation of delivery is minimum of 
96% UDAs.

• Contract/UDA Handbacks - providers handing back UDAs or contracts 
due to performance issues, where they have not been able to remedy 
reoccurring problems such as workforce, recruitment and retention, low 
level patient access;
 contract is no longer viable for provider, 
 the provider intends to move to private provision only.

P
age 160



The Position in Doncaster
• Since April 2021 – 2 practices were rebased totalling a 

return of 2,820 UDAs (this equates to less than 50% of a 
dental chair) These will be offered to other practices in 
the same constituency areas, those being Don Valley 
and Doncaster North.

• Due to historic contracting arrangements in Doncaster 
the UDA rate per practice are above the Y&H 
average.

P
age 161



Access Comparisons

LA % seen to 31 Dec 2019 % seen to 31 Dec 2020 % seen to 30 June 
2021

% seen to 31 Dec 2021 % seen to 30 June 22 % seen to 30 June 23

  Adult Child Adult Child Adult Child Adult Child Adult Child Adult Child
Barnsley 
Metropolitan 
Borough Council

61.4
 

68.0
 

55.5
 

29.8
 

51.4
 

31.9
 

43.7
 

47.1
 

45.4 52.8 51.4 59.6

Doncaster 
Council

66.2
 

66.0
 

58.7
 

31.6
 

53.3
 

32.7
 

45.6
 

45.6
 

47.6 50.4 66.4 63.6

Rotherham 
Metropolitan 
Borough Council

59.6
 

61.7
 

55.7
 

28.7
 

51.4
 

32.3
 

44.8
 

42.9
 

46.8 46.8 54.5 58.2

Sheffield City 
Council

59.4
 

68.0
 

55.2
 

32.8
 

52.5
 

36.4
 

46.3
 

49.6
 

48.6 54.1 51.6 62.7

England 49.6
 

58.4
 

44.3
 

29.6
 

40.8
 

32.5
 

35.5
 

42.5
 

36.9 46.2 43.0 55.8

.
Source: NHS Digital
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2019-20-biannual-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2021-22-biannual-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2021-22-annual-report 
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2022-23-annual-report 

Adult patients seen by an NHS dentist in the last 24 months and child patients 
seen in the last 12 months as a percentage of the population for local authorities in 
South Yorkshire and England overall

P
age 162

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2019-20-biannual-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2021-22-biannual-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2021-22-annual-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-dental-statistics/2022-23-annual-report


Initiatives to strengthen and improve access to 
dentistry

• Innovation - transformational commissioning approach, considering improved outcomes to drive 
evidence based prevention, quality, skill mix, meet population need. The Oral Health Needs 
Assessments place-based profiles identify priority areas to support investment to meet population 
need/deprivation.

• Flexible Commissioning  - currently have 13 dental practices in Doncaster providing targeted 
prevention for specific groups, access to care, utilisation of skill mix by twisting upto 10% of the 
TCV. In place to 31 March 2024.
– Review taking place with commitment to consider expansion and support more ambition and 

scope for innovation.
o Ambition to twist more than 10% TCV moving away from a UDA focussed model of delivery,
o Target areas of high need,
o Review entry criteria for practices in identified areas and develop measures that are based on 

outcomes and not focus on UDA targets,
o Opportunity to target approach for hard to reach/hard to engage patients, practice waiting lists to 

increase access.

• Pilot approaches – eg. Improving access for those experiencing homelessness – pilot due to 
start in Doncaster at the Flying Scotsman

• Collaborative working - SYB Acute Federation Paediatric Innovator Programme (Dental) – 
transform care and pathways for C&YP by improving access for paediatric dental services. 

P
age 163



Oral health in Doncaster
• Good oral health is essential for good general health and 

wellbeing.
• Tooth decay is a progressive disease which is largely 

preventable.  
• Doncaster has some of the highest levels of tooth decay than 

those seen in other South Yorkshire local authority areas
• By the age of 5 years, 1/3rd of children in Doncaster were 

found to have experience of tooth decay 
• Tooth decay amongst 5-year-olds in Doncaster is the highest 

in other South Yorkshire LA areas, Y&tH and England 
(2021/22).

• Tooth extraction is still the commonest reason for a child to 
attend hospital.

P
age 164



Oral Health Improvement Programmes

 Doncaster Oral Health Needs Assessment (2018) 
recommendations delivered through the Oral Health 
Advisory Group Action Plan

• Supervised toothbrushing clubs
 Provision of oral health packs  
 Oral health care ‘in house’ training programmes
§ Introduction of a ‘free drinking water’ scheme
§ Links with flexible commissioning practices re MECC
§ Oral Health Survey
§ Water fluoridation

P
age 165



WHAT NEEDS TO HAPPEN?

• Working together
• Dental system reforms
• Commitment to further engagement
• Continued development of community oral 

health improvement programmes
• Oral Health improvement to be part of the Health 

& Wellbeing Strategy
• Continued support for water fluoridation

P
age 166



  
 
 
 
Doncaster  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Date: 09.11.2023 
 

Subject:  Youth engagement - lived experience:  Shaping Stainforth 

Presented by: Lucy Garnham/Grace Bennett 

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board 

Decision  

Recommendation to Full Council  

Endorsement Yes 

Information  

 

Implications Applicable Yes/No 

DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol) No 

Mental Health  Yes 

Dementia No 

Obesity No 

Children and Families  Yes 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment No 

Finance 
No 

Legal 
 

No 

Equalities 
 

No 

Other Implications (please list) 
 

 

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster? 

By supporting local young people and using personal experiences to influence decisions made, young 
people are more likely to engage. 

Recruiting local young people offers opportunities to build the trust foundations at the start. 

By empowering the young people to contribute to wider topics builds self-esteem and self-worth. 

Using true examples of local young people, a greater understanding of gaps in services are identified. 

 

 

 

Page 167

Agenda Item 8



Recommendations 

The Board is asked to:- 
 
Listen to the voice of young people to support strength-based changes. Evidence suggests 
survey the percentage of young people in Stainforth that feel listened too has increased 
significantly(taken from Pupil lifestyle survey 2022) 
 
Invest in hyper local mental health services to ensure services for young people are accessible 
and local. 
 
Influence young people’s experiences by investing in Shaping Stainforth methodology. 
  
 

Page 168



Shaping Stainforth

Shaping Stainforth is an initiative that 
supports services, groups, and 
residents in the Stainforth area.​
​
We aim to make it a happier, healthier 
place for everyone to work, live and 
play.

P
age 169



Why is engaging with young 
people important?

• To use the young people's voices to feed 
back to the wider system​

• To keep ownership of their community​

• To create opportunities and develop new 
ambitions ​

• To create community spirit and community 
cohesion 

P
age 170



What have we achieved 
so far?

• We have created an area at the youth club with 
planted flowers as per action plan.​

• Young people are feeding thoughts and ideas 
into the town council​

• Working with Voluntary community Faith  
Sector group

• For all their hard work they were rewarded with 
trips and activities 

• Young peoples steering group
     - We have grown from  8 members to 25 

P
age 171



How are we achieving this?
• Visiting schools and gathering 
young people's responses ​

• Building good relationships with young 
people and schools
​
• Steering group every fortnight 

P
age 172



Young People’s Steering Group
• The Steering group is used as a platform to 
coproduce the Stainforth youth action plan​

• An appreciative inquiry approach was used in workshops​

• We gathered responses from schools to develop a Stainforth 
youth action plan​

• Team building activities are used as a reward scheme

P
age 173



The Unity project
• Unity is one of the largest regeneration 
and infrastructure projects which is located 
on the outskirts of Stainforth

• Shaping Stainforth took 17 young people 
to see the new Unity development 

• This was part of our youth action plan
 ​
• Supporting young people's aspirations.

P
age 174



Forward plan for Young people
• Embedding Stainforth young people's voice into the wider 
Doncaster system. ​
      -NSPCC toolbox​
      -Support strategic plan for mental health ​
      -Mini Young person's Town Council 
      -Work with Zone 5-19 to ensure hyper local services.
  -Developing Young People's Community Conversation            

questions.

• Upskilling - young person champion. 

P
age 175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  
 
 
 
 
Doncaster  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
Date: 09.11.23 

Subject: Fairness and Wellbeing Commission Recommendations 

Presented by: Rachael Leslie, Acting Director of Public Health 

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board 

Decision  

Recommendation to Full Council  

Endorsement  

Information X  

 

Implications Applicable Yes/No 

DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol)  

Mental Health   

Dementia  

Obesity  

Children and Families   

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  

Finance 
 

Legal 
 

 

Equalities 
 

x 

Other Implications (please list) 
 

 

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster? 

The Fairness and Wellbeing Commission have identified a set of recommendations to address the 
challenges that Doncaster residents experience. These recommendations aim to improve the 
conditions for residents to live, work, play in Doncaster. 

 

Recommendations 

The Board is asked to:- 
 
Take note of the recent progress of the Fairness and Wellbeing Commission. 
Provide any suggestions for opportunities to update other organisations and forums on the 
recommendations. 
To attend any future sessions for HWBB members to discuss the Fairness and Wellbeing 
Recommendations 
 

Page 177

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 
 
 
Doncaster  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Date: 9th November 2023 
 

Subject: Smoke Free Generation - Proposed Legislation 

Presented by: Rachael Leslie, Acting Director of Public Health, City of Doncaster Council 

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board 

Decision  

Recommendation to Full Council  

Endorsement X 

Information  

 

Implications Applicable Yes/No 

DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus 

Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol)  

Mental Health   

Dementia  

Obesity  

Children and Families  X 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  

Finance  

Legal  

Equalities X 

Other Implications (please list) 

• Tobacco Control and Smoking Cessation 

 

X 

 

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster? 

On 4th October, the Prime Minister outlined potential legislation to raise the age of sale for tobacco by 
one year every year and to tighten restrictions on the sale of vapes to children and young people. The 
Government’s proposals will help Doncaster to achieve the ambition of a smokefree England by 2030 
and ensure children and young people do not become addicted to tobacco in the first place.   

This proposed legislative change would have a profound impact on society and could be the most 
significant public health intervention of our lifetime, saving tens of thousands of lives and billions of 
pounds for the NHS, social care, and society as a whole.   

The proposed age of sale legislation has the potential to phase out smoking in young people almost 
completely as early as 2040. 

Each year in Doncaster, 5200 people are admitted to hospital and tobacco kills around 675 people. 
Implementing this policy will mean that some of Doncaster’s more vulnerable communities will be able 
to live healthier longer lives, and ultimately lead to a future free from the harm and death caused by 
tobacco. 

Page 179

Agenda Item 10



 

Recommendations 

 
The Board is asked to:- 
 
Support the proposed changes to legislations for: 

a) Age of sale 
b) Marketing of vapes 

  
 

Page 180



 

 

 

 

Report 
 

 

Date: 9th Nov 2023 

Agenda Item No.  10 

To: Health and Wellbeing Board 

Report Title: Smoke Free Generation - Proposed Legislation 

Relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 

Wards Affected Key Decision? 

Cllr Rachael Blake 
Cllr Nigel Ball 

Doncaster wide No 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1)  On 4th October, the Prime Minister outlined potential legislation to raise the age 

of sale for tobacco by one year every year and to tighten restrictions on the sale 

of vapes to children and young people. The Government’s proposals will help 

Doncaster to achieve the ambition of a smokefree England by 2030 and ensure 

children and young people do not become addicted to tobacco in the first place.   

 

EXEMPT REPORT 

2)  No 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

3) The Board is asked to support the proposed changes to legislations for: 

a) Age of sale 

b) Marketing of vapes 

 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 

4) This proposed legislative change would have a profound impact on society and 

could be the most significant public health intervention of our lifetime, saving tens 

of thousands of lives and billions of pounds for the NHS, social care, and society 

as a whole.   

Page 181



 

5) In Doncaster, tobacco use impacts many aspects of our community.  Around 12% 

of Doncaster people aged over 18 smoke, which is around 30,200 people. 

Smoking is still the leading cause of preventable ill health and death, and a major 

driver of differences in health between rich and poor.  

 

6) Most smokers start young, they regret ever starting and try to quit multiple times. 

Two thirds of adult smokers have started smoking before they reach 18 years old. 

The proposed age of sale legislation has the potential to phase out smoking in 

young people almost completely as early as 2040. 

 

7) Each year in Doncaster, 5200 people are admitted to hospital and tobacco kills 

around 675 people. Implementing this policy will mean that some of Doncaster’s 

more vulnerable communities will be able to live healthier longer lives, and 

ultimately lead to a future free from the harm and death caused by tobacco. 

 

BACKGROUND 

8) Public Health at City of Doncaster Council supports the recent proposals by the 

Prime Minister made on Wednesday, 4th October to raise the age of sale for 

tobacco by one year every year, and proposals to tighten restrictions on the sale 

of vapes to children and young people.  

 

9) The Proposed Legislation 

 

a) Age of Sale • The proposed legislation would make it an offence to sell 
tobacco products to anyone born on or after 1st January 
2009, meaning children turning 14 or younger this year will 
never be able to be legally sold cigarettes. 

• This will raise the smoking age by one year each year until 
it applies to the whole population.  

• The proposed legislation will not make it illegal for any 
person to smoke, but it will affect the legal age of sale for 
cigarettes and place restrictions on the marketing of vapes. 

b) Sale of Vapes 
to Children & Young 
people 
 

• Public consultation has been launched on possible 
measures to curb the rise in youth vaping by reducing the 
appeal and availability of vapes to children. Options under 
consideration include: 

o restricting flavours 
o regulating point of sale displays 
o regulating packaging and presentation 
o considering restricting the supply and sale of 

disposable vapes 
o whether regulations should extend to non-nicotine 

vapes 
o It is important to strike a balance on availability of 

vapes to ensure they are available for adults to 
help them quit smoking. 

 

Page 182



 

Evidence and Impact 

10)  In Doncaster, tobacco use impacts many aspects of our community.  Around 

12% of Doncaster people aged over 18 smoke, which is around 30,200 

people. Smoking is still the leading cause of preventable ill health and death, 

and a major driver of differences in health between rich and poor. This 

proposed legislation will have a profound impact on society and will benefit 

every single constituent across Doncaster. 

 

11) Smoking has traditionally been framed as personal lifestyle choice, when in 

reality it is an addiction to tobacco. For many, this addition begins in 

childhood. Most smokers start young, regret ever starting and try to quit 

multiple times. Two thirds of adult smokers have started smoking before they 

reach 18 years old. In Doncaster’s 2022 pupil lifestyle survey of year 8 and 

year 10 pupils, 368 young people described themselves as smokers. 

 

12) Addiction means people often want to quit but can’t. Their freedom of choice 

has been taken away, causing harm to the individual and those around them, 

including, through passive smoking and smoking in pregnancy.  

 

13) In Doncaster’s 2022 pupil lifestyle survey, 37% of 2502 primary school age 

children in years 4 and 6 reported living with someone who smoked, this rose 

was higher (48%) to children who are entitled to free school meals and higher 

(53%) for children with Special Educational Needs.  

 

14) Each year in Doncaster, 5200 people are admitted to hospital and tobacco 

kills around 675 people. Overall, it is estimated that smoking costs Doncaster 

£121m each year including costs of healthcare, social care, lost productivity, 

and fire costs. 

 

The Khan Review – Making Smoking Obsolete 

15) In 2019, the government set an objective for England to be smokefree by 

2030, meaning only 5% of the population would smoke by then. The Khan 

Review is an independent review commissioned by the UK Government in 

2022 The Khan Report (2022) found that without further action, England will 

miss the smokefree 2030 target by at least 7 years, it also noted the disparity 

between the richest and poorest. The report included the statement: 

 

‘The lethal dependence of smoking is not being shared between the richest 

and poorest. Rates of smoking in areas like Wakefield (18.6%) and Doncaster 

(18.3%), are decades behind rates in wealthier areas such as Richmond upon 

Thames (6.2%).’ 

 

 

Page 183



 

Current Approaches and Services in Doncaster 

16) Doncaster already has smoking cessation services for adults, pregnant 

women and young people. There is also investment in regulatory services. 

Doncaster’s Tobacco Control Network coordinates this alongside wider 

actions on smoke free places and with schools.   

 

17) Alongside the legislation proposals, local Councils will receive additional 

funding over a 5 year period to support more people who want to quit. 

Regulatory services will also receive additional funding to inform and, where 

required, on enforcement. Additional funding will used to enhance and target 

the existing offer. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

18) The Government’s proposals will help us achieve the ambition of a smokefree 

England by 2030 and ensure children and young people do not become 

addicted to tobacco in the first place.   

 

19) Implementing this policy will mean that some of Doncaster’s more vulnerable 

communities will be able to live healthier longer lives, and ultimately lead to a 

future free from the harm and death caused by tobacco. 

 

20) We owe it to our future generations to put in place measures to safeguard 

them from the harm caused by tobacco.   

 

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS  

Name: Rachael Leslie  Title: Acting Director of Public Health  

Phone: 01302 734583 Email address: rachael.leslie@doncaster.gov.uk 

 

Page 184



  
 
 
 
Doncaster  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Date: 9 November 2023 
 

Subject: Health Inequalities: 
A Focus on Gypsy Roma Traveller (GRT) Communities 

Presented by: Mandy Espey, Marius Taba, Whitley Marie Smith 

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board 

Decision X 

Recommendation to Full Council  

Endorsement  

Information  

 

Implications Applicable Yes/No 

DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol) Yes 

Mental Health  Yes 

Dementia Yes 

Obesity Yes 

Children and Families  Yes 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Yes 

Finance 
Yes 

Legal 
 

 

Equalities 
 

Yes 

Other Implications (please list) 
 

 

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster? 

There are estimated to be 4000 people from Gypsy Roma and Traveller communities living in 
Doncaster, the second largest settlement in the region. The GRT community experience the most 
stark health and social inequalities of all ethnic groups, with the biggest challenge they face being hate 
crime and discrimination, affecting them through all life stages. They also struggle to navigate services 
and often do not get the timely care and support that they need. Consequently, they experience 
significantly worse mental and physical health, with life expectancy being 10-25 years shorter than the 
general population. These communities touch a wide range of partners, including housing, health, 
social care, education, police, prison and young offender services. There is some good work 
happening across Doncaster to support the communities, but it is not consistent or joined up.  

 

Page 185

Agenda Item 11



Recommendations 

 
To bring wider partners together to connect with GRT communities – using more of a health inequality 
and kindness lens to improve their physical and mental health and wellbeing. 
 
 

Page 186



Health Inequalities:
A Focus on Gypsy Roma Traveller (GRT) 

Communities

Doncaster Health and Wellbeing Board
November 2023

Mandy Espey : Health Inequalities Lead, Doncaster PLACE
Marius Taba : GRT Community Link Worker, SY ICB

Whitley Smith : GRT Community Link Worker, SY ICB

P
age 187



Aims of presentation

To increase awareness of HWB about:
• Inequalities facing our Gypsy Roma 

Traveller communities
• Impact of inequalities on health and 

wellbeing
Ask of HWB?
• What does the ‘Be Kind Campaign’ mean 

for our GRT communities?
• Support for more integrated approach to 

improving HWB of GRT Communities?

P
age 188



GRT communities face some of most severe inequalities in 
healthcare access and outcomes 

• GRT population Doncaster estimated 4000 (2nd largest SY)
• 900 permanent households
• Gypsy & Traveller people will live between ten and 25 less years 

than general population
• The average health of 60-year-olds from Gypsy or Irish Traveller 

communities are similar to those of an average white British 80-
year-old

• Gypsy, Roma and Traveller men were over 12 times more likely 
to suffer with more than two physical health conditions than 
white British men

• Roma people had the highest risk of not being able to access 
health and social care services (Evens 2023)

 

P
age 189



Maternal Health GRT Communities

• G&T mothers are 20 times more likely 
to experience the death of a child
• 29% of Gypsy Roma and Traveller 

parents are likely to experience one or 
more miscarriages (compared 16% non-
traveller group surveyed)
• Roma mothers experience higher rates 

of poor infant outcomes, such as pre-
term births and low birth weight   P

age 190



Mental Health and Suicide within GRT communities

• Evidence limited due to poor data collection
• Evidence shows high levels unmet need
• People GRT community 3 times more likely to be 

anxious
• People GRT community twice as likely to suffer from 

depression
• Mental Health is taboo subject
• Men more likely to ‘reach for the rope’ than talk
• Irish Travellers men are at 7 times more likely to die by 

suicide and women 6 times

P
age 191



Challenges to accessing health and care

• Hate crime, marginalisation, discrimination
• Cultural beliefs
• Low or no literacy
• English not first language
• Digital exclusion
• Lack of  education
• Poverty
• Transport
• Unconscious bias / staff attitude

P
age 192



2023 national survey by EVENSP
age 193



EVENS-Centre on the Dynamics of Diversity

The survey had the largest number of Gypsy, Roma and 
Traveller participants in any national survey to date

• 62% of Gypsies and Travellers had experienced racial 
abuse, which was the highest out of all minority ethnic 
groups surveyed

• 47% of Roma people had been racially assaulted

• 37% of Roma people have been physically attacked
Gate Herts 2020
• ‘Hate crime against GRT is as regular as rain’ including 

health, education, on-line and media

• Despite high levels crime, incidents under-reportedP
age 194

https://www.ethnicity.ac.uk/


Wider effects of discrimination

• Poor housing, limited access amenities
• Gypsy, Roma and Traveller people experience 

the highest levels of social and economic 
deprivation
• More than half of Gypsy, Roma and Traveller 

people having no educational qualifications
• 85% of Gypsy or Traveller men and 65% of 

Roma men were in precarious employment, 
compared with 19% of white British men
• GRT community accounts 6% prison 

population

P
age 195



Gypsy Roma Traveller Children and Young People 

• GRT pupils are statistically most 
vulnerable of any group in UK
• 86% of children from GRT 

community reported bullying as 
their biggest challenge at school
• GRT Children leave school early
• ~50% GRT students persistent non-

attenders
• GRT children have lowest 

attainment of all ethnic groups
• Make up 15% secure training units

P
age 196



Celebrating what is great about GRT communities

• Staunchly proud of distinct identity
• Family orientated, including extended 

family
• Take care of their older people
• Observe strict hygiene rules
• Strong work ethic
• Entrepreneurial
• Generous, giving to charity
• Strong faith 

P
age 197



A day in the life……………….
Whitley Marie-Smith

P
age 198



In Summary

• GRT communities experience worst 
inequalities, resulting in poor mental 
health and physical health outcomes
• Hate crime and marginalisation is the 

biggest challenge that these 
communities face when accessing health 
and care services
• Discrimination affects children and 

schooling early in their lives and impacts 
on their adult lives
• How do we approach with HWB lens and 

less of an enforcement lens?

P
age 199



        HOUSING
                

  
     POLICE
     PRISON
     YOUTH OFFENDING

01

02

03

0405

06
07

      HEALTH:
GP REGISTRATION
DBTH
RDASH
EARLY INTERVENTION

EMPLOYMENT

Make the 
invisible visible

Resource 
allocation 03

0405

06
     
       EDUCATION
       SCHOOLS
       COLLEGES    
        
        
    

 
  

     
         LOCAL AUTHORITY
         TEAM DONCASTER
         VCSE
         PEER SUPPORT

  

             
          WORKFORCE:
 UNCONSCIOUS BIAS
  CULTURAL AWARENESS
               KINDNESS
            

Bold and Brave Leadership:
Being KIND and Working together to improve GRT Health and Wellbeing

                 

P
age 200



Ask of Health and Well-Being Board

•What does the ‘Be Kind Campaign’ mean for our GRT 
communities?

•Do you support a more integrated approach to 
improving HWB of GRT Communities?

P
age 201



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 
 
 
Doncaster  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Date: 9 November 2023 
 

Subject: Health Protection Update for Meeting held on 18th October 2023. 

Presented by: Dr Victor Joseph, Consultant in Public Health, and Chair of Doncaster Health 
Protection Assurance Group 

Purpose of bringing this report to the Board 

Decision  

Recommendation to Full Council  

Endorsement  

Information Yes. 

 

Implications Applicable Yes/No 

DHWB Strategy Areas of Focus Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol) Yes 

Mental Health   

Dementia  

Obesity  

Children and Families   

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Yes 

Finance 
 

Legal 
 

 

Equalities 
 

 

Other Implications (please list) 
Health Protection 

 

How will this contribute to improving health and wellbeing in Doncaster? 

This Health Protection update report covers the quarter up to October 2023. 

Doncaster Council assumed the statutory responsibility for health protection when Public Health 
transferred from the NHS to Local authority in April 2013. Since then, there has been in place the 
Health Protection Assurance Group to provide assurance on health protection in the borough, bringing 
together the relevant partners. 

This Health Protection update provides Doncaster Health and Wellbeing Board with assurance that 
the duties of protecting the health of the people of Doncaster are effectively being undertaken. The 
update covers the following:  

• COVID-19;  

Page 203

Agenda Item 12



 

 

• Measures to prevent and control infections in hospitals (DBTH and RDASH) and care homes;  

• Infectious disease surveillance report; 

• Surveillance Report 

• Sexual Health Service 

• Suicide Prevention and Substance Misuse 

• Tuberculosis  

 

Recommendations 

 
The Board is asked to:- 
 

• Note the update on health protection measures being taken to protect the health of the people 
of City of Doncaster Council. 

   
 

Page 204



1 
 

 

 

 

 

Meeting Minutes 

Meeting:  Health Protection Assurance Group 

Date/Time:  Wednesday 18th October 2023 

Venue:   Microsoft Teams Virtual Meeting 

Attendees:  Dr Victor Joseph, City of Doncaster Council, Public Health (Chair) 

   Sarah Atkinson, City of Doncaster Council, Public Health 

Mim Boyak, DBTH 

Rio Overton-Bullard, City of Doncaster Council, Public Health  

Rachel Rodgers, City of Doncaster Council, Public Health 

Emma Staples, RDaSH 

   Emma Gordon, City of Doncaster Council, Environmental Health 

Nick Wellington, City of Doncaster Council, Environmental Health 

   June Chambers, UK Health Security Agency 

   Sally Gardiner, City of Doncaster Council (Note Taker) 

 

Items for Discussion Lead 

1 

Welcome and Apologies 

Apologies received from Helen Conroy, Sam Grundy,  

The group were welcomed and introductions took place. 

 

 

2 
Declaration of Interest 

None were declared.  

3 

COVID 

Incident Rates and Log 

Rates slightly increasing, recorded on death certs. 

Care Homes rates also rising. 

Hospital rates increasing too. Unit closed with positive staff at hospital. 

No reports from schools. Mainly care homes. 

Increases across organisations in general. 

 

 

 

4 

Minutes of Last Meeting and Matters Arising  

Gap analysis. June reported not had any feedback from Doncaster. Action: To resend 

document.  

Measles uptake. Action: CW/SN. SA will double-check with them 

Ethnicity data screening. Action: SG was looking into it. 

Access to flu vaccines for children through pharmacies. Noted may not be easy, 

systems not in place for community pharmacies, however, older people can access flu 

vaccine through their pharmacies.  

 

SG 

 

SA 

SG 

 

 

 

 

5 

Health Protection Assurance and Monitoring Reports 

Infection, Prevention and Control  

 

 

 

Page 205



2 
 

DBTH Care Homes 

Mim talked through the key points in the report. 
Noted achievements had been:- 
managed 4 covid outbreaks in care homes between July and September 2023, each 
receiving a visit within 48hrs of notification.   
managed 4 Diarrhoea and Vomiting (D&V) outbreaks this quarter. 
managed 1 scabies outbreak during this quarter. Following the outbreak IPC attended a 
lessons learnt session with ICB to discuss and debrief.  
completed 213 care homes visits between July to September 2023, 123 of these 
undertaken by an IPC nurse specialist or practitioner and 90 of these completed by an 
IPC healthcare assistant.  
All older persons homes have received a 4 – 6 weekly visit, all LD homes have received 
a quarterly visit and 51 out of 105, 48.6%, of supported living homes have received there 
Bi-yearly visit.  
Environmental auditing for 2023/24 continues for older persons and learning disability 
homes, 13 older persons and 8 learning disability homes have had their audits 
completed in this quarter. An additional 6 supported living homes have had an 
environment audit completed. 
 

Victor praised the audit achievements. Noted the Scrutiny Panel are interested in the audit 

numbers. Noted numbers for all quarters would be helpful. He asked if all homes will be 

audited by end of year? Mim confirmed 100% was done last year, SL homes achieve 10% 

as per the contract.  

 

DBTH 

Mim talked through the key points in the report. 
Noted same objectives, Clostridium Difficile infection (CDI) trajectory was reduced this 

year to 42 from 48. 

Noted achievements:- 
Deep cleaning – Schedule and SOP now in place and deep clean in progress 
Surgical Site Infections (SSI) surveillance is ongoing within Orthopaedics.  Breast 
surgical site surveillance is ongoing.  
19 E. coli bloodstream infections between April and June 2023. This time last year 
reported 23. 
Noted challenges:- 

2 MRSA Bacteraemia case within the acute trust in September 2023. 
Nosocomial COVID – 90 (38 last quarter) cases between July and September 2023  
16 cases of C. difficile between July and September.   
15 Hospital acquired cases of E. coli blood stream infections between July and 
September 2023. 
2 MRSA Colonisations - plans for 2 ICNs (Infection Control Nurses) to become non-
medical prescribers in January 2024 when funding available.  
GRE (Glycopeptide resistant Enterococcus) outbreak in Orthopaedics – 29 patients 
affected 
Blood culture contamination rates 2.6% in July, 2.5% in August and 3.7% in September  
- analysis of cases over past year demonstrate nursing staff as having higher number of 
contaminants. Clinical educators and practice development colleagues are training and 
assessing in practice 
 

Victor asked what the highest rates of blood culture contamination rates were? Mim 

confirmed hovering around 5-7%. 

 

RDaSH 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 206



3 
 

Emma provided an update, noted reporting is a quarter behind due to their reporting 

timescales as advised previously. 

10 inpatient areas were audited against procedures within the Trust IPC Manual in Q1  

No cases of Meticillin Resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), Meticillin Sensitive 

Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA) bacteraemia, Gram Negative bacteraemia, or 

Clostridioides difficile Infection (CDI) were identified during Quarter 1. 

Training is on track. 

Good set of link champions, do quarterly meetings with them online and an annual 

conference was held on 27/9/23. Had a good range of speakers and good feedback, there 

are costs associated though, payment for speakers, noted Rachel Leslie attended. 

Risk assessments – done well, better than used to be. 

Outbreak infections basically covid and settling down, but no rates for covid rising. 

Sharps disposal containers have been standardised throughout. The Health & safety 

inspection raised 2 key points from last year, want to see more face to face learning;  

bare below elbows campaign, hand hygiene pledge. Noted video/song produced. 

Noted water safety group and ventilation group purposes.  

No sharps injuries in Q1. 

 

Victor said very interesting, good range of work. Asked if the group tests water? Noted a 

company do testing for the trust. Mark is the expert on safety group, noted issue with hydro 

therapy pool.  

Mim said DBTH follow same water testing action.  

 

Action: ES to share video link with members.  

 

Victor asked Nick if the Environmental Team get involved; Nick advised that they don’t do 

that sort of testing, only private water supplies look into. Don’t routinely do those now. 

 

Emma advised there are changes in team coming, some part time and new faces as 

retirees. Changes also to management structure. 

 

Surveillance Report 

June updated, no report was available for the meeting. 

Doncaster is no outliner in comparison to other areas. 

Generally Measles didn’t materialise in Doncaster, some reported cases but none actually 

confirmed. 

IGAS (invasive Group A Streptococcal infection) cases continue to be high. 2 cases in 1 

care home, noted  details. 

E-coli tend to be high across regions, higher than normal for this time of year, seeing 

significant rise in Necrotizing fasciitis. Couple of Group A strep, go for typing.  Sheffield 

had 23 cases in same period last year was 5; Barnsley & Sheffield seeing rise in cases, 

not sure if Doncaster is seeing a rise in figures, due an update from Ken. Noted this may 

become a national incident as it is a severe illness, with people losing not only limbs but 

their lives. 

 

Victor asked what type of people are affected? June confirmed no common person, used 

to be commonly seen in drug injection users, but not now.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 207



4 
 

 

Victor raised issue of promotion of measles vaccine, noted work in asylum hotels 

progressing; there is group meeting on Monday which Rio organising.   

 

Sexual Health 
Sarah talked through the report in detail.  
Noted report attached regarding the regional PrEP (pre-exposure prophylaxis) insight 
work in engaging hard to reach population groups. 
Noted achievements:- 

Noted embedding sexual health in community hubs to normalise as any other service.  
Targeted outreach work with sex workers following on from a rise in syphilis cases 
continues with an established drop-in clinic being held every Tuesday afternoon. 
Vouchers are still being used as incentives. 
Following completion of the regional outbreak prevention and management work, we 
have worked with UKHSA colleagues to develop an STI exceedance monitoring tool. 
Now in process of putting actions into practice. We are now in the process of 
understanding how we can use this tool and are awaiting regionally planned training. 
Regional work around PrEP insight and engaging hard to reach population groups has 
been completed. We are looking at recommendations on a regional level through the 
sexual health community of improvers group. 
Long-acting reversible contraception (LARC) audit and contraception confidence 
mapping questionnaire was sent round to all GP practices to help identify possible gaps 
in staff training, knowledge and awareness amongst staff. Once analysis is complete, we 
will work with the provider to design and deliver appropriate training for practice staff. 
Noted a 35% response rate from GPs. 
 
Noted challenges:- 
Increasing cases of syphilis 
In response to ongoing increases in syphilis cases in Casual Sex Workers (CSW) in 
Doncaster, UKHSA have worked with S4H to form case definitions to help provide a 
better understanding of the numbers of confirmed and possible cases within this 
population group. Looking at data form 1st July 2022, there have been a total of 10 cases 
of syphilis in CSWs or contacts, including 7 confirmed cases and 3 possible cases. 
Outreach work continues and cases are being monitored closely.   
 
National Chlamydia Screening Programme (NCSP) 
The NCSP is changing its priority so that opportunistic asymptomatic screening (outside 
sexual health services) will focus on young women only. Noted flagged up. The 
rationale being untreated chlamydia causes harm to reproductive health, and women 
suffer most of this harm. We are currently working with our providers and partners of 
both young people and adult services to see what these changes mean in practice.   
Headline clinical activity for Q1: 
STI activity rose by 191 attendances 
Contraception activity remains stable 
Preventx activity (online self sampling) rose by 106 with a rise in the return rate by 3%, 
taking it to nearly 74% 
Noted performance monitoring points. 

 

Victor asked about business continuity with hot water in this current quarter. 

Sarah advised relates to next reporting period, but essentially the water pump broke and 

S4H had to close clinics for a couple of days, however, plans/pathways were put in place 

to see patients; it didn’t affect service too bad, they had space in Cavendish Court if 

required to see clients face-to-face, telecom sessions increased, worked closely with the 

Premier Inn hotel to use their toilets. They thought they’d have to close for 2 weeks but 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 208



5 
 

was actually just over 1 week in the end. 

 

Victor asked about Syphilis cases, do we know if increasing?  Sarah said not sure for last 

quarter. Action: SA to chase up figs. 

June confirmed a further meeting was needed to see if work required. 

 

Suicide Prevention and Substance Misuse 

Victor talked through key points, achievements and challenges in the reports, 

unfortunately Helen wasn’t able to attend. 

 

Noted the link to the documents doesn’t work in the SP document to open them. Action: 

SG to advise HC.  

 

 

 

SA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SG 

 

6 
Standing Agenda Items 

No update.  

7 

Key Updates from Meetings 

TB Steering Group 

Noted there is a recording issue for TB services, outcomes not recorded for all cases, so 

outcomes performance appears below. 

There is a lot of work associated with contact tracing issue, so nurses are very busy. 

Hotel screening ongoing; 3 TB nurses in Doncaster,  

 

June said not about the number of cases it’s the complexity of cases. Becoming more 

drug resistant and more TB that’s difficult to treat; people moving on not continuing 

treatments, It’s how we manage cases is key; asylum seekers try and keep them in 

Doncaster and stay on treatment, need to work with immigration . 

Challenges around keeping people in 1 place geographically not moving on. 

 

Rio asked - Vaccination in asylum seeker hotels strategy. Victor said BCG vaccination is 

targeted and not offered to everyone.  

 

 

8 

Any Other Business 

Victor reminded group about the outbreak piece of work, how would we deal with it and 

how to fund it. Usually, we have managed things well; eg outbreak of TB or Hepatitis in 

schools. Need an MOU to ensure there is an understanding. There is a conversation going 

on with LAs, 3 organisations NHSE, ICB, LAs, to agreed and define who pays and 

mobilises staff.  

 

 

10 
Dates and Times of Next Meeting 

 Wednesday 17th January 2024 @ 2:00-3:30pm  

 

 

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 31st August, 2023 (Attached)
	7 Update on Oral Health Improvement and Dental Services
	Item 7 - Doncaster HWBB Dental paper FINAL
	Item 7 - Doncaster HWBB Oral Health Paper - Appendix 1
	Item 7 - Appendix 2a - Rapid OHNA Working Document May 2022
	Item 7 - Appendix 2b - SY ICS level OHNA
	Item 7 - Appendix 2c - Doncaster Locality Profile March 2023
	Item 7 - Presentation

	8 Youth Engagement - Lived Experience:  Shaping Stainforth
	Item 8 - Presentation

	9 Fairness and Wellbeing Commission Recommendations
	10 Smoke Free Generation - Proposed Legislation
	Item 10  - HWBB report - Tobacco legislation RL 10.23

	11 Health Inequalities - A Focus on Gypsy Roma Traveller (GRT) Communities
	Item 11 - Presentation - HWB GRT1

	12 Health Protection Assurance Group Minutes of 18 October, 2023
	Item 12 - HPAG Mins 181023 draft checked vj


